

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations

This publication provides an approach for the socio-economic valuation of pollinator-friendly practices at a landscape/farm level. The text was prepared as part of the Global Environment Fund (GEF) supported

blurb to be provided

implementation support from the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP).



backcover photos to be selected

GLOBAL ACTION ON POLLINATION SERVICES FOR SUSTAINABLE AGRICULTURE

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations Viale delle Terme di Caracalla, 00153 Rome, Italy

www.fao.org/pollination

www.fao.org/agriculture/crops/agp-home e-mail: GlobalAction-Pollination@fao.org

THE POLLINATION OF CULTIVATED PLANTS A COMPENDIUM FOR PRACTITIONERS Volume 1



UNEP

cover photo/s to be selected



logos to be confirmed

THE POLLINATION OF CULTIVATED PLANTS A COMPENDIUM FOR PRACTITIONERS

Volume 1

Edited by David Ward Roubik

Smithsonian Tropical Research Institute, Balboa, Ancon, Republic of Panama



The designations employed and the presentation of material in this information product do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) concerning the legal or development status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. The mention of specific companies or products of manufacturers, whether or not these have been patented, does not imply that these have been endorsed or recommended by FAO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned.

The views expressed in this information product are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views or policies of FAO.

ISBN xxx-xx-x-xxxxxx-x

© FAO, 2017

FAO encourages the use, reproduction and dissemination of material in this information product. Except where otherwise indicated, material may be copied, downloaded and printed for private study, research and teaching purposes, or for use in non-commercial products or services, provided that appropriate acknowledgement of FAO as the source and copyright holder is given and that FAO's endorsement of users' views, products or services is not implied in any way.

All requests for translation and adaptation rights, and for resale and other commercial use rights should be made via www.fao.org/ contact-us/licence-request or addressed to copyright@fao.org.

FAO information products are available on the FAO website (www.fao.org/publications) and can be purchased through publicationssales@fao.org.

Cover photos left to right: © author.

Back cover photos left to right: © author, © author, © author, © author

This publication provides information on the management of bee pollinators in apple orchards.

The text was prepared as part of the Global Environment Fund (GEF) supported project 'Conservation and management of pollinators for sustainable agriculture, through an ecosystem approach' implemented in seven countries - Brazil, Ghana, India, Kenya, Nepal, Pakistan and South Africa.

The project is coordinated by the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) with implementation support from the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP).

CONTENTS

Acknowledgements List of tables List of figures List of contributors Preface to the second edition

Part I INTRODUCTION

Chapter 1. LESSONS LEARNED OVER THE LAST 20 YEARS (DAVID W. ROUBIK)

- 1.1 Sustainable pollination and pollinators 1.1.1 Tropical and temperate zones
- 1.1.2 Pollinator backup and restoration 1.2 The extent of progress to date
 - 1.2.1 An ecological overview 1.2.2 Major shifts in pollination landscapes
- **1.3** The pollination factor in croplands
 - 1.3.1 Crop harvest constraints
 - 1.3.2 The nature of agricultural sustainability
 - 1.3.3 A taxonomic impediment for crops
 - 1.3.4 Crop pollination ecology
 - 1.3.5 Prospects in pollination biology
- **1.4** How to use this book References Further reading

Chapter 2. POLLINATION, POLLINATORS AND POLLINATION MODES:

- **ECOLOGICAL AND ECONOMIC IMPORTANCE** 2.1 Pollination: a general overview (R.C. Sihag)
 - 2.1.1 The flower
 - 2.1.2 Pollination modes and pollinators
 - 2.1.3 The ecological importance of pollinators and pollination modes
 - 2.1.4 The economic importance of pollinators
 - 2.1.5 Conclusion
- 2.2 Conserving pollinators for agriculture, forestry and nature (P.G. Kevan) 2.2.1 Pesticides 2.2.2 Habitat destruction

contents pages to be laid out

2.2.3 Pollinator diseases

- 2.2.4 Pollinator competition
- 2.2.5 Diversification of pollinators
- 2.2.6 Conclusion

References

3. SUSTAINABLE YIELDS, SUSTAINABLE GROWTH OR NEITHER?

3.1 The potential for insect pollinators to alleviate global pollination deficits and enhance yields of fruit and seed crops (L.A. Garibaldi, S.A., Cunningham, M.A. Aizen, L. Packer and L.D. Harder)

- 3.1.1 Introduction
- 3.1.2 Pollen as a resource that limits crop yield
- 3.1.3 Pollinator dependence in fruit and seed crops
- 3.1.4 Are pollination deficits common?
- 3.1.5 Can honey bee management alone reduce pollination deficits?
- 3.1.6 Why do wild insects contribute to crop yield?
- 3.1.7 Sound practices that reduce pollination deficits
- 3.1.8 Natural history of bees and their potential for crop pollination
- 3.1.9 Bee introductions
- 3.1.10 Conclusion
- References

3.2 Alternatives to artificial pollinator populations (R. Krell)

- 3.2.1 Introduction
- 3.2.2 Mechanical pollination and chemical pollination
- 3.2.3 Habitat management for wild pollinators
- 3.2.4 Crop selection
- 3.2.5 Pesticides
- 3.2.6 Cultivation practices
- 3.2.7 Conclusion
- References

Part II **APPLIED POLLINATION: BASIC APPROACHES**

Chapter 4. INTEGRATING POLLINATOR HEALTH INTO TREE FRUIT IPM - A CASE STUDY OF PENNSYLVANIA APPLE PRODUCTION (D.J. BIDDINGER, E.G. RAJOTTE AND N.K. JOSHI)

- 4.1 IPM and the recent pollinator crisis
- 4.2 The importance of pollinators in apple production
 - 4.2.1 Non-honey bee pollinators providing insurance for sustainable apple pollination
 - 4.2.2 Pollinator diversity during apple bloom
 - 4.2.3 Roles of landscape and floristic diversity in support of apple orchard pollinators
- 4.3 IPM, pesticides and pollinators in apple
- 4.4 Pesticide recommendations in apple IPM to protect pollinators
- 4.5 Fungicides

contents pages to be laid out

- 4.6 IPM recommendations for conserving wild pollen bees for tree fruit pollination
- 4.7 The institutionalization of pollinator health protection References

Chapter 5. A NATIVE GROUND NESTING BEE (NOMIA MELANDERI) SUSTAINABLY MANAGED TO POLLINATE ALFALFA ACROSS AN INTENSIVELY AGRICULTURAL LANDSCAPE (J.H. CANE)

5.1 Introduction

- 5.2 Description of survey methodologies 5.2.1 Nesting aggregations
 - 5.2.2 Population measurement
 - 5.2.3 Nest hole utilization
- 5.3 Survey results
 - 5.3.1 Nest hole utilization
 - 5.3.2 Population variability
 - 5.3.3 Aggregation and metapopulation growth
 - 5.3.4 Subsurface moisture and aggregation growth
- 5.4 Discussion
- 5.5 Conclusions
- References

Chapter 6. BUCKWHEAT POLLINATION IN A COMPLEX TEMPERATE LANDSCAPE (H. TAKI)

- 6.1 Introduction
- 6.2 Buckwheat plants and flowers
- 6.3 Buckwheat as a food
- 6.4 Pollination studies of buckwheat 6.4.1 Pollination bagging experiments
 - 6.4.2 Buckwheat pollination success and pollinator flight range
- 6.4.3 Buckwheat pollination and landscape matrix quality
- 6.5 Conclusion References

Chapter 7. SMALLHOLDER POLLINATION PERSPECTIVES

- 7.1 Experiences promoting pollination technology among smallholder farmers in Kenya, through Farmer Field Schools (M. Kasina) 7.1.1 Introduction and initial results
 - 7.1.2 Field studies

7.1.3 Conclusion and recommendations References

- Ribeiro, K.M.M. Sigueira and E.M.S. Silva) 7.2.1 Introduction
 - 7.2.2 Cultivation expansion
 - 7.2.3 Pollination ecology
 - 7.2.4 Pollination service in family farming areas
 - 7.2.5 Conclusion
 - References

7.2 Pollination services and melon in family farming areas, northeastern Brazil (L.H.P Kiill, M.F.

contents pages to be laid out

(v)

- 7.3 Pollination in some Kenyan smallholder crops (D.J. Martins) 7.3.1 Hawkmoth and skipper butterfly pollination of papaya
 - 7.3.2 Honey bee pollination of irrigated dry season passionfruit
 - 7.3.3 Native insect and bee pollination of coriander
 - 7.3.4 Native bee pollination of eggplant
 - References

Part III **APPLIED POLLINATION: CROP REQUIREMENTS**

Chapter 8. TEMPERATE AND SUBTROPICAL AREAS (R.D. MACFARLANE)

8.1 Ericaceae (J.H. Cane)

- 8.1.1 Cranberry and lingonberry
- 8.1.2 Floral biology of cranberry
- 8.1.3 Pollination of cranberry
- 8.1.4 Pollinators of cranberries
- 8.1.5 Blueberry
- 8.1.6 Floral biology of blueberry
- 8.1.7 Pollination of blueberry
- 8.1.8 Pollinators of blueberry

8.2 Brassicaceae

8.2.1 Swede rape

- 8.3 Rosaceae
 - 8.3.1 Almonds
 - 8.3.2 Peaches and nectarines
 - 8.3.3 Plums and cherries
 - 8.3.4 Pears
 - 8.3.5 Apples

8.4 Malvaceae

8.4.1 Upland, Asiatic tree cotton

8.5 Linaceae

8.5.1 Linseed or flax

8.6 Liliaceae

8.6.1 Onion, Allium cepa, shallot, A. ascalonicum, spring onions, A. fistulosum, leek, A. porrum, garlic, A. sativum, chives, A. schoenoprasum

8.6.2 Onion hybrid seed pollination in South Africa (M. Brand)

References

8.7 Apiaceae

8.7.1 Carrot

8.8 Myrtaceae

- 8.8.1 Eucalypts
- 8.8.2 Clove, guava and allspice
- 8.8.3 Feijoa
- 8.9 Actinidiaceae
 - 8.9.1 Kiwifruit

contents pages to be laid out

8.10.1 Grapes

8.11 Fabaceae

- 8.11.1 White clover
- 8.11.2 Berseem
- 8.11.3 Lucerne/Alfalfa
- 8.11.4 Field, faba, tick or horse beans
- 8.11.5 Red clover

8.12 Asteraceae

- 8.12.1 Sunflower
- 8.13 Solanaceae
- 8.13.1 Tomatoes
- References

Chapter 9. APPLIED POLLINATION AND SELECTED STUDIES 9.1 Applied pollination in America (D.W. Roubik)

- 9.1.1 Overview
 - 9.1.2 Plant genera and pollination
- 9.2 Applied pollination in Asia and Africa (P.G. Kevan and J.K.S. Mbaya) 9.2.1 Applied pollination in Asia – crop types 9.2.2 Applied pollination in Africa – overview 9.2.3 Pollination studies in African countries – by region 9.2.4 Recommendations for future work

References

9.3 Selected studies

- C. Krug)
- Nates-Parra)
- 9.3.3 Bee pollination of cotton in Brazil (C.S.S. Pires, V.C. Pires and E.R. Sujii)
- Montagnana, G.P. Patricio and L.A.O. Campos)
- I. Ovando-Medina, J. Grajales-Conesa and M. Salvador-Figueroa) 9.3.6 Mango (J. Hipólito, C. Pigozzo and B.F. Viana)
- 9.3.7 Tropical apple production (B.F. Viana and F.O. da Silva)
- Ovando-Medina, J. Grajales-Conesa and M. Salvador-Figueroa)
- 9.3.10 African oil palm, *Elaeis quineensis*: pollination and weevils (P.G. Kevan)
- 9.3.11 Cashew pollination: answering practical questions (B.M. Freitas)

9.3.1 Brazil nut (Bertholletia) in the Amazon (M. Maués, M.C. Cavalcante, A.C. dos Santos and 9.3.2 Passion fruit in Colombia (R. Ospina-Torres, J. Jaramillo, A. Rodriguez-C., M.M. Henao and G. 9.3.4 Tomato pollination in Brazil (M.C. Gaglianone, E.V. Franceschinelli, M.J.O. Campos, L. Freitas, C.M. Silva Neto, M.S. Deprá, M.A.S. Elias, L. Bergamini, P. Netto, B.G. Meyrelles, P.C. 9.3.5 Pollination studies in rambutan (Nephelium lappaceum) in Soconusco, Chiapas, Mexico (M. Rincón-Rabanales, D.W. Roubik, L.I. Vargas-López, M.L. Adriano-Anaya, J.A. Vázquez-Ovando, 9.3.8 Canolaculture in southern Brazil (P. Nunes-Silva, S. Witter and B. Blochtein) 9.3.9 Reproductive biology and pollinators of the multipurpose plant Jatropha curcas in Mesoamerica (M. Rincón-Rabanales, L.I. Vargas-López, M.L. Adriano-Anaya, J.A. Vázquez-Ovando, I.

contents pages to be laid out

LIST OF TABLES

LIST OF FIGURES

Table 2.1	Common world crops, breeding system and benefits from pollinators	Figure 1.1	Scenes of humans, cultivation and p
Table 4.1.	List of pollinating bees and syrphid flies found during the apple bloom period in Pennsylvania fruit-growing regions	Figure 1.2	What the bees have given us. Food i stingless honey bees (above right),
Table 7.1	Choice crops by the FFS groups in the three STEP sites		flying queen next to a few brood ce
Table 7.2	Papaya pollinator diversity, dispersal and pollen transport in Kenya		(above left) flies near its comb and h
Table 7.3	Crop pollination calendar, Turkana basin, Kerio Valley, Kenya		beverage take the form of products of pollen to (below left), with a worke
Table 7.4	Crop values along the value chain in Kerio Valley, Kenya		leguminous seeds. Seeds for growing
Table 7.5	Dispersal and pollen transport scores for honey bees at passion fruit		right), including forage for livesto
Table 7.6	Pollinator dispersal scores among individual flowering plants, from 663 observations made over two days in March 2012		a managed pollinator for lucerne), seeds.
Table 9.1	Flower visitors of <i>Bertholletia excelsa</i> in Itacoatiara, Amazonas State, Tomé-Assu and Belém, Pará state, Brazil	Figure 2.1	Schematic representation of pollen life cycle
Table 9.2	Floral biology tests for four species of Passiflora	Figure 2.2	Flies pollinating a strawberry
Table 9.3	Results of reproductive biology for four species of <i>Passiflora</i> with different pollination treatments	Figure 3.1	Crop yield increases with pollen of implications for the responses of measure and the second
Table 9.4	Visitors, robbers or thieves, and potential pollinators of four species of Passiflora	Figure 2.0	and pollen quality.
Table 9.5	Quality of tomato fruits obtained from bagged and open (unbagged) flower treatments in open orchards and greenhouses in Brazilian states: Goiás (GO), Rio de Janeiro (RJ), Minas Gerais (MG) and São Paulo (SP)	Figure 3.2 Figure 3.3	Consequences of standard agricultur The cycle of wild pollinator decli consequences for crop yield (B).
Table 9.6	Sampling efforts, species richness and abundance of visitors and pollinators of tomato flowers in Brazil	Figure 3.4	Numbers of genera (A) and specie zoogeographical realms.
Table 9.7	Relative abundance of bees visiting tomato flowers (<i>Solanum lycopersicum</i>) in open orchards in the states of Rio de Janeiro (RJ), Goiás (GO), São Paulo (SP) and Minas Gerais (MG), Brazil	Figure 3.5	Geographic variation in the numbers and (B) the three taxonomic groups than Apis or Bombus spp.) and fro
Table 9.8	Fruit produced in three treatments on rambutan, variety CERI61: open flowers, induced pollination (bee colonies presented in cages) and bagged flowers with no visitors, at Metapa de Domínguez, Chiapas, Mexico	Figure 4.1	examined for use in crop pollination A peach orchard in spring, and bu state, USA. Apples and peaches on
Table 9.9	Richness and abundance (I) of bees collected during two flowering periods at rambutan flowers at "El Herradero" ranch, Chiapas, Mexico	Figure 5.1	chemically or hand thinned to get f Aerial photograph of a 3 km wide po
Table 9.10	Flowering event sequences in Mangifera indica at Juazeiro, Bahia; Tommy Atkins variety		seed fields (dark) and alkali bee r arrows). The lack of hedgerows, fallo
Table 9.11	Comparison of characteristics of fruits and seeds obtained from different pollination treatments in <i>Jatropha curcas</i> in the Soconusco region, Chiapas, Mexico		agricultural intensity.
Table 9.12	Potential pollinators of <i>Jatropha curcas</i> in the region of Soconusco, Mexico	Figure 5.2.	Surface of nesting bed showing new holes that are often reused for nest
Table 9.13	Effective pollinators of Jatropha curcas in the region of Soconusco, Mexico	Eiguro E 2	Relationship between nesting densi
		Figure 5.3.	Valley in 2006
		Figure 5.4.	Sum of alkali bees nesting annually

57 are beyond the map boundaries. The image is 13 km wide.

contents pages to be laid out

THE POLLINATION OF CULTIVATED PLANTS: A COMPENDIUM FOR PRACTITIONERS - Volume 1

THE POLLINATION OF CULTIVATED PLANTS: A COMPENDIUM FOR PRACTITIONERS - Volume 1

(viii)

pollinators from around the globe.

is shown in the form of honey and pollen from both with two worker bees in flight and a fecund, nonells and honey pots, while the worker Apis mellifera brood containing a few drones and queens. Food and of plants whose flowers bees forage from and deliver er bumblebee cradled next to some coffee beans and ng plants with multiple uses are also shown (bottom ck (the "leafcutter" bee female shown at its nest, biofuels (sunflower seeds), and squash and melon

n, fertilization and reproduction in the angiosperm

quantity at a decelerating rate, with predictable an yield and yield stability to variation in pollination

ral practices for pollination deficits.

ine in agricultural systems (A) and its expected

es (B) of bees of different families from different

s of species in (A) the three subfamilies of Andrenidae s of bees to which most managed bees belong (other om which additional species may be most suitably n.

umblebee visiting an apple bloom, in Pennsylvania nly need 2-8% of the bloom to set fruit, thus are fewer fruit but of commercial size

ortion of the Touchet Valley, showing growing alfalfa nesting beds (pale polygons indicated with white ow fields or uncultivated land illustrates the valley's

nests with soil heaps (tumuli) as well as emergence ting

ity and nest bed size for alkali bees in the Touchet

in the Touchet Valley of southeastern Washington Figure 5.5. Map of numbered nesting beds surveyed during this study. Nest bed Nos. 46, 55, 56, and

contents pages to be laid out

- Figure 5.6. Valley-wide increase in average annual nesting densities of alkali bees in the Touchet Valley. Shown are the annual grand means and their standard errors, calculated from the mean densities for the 24 most populous surveyed beds. The linear regression is fitted to the eight annual grand means.
- Population growth of five representative alkali bee nesting beds annually surveyed in Figure 5.7 the Touchet Valley. Names are those used by local growers; nest bed numbers from Figure 5.5.
- Figure 6.1 Buckwheat fields in the mountainous environs of Hitachiota, Ibaraki Prefecture, Japan
- Figure 6.2 Buckwheat pin type (left) and thrum type (right) flowers. Pin flowers have long styles that project beyond the short stamens; thrum flowers have long stamens that extend beyond the short styles.
- Figure 6.3 Relationships between areas of natural and semi-natural lands surrounding buckwheat (Fagopyrum esculentum) fields and the abundances of Asian honey bees (Apis cerana) (left) and non-honey bee insects (right).
- Figure 6.4 Relationships between seed set in buckwheat (Fagopyrum esculentum) and areas of (i) natural and (ii) semi-natural lands surrounding crop fields.
- Farmers who participated in the FFS on pollination technology in Kenya, 2012–2014 Figure 7.1
- Figure 7.2 Crotalaria pollination trial by Msalaba Horticulture FFS group (Kakamega) and a plot by Makandara FFS group (Kilimambogo) showing no watermelon fruits formed compared to open pollinated plants, and showing experimental covering of flowers to exclude pollinators and record the result.
- Three main centres of melon production in NE Brazil Figure 7.3
- Figure 7.4 Applied techniques for optimization of crop systems in cultivation centres of Mossoró-Açu-Rio Grande do Norte and Lower Jaguaribe-Ceará: (a) area covered with fabric, (b) area with the cover removed, and (c) area with honey bee hives near the melon crop
- Melon crop areas in the pole Petrolina-Pernmabuco/Juazeiro-Bahia: (a) with irrigation Figure 7.5 by ditch, and (b) drip irrigation (plastic cover removed)
- Figure 7.6 Melon male flower (left) and hermaphrodite flower (right), showing size difference.
- Figure 7.7 (a) Satellite image of the Irrigated Perimeter of Mandacaru (in red), in Juazeiro, with plot 65 (number 3), and (b) partial view of the crop area, showing the surroundings and proximity between the crop areas
- Figure 7.8 Total hawkmoth visitations to papaya for representative evenings from Machakos and Kerio Valley in Kenya
- Figure 7.9 (a) Mean duration of two honey bee subspecies visits to flowering passion fruit at Iten, Kerio Valley, Kenya. Data from December 2013 to January 2014. (b) Mean number of flowers visited by honey bee subspecies on passion fruit at Iten, Kerio Valley, Kenya
- Figure 7.10 Visitation rates of bees to a single flowering passionfruit plant at Iten, Kerio Valley, Kenya on 22 December 2013
- Figure 7.11 Mean number of flowers visited by honey bee subspecies on passion fruit at Iten, Kerio Valley, Kenya
- Figure 7.12 Visitation rates of insects to a single flowering unit (one umbel) of coriander at South Turkwel, Turkana, Kenya on 7 March 2012
- Figure 7.13 Mean duration of different pollinator taxa visits to a single patch of flowering coriander at South Turkwel, Turkana, Kenya

contents pages to be laid out

(x)

Figure 7.14	Pollinators visiting flowers on Kenyar watermelon flower; (c) Ceratina visi taking nectar from Papaya; and (f) fruit flower
Figure 7.15	Eggplant fruit harvest and pollinato
Figure 7.16	Mean duration of different pollinat South Turkwel, Turkana, Kenya
Figure 7.17	Visitation rates of insects to a sing Turkana, Kenya on 15 and 20 March
Figure 8.1	Pear and peach flowers and fruit (se
Figure 8.2	Onion field cultivated for seed and r
Figure 8.3	Carrot field in the Karoo, cultivated
Figure 8.4	Guava – Psidium
Figure 8.5	Tamarind – Tamarindus
Figure 8.6	Halictid bee buzz-pollinating and Xy
Figure 8.7	Papilionaceaous legume
Figure 8.8	Mimosaceaous legume – Mimosa
Figure 8.9	Number of long-tongued bumblebee
Figure 8.10	Sunflower – Helianthus (section of f
Figure 9.1	Africanized honey bees are primarily pollination in the Neotropics
Figure 9.2	Agave in full flower
Figure 9.3	Cashew – Anacardium
Figure 9.4	Biribi – Rollinia
Figure 9.5	Annatto – Bixa
Figure 9.6	Coconut – Cocos
Figure 9.7	Cucumber – Cucumis
Figure 9.8	Oil Palm – Elaeis
Figure 9.9	Mango – Mangifera
Figure 9.10	Yuca – Manihot
Figure 9.11	Tobacco – Nicotiana
Figure 9.12	Centris visiting Passiflora (section)
Figure 9.13	Avocado – Persea
Figure 9.14	Soloanaceae native to the tropics -
Figure 9.15	Cacao – Theobroma
Figure 9.16	Litchi – Nephelium
Figure 9.17	Xylocopa visiting Canavalia
Figure 9.18	Sesame – Sesamum
Figure 9.19	Pepper – Piper
Figure 9.20	Rose apple – Syzygium

contents pages to be laid out

an farms: (a) Megachile on pea flower; (b) Amegilla on iting Coriander; (d) Xylocopa on pea; (e) hawkmoth two subspecies of Apis mellifera visiting passion

ors at flower: Hypotrigona and Apis mellifera tor taxa visits to a patch of flowering eggplant at

igle flowering patch of eggplant at South Turkwel, 2012.

ections) – Rosaceae Prunus and Pyrus

nearby irrigated field in the Karoo, South Africa for seed crop

vlocopa robbing nectar at legume flowers

e colonies/ha (during indicated year) flower head) ly used for honey or wax and are rarely managed for

Capsicum, Solanum

Figure 9.21 Cinammon – Cinamomum zeylanicum

- Figure 9.22 Visitors and pollinators of Bertholletia excelsa at two cultivated systems, monocultures in Itacoatiara, Amazonas state and agroforestry systems in Tomé-Assu, Pará state, Brazil: (a) Xylocopa frontalis (); (b) Bombus tranversalis (); (c) Centris americana (); (d) Centris denudans (); (e) Centris ferruginea (); (f) Epicharis zonata (); (g) Epicharis flava (); (h) Eufriesea flaviventris (); (i) Eufriesea purpurata (); (j) Eulaema bombiformis (); (k) Eulaema mocsaryi (); and (l) Eulaema cingulata ().
- Figure 9.23 Passion fruit Passiflora
- Figure 9.24 Three different bees visiting Passiflora, each with different foraging and pollination. Left to right: Africanized Apis mellifera, Eulaema and Xylocopa
- Figure 9.25 (a) Cotton flowers open to bee visits (natural pollination), and (b) cotton flowers bagged to prevent bee visitation (spontaneous self pollination)
- Figure 9.26 Boll weight of fruits and number of seeds (mean number per fruit) resulting from bagged cotton flowers (self-pollination - bagged) and cotton flowers open to bee visitation (natural pollination - unbagged), measured in areas of organic (cotton variety = Embrapa - BRS 187 8H) and conventional (cotton variety = Bayer - FM 910) production
- Figure 9.27 Abundance of wild bees and feral Apis mellifera on cotton flowers (total number of individuals/600 m2) in relation to the volume of insecticide applied within the 15-day interval before the date of sampling for bees
- Figure 9.28 View of cultivated areas in the states of Brazil: Rio de Janeiro (RJ), Goiás (GO), São Paulo (SP) and Minas Gerais (MG)
- Figure 9.29 Tomato (Solanum lycopersicum) flowers: (a) deflexed petals and fused anthers; (b) extended petals and central cone of anthers; and (c) fruit in development
- Figure 9.30 Pollinators of tomato in the studied areas: (a) Exomalopsis analis, (b) Exomalopsis auropilosa, (c) Bombus morio, (d) Augochloropsis sp., (e) Xylocopa frontalis and (f) Melipona quadrifasciata
- Figure 9.31 (a) The "El Herradero" ranch located in Metapa de Dominguez, Chiapas in the Soconusco region (average elevation 110 m); (b) rambutan orchard; (c) male rambutan flowers; (d) hermaphrodite flower, functionally male; and (e) hermaphrodite flower, functionally female
- Figure 9.32 (a) Open pollination treatment, (b) bagged panicle of rambutan, (c) S. mexicana hives in orchard with bees visiting rambutan panicles, (d) S. mexicana, (e) Halictus hesperus, and (f) Africanized A. mellifera.
- Figure 9.33 Mature fruit of rambutan, variety CERI61, yielded by open pollination (T1), geitonogamy [caged flowers with bees] (T3), or pollinator exclusion (T2) during two years in Chiapas, Mexico.
- Figure 9.34 Anthers of Nephelium lappaceum from hermaphrodite flowers. Left: stamen with open anther; middle and right: magnifications of anthers and pollen grains
- Figure 9.35 Total bees captured at flowers on entire trees (N = 12) covered with a collecting tent at the indicated times. Analysis of data transformed as natural logarithm shows columns with the same letters were not significantly different (Duncan test, = 0.05).
- Figure 9.36 Mangifera indica tree in flower, Tommy Atkins variety, São Francisco valley, Bahia, Brazil

contents pages to be laid out

Figure 9.37	Flower stage in mango flowers: A, fl sepals perpendicular to the ovary; D, change colour; G, flowers become da
Figure 9.38	Location of Chapada Diamantina in co of the apple study orchard in Chapad (5 pixels m-1) satellite image (SPOT) near irrigated agriculture, located b (190 000 ha, approximately 470 00 National Park (C)
Figure 9.39	Flower density in "Eva" and "Princess' Bahia, Brazil.
Figure 9.40	Schematic representation of infloresc apple varieties: (a, b) inflorescence; (with petals removed; and (g, h) trans
Figure 9.41	Fruit set (4a) and seed set (4b) cound bar) trees ($n = 24$ trees for each ter parcels densely populated with sting honey bees (7 hives ha-1 with pollen bees alone (7 hives ha-1 with pollen
Figure 9.42	Opening dynamic of female and ma region, Chiapas, Mexico
Figure 9.43	Daily dynamics of insects visiting J southern Mexico
Figure 9.44	Jatropha curcas reproductive structuregion, Southern Mexico: (a) female with dehiscent anthers; (c) hermagereceptive stigma; (d-e) J. curcas pole (f) J. curcas and Inga sp. mixed polle in the stage of flower buds; (h) female (i) ripening fruits; and (j-l) J. curcas bee Scaptotrigona mexicana (j), the haff. circe (l)
Figure 9.45	Pollinator force
Figure 9.46	Cashew (<i>Anacardium occidentale</i>) cult an orchard of dwarf cashew trees; (b) hermaphrodite flowers open, when pla (c) Apis mellifera hives for pollinat (d) stingless bees visiting a cashew many fruitlets per panicle; (f) Centris

(xii)

lowers in anthesis; B, petals begin to separate; C, one day after anthesis; E, anthers open; F, flowers arker and fully pink [8]

central Bahia, northeastern Brazil (A); and location da Diamantina (B). The right-hand, high-resolution taken in September 2008 shows the study orchard between the municipalities of Ibicoara (Mucuqê) 000 acres), and bordered by Chapada Diamantina

" apple varieties in orchard at Chapada Diamantina,

cence and flowers of Princess (left) and Eva (right) (c, d) fully open flowers; (e, f) stigmas and anthers sverse section, ovary

nted in Eva (dark grey bar) and Princess (light grey ested density). Data obtained in 2012 from three Igless bees (N = 12 colonies ha-1) and Africanized n traps) simultaneously, and with Africanized honey n traps)

ale flowers in Jatropha curcas in the Soconusco

Jatropha curcas flowers in the Soconusco region,

ures and its efficient pollinators in the Soconusco le flower with receptive stigma; (b) male flower aphrodite flower showing dehiscent anthers and llen grains recovered from loads of flower visitors; en recovered from flowers visitors; (g) inflorescence ale flower receiving the visit of Trigona fulviventris; as pollinators carrying pollen loads: stingless honey halictid Agapostemon sp. (k), the dipteran Eristalis

ltivation and its pollinators: (a) the cashew fruit in pollination must take place within four hours after lantation bordered by forest may attract pollinators; ation in an orchard of normal-sized cashew trees; ew flower; (e) well-pollinated cashew tree bearing is flavifrons approaching a cashew flower

contents pages to be laid out



photo to be discussed/selected

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

unding for Chapter 4 (D.J. Biddinger, E.G. Rajotte and N.K. Joshi) was provided by a State Horticultural Association of Pennsylvania grant, an USDA-SCRI Research and Extension grant (PEN04398) on native pollinators, an USDA-NRCS Conservation Innovation grant with the Xerces Society for Invertebrate Conservation, and a current regional USDA-SCRI Coordinated Agricultural Project grant (MICL05063) on integrated crop pollination. The authors thank Dr. Sheena Sidhu, Department of Entomology, University of California, Riverside, CA for reviewing a previous draft of this chapter.

The work for **section 7.1** (*M. Kasina*) was carried out within the Kenya Pollination Project (KPP), which forms part of the Global Pollination Project, and is financially supported by GEF and implemented in seven countries, including Kenya, by UNEP through FAO Rome. The author thanks the team involved in project implementation at Kakamega, Mt Kenya and Kilimambogo, as well as the national project coordination team, and the farmers who agreed to participate in the project.

The study that comprises section 7.3 (D. Martins) was conducted as part of an analysis of insect diversity and plant-pollinator interactions in the Turkana Basin at the Turkana Basin Institute. The following student volunteers from Hillcrest Secondary School assisted with fieldwork: N. Morey, E. Stephanou and T. Maseland and P. Lomosingo. The Nachekichok Women's Group are also thanked for allowing the project team to work on their farms. Assistance, useful comments and various insights were provided by S.C. Collins, R. Leakey, M. Leakey, L. Leakey, I. Angelei, A. Powys, M. Kasina, M.N. Mutiso, W. Kinuthia, J. Mamlin and S.E. Mamlin, and the scientists and staff of the East African Herbarium, National Museums of Kenya and Nature Kenya.

Section 9.3.1, the study on Brazil nut (Bertholletia) in the Amazon (M. Maués, M.C. Cavalcante, A.C. dos Santos and C. Kruq), was made possible by support from Embrapa, CNPq - Process n° 556406/2009-05, and the Global Pollinator Project GEF/UNEP/FA0/MMA, FUNBIO.

The authors of Section 9.3.4 (R. Ospina-Torres, J. Jaramillo, A. Rodriguez-C., M.M. Henao and G. Nates-Parra), a study of passion fruit on Colombia, would like to offer their thanks to the Universidad Nacional de Colombia (DIB and Departamento de Biología) and COLCIENCIAS for funding the study (DIB 8003251; COL 1101-52128758) and to GNP and ROT and the Young Researcher (JJ). They also thank the team of the Bee Research Laboratory (LABUN) for their support. They are grateful to Scott Bridges for his translation and editorial assistance, and to David Roubik for his invitation to participate in this publication and for his editorial comments. The owners of the crops are also thanked for their collaboration.

(xiv)

Section 9.3.4 (M.C. Gaglianone, E.V. Franceschinelli, M.J.O. Campos, L. Freitas, C.M. Silva Neto, M.S. Deprá, M.A.S. Elias, L. Bergamini, P. Netto, B.G. Meyrelles, P.C. Montagnana, G.P. Patricio and L.A.O. Campos) resulted from the CNPq project (556057/2009-0) and the Tomato Pollinators Network Research in Brazil, as part of the Project "Conservation and Management of Pollinators for Sustainable Agriculture, through an Ecosystem Approach", supported by the Global Environmental Facility Bank (GEF), coordinated by FAO with implementation support from UNEP, and supported in Brazil by the Ministry of Environment (MMA) and the Brazilian Biodiversity Fund (Funbio). Thanks are due to G.C.G. Delaqua, M.F. Marques, A.P. Hautequestt, M.C.M. Morais, L.F. Ferreira, I.R. Stanciola, G. Paiva, B.B. Grisolia, F.G. Brocanelli and M.A. Pizano for their assistance in the field and laboratory, and to the farmers that allowed the study on their proprieties. Grateful thanks are also due to G.A.R. Melo, F.A. Silveira, S.R.M. Pedro and F.F. Oliveira for taxonomic identification. EMATER and RioRural/SEAPPA/RJ and FAPERJ (MCG: E-26/112.652/2012) are thanked for logistical and financial support. M.C.Gaglianone, L. Freitas and L.A.O. Campos are grateful to CNPg for the PQ productivity scholarships.

Section 9.3.11 contains information gathered over 20 years of research on cashew pollination through projects supported by different institutions and in partnership with academics, researchers, students and cashew growers to whom the author (B.M. Freitas) is indebted. Part of the content presented here resulted from the CNPq-Brasilia/Brazil projects 521946/96-4, 305062/2007 and 7556042/2009-3, and the Cashew Pollinators Network Research in Brazil, as part of the Project "Conservation and Management of Pollinators for Sustainable Agriculture, through an Ecosystem Approach", which is supported by the Global Environmental Facility Bank (GEF), and coordinated by FAO with implementation support from the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) and supported in Brazil by the Ministry of Environment (MMA) and the Brazilian Biodiversity Fund (Funbio). The author thanks the Brazilian National Research Centre for Tropical Agro-Industry (EMBRAPA/CNPAT) for use of its experimental station to conduct field research and the supportive help of its staff over many years. The author is also grateful to CNPq-Brasilia/Brazil and CAPES-Brasilia/Brazil for M.Sc. and Ph.D. sponsorship for the students involved in the projects and the British Council (NE Brazil) and CNPq-Brasilia/Brazil for travel grants.

The author of **Chapter 11** (A. vanDoorn) offers his thanks to H.H.W. Velthuis for critically reading the manuscript.

The authors of Chapter 15 (C.I. da Silva and B.M. Freitas) would like to thank many people and institutions involved with their studies of carpenter bees and their role as pollinators over the last two decades. B.M. Freitas would like to thank his former and present students for their dedication, passion fruit growers F. Ferreira Neto, J.B.C. Nunes and V.C. Aquino for their interest and collaborative work in the field trial, and CNPq-Brasilia/Brazil for supporting project # 467275/2000-9 and CNPq-Brasilia/ Brazil, CAPES-Brasilia/Brazil and FUNCAP-Ceará/Brazil for the M.Sc. and Ph.D. sponsorship of students involved in the projects. C.I. da Silva would like to thank FAPEMIG-MG/Brazil for its financial support.

LIST OF CONTRIBUTORS

M.L. Adriano-Anaya

Universidad Autonoma de Chiapas, Centro de Biociencias, Carretera a Puerto Madero Km 2.0, Tapachula, 30700, Chiapas, Mexico

M.A. Aizen

Laboratorio Ecotono, Centro Regional Universitario Bariloche (CRUB), Universidad Nacional del Comahue and Instituto de Investigaciones en Biodiversidad y Medioambiente (INIBIOMA), CP 8400, San Carlos de Bariloche, Río Negro, Argentina

L. Bergamini

Universidade Federal de Goiás-UFG, Departamento de Botânica, Goiânia, GO, Brasil

D. J. Biddinger

Pennsylvania State University Fruit Research and Extension Center, Entomology, 290 University Drive, Biglerville, PA 17307, Pennsylvania State University, Department of Entomology, 501 ASI Building, University Park, PA 16801, USA

B. Blochtein

Pontificia Universidade Católica do Rio Grande do Sul, Av. Ipiranga, 6681 – 90619900, Porto Alegre, RS, Brasil

M. Brand

Natural History Department, Entomology, Iziko Museums of South Africa; 25 Queen Victoria Street, P.O. Box 61, Cape Town, 8000, South Africa

S.L. Buchmann

Department of Biology, University of Arizona, Tucson, Arizona, USA

D.M. Burgett

Oregon State University, Corvallis, Oregon 97350, USA

(xvi)

L.A. de O. Campos

Universidade Federal de Viçosa, Departamento de Biologia Animal, Viçosa, MG, Brasil

M.J. de O. Campos

Universidade Estadual Paulista-UNESP, Departamento de Ecologia, Rio Claro, SP, Brasil

J.H. Cane

USDA, Bee Biology and Systematics Lab, Utah State University, Logan, Utah 84322-5310, USA

M.C. Cavalcante

Universidade Federal Rural de Pernambuco, Serra Talhada, PE, Brasil

C.R. Cervancia

Institute of Biological Sciences, University of the Philippines, Los Baños, Philippines

S.A. Cunningham

CSIRO Ecosystem Sciences, Box 1700, Canberra, ACT, Australia

A.R. Davis

Department of Biology, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, Saskatchewan S7N 0W0, Canada

M.S. Deprá

Universidade Estadual do Norte Fluminense Darcy Ribeiro-UENF, Laboratório de Ciências Ambientais, Campos dos Goytacazes, RJ, Brasil

A. van Doorn

BumbleConsult, the Netherlands

M.A. da S. Elias

Universidade Federal de Goiás-UFG, Departamento de Botânica, Goiânia, GO, Brasil



A.C. Fajardo, Jr.

Institute of Biological Sciences, University of the Philippines, Los Baños, Philippines

E.V. Franceschinelli

Universidade Federal de Goiás-UFG, Departamento de Botânica, Goiânia, GO, Brasil

B.M. Freitas

Universidade Federal do Ceará – UFC, Departamento de Zootecnia – CCA, Campus Universitário do Pici, Bloco 808, CEP 60.356-000 Fortaleza – CE, Brasil

L. Freitas

Jardim Botânico do Rio de Janeiro-JBRJ, Rio de Janeiro, RJ

M.C. Gaglianone

Universidade Estadual do Norte Fluminense Darcy Ribeiro-UENF, Laboratório de Ciências Ambientais, Campos dos Goytacazes, RJ, Brasil

L.A. Garibaldi

Sede Andina, Universidad Nacional de Río Negro (UNRN) and Consejo Nacional de Investigaciones Científicas y Técnicas (CONICET), Mitre 630, CP 8400, San Carlos de Bariloche, Río Negro, Argentina

J. Grajales-Conesa

Universidad Autonoma de Chiapas, Centro de Biociencias, Carretera a Puerto Madero Km 2.0, Tapachula, 30700, Chiapas, Mexico

L. de Guzman

USDA-ARS Honey Bee Breeding, Genetics, and Physiology Lab, 1157 Ben Hur Rd., Baton Rouge, LA, 70820-0000, USA

M. Guzmán-Diaz

Universidad Autonoma de Chiapas. Centro de Biociencias, Carretera a Puerto Madero Km 2.0, Tapachula, 30700, Chiapas, Mexico

L.D. Harder

Department of Biological Sciences, University of Calgary, Calgary, Alberta T2N 1N4, Canada

A. Hassan Jalil

Koperasi Meiponi K.L. Bhd., Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

T.A. Heard

Honorary Associate, Social Insects Lab, School of Biological Sciences, Macleay Building A12, University of Sydney, NSW 2006, Australia

M.M. Henao

Laboratorio de investigaciones en Abejas (LABUN), Departamento de Biología, Universidad Nacional de Colombia, Sede Bogotá, Colombia

J. Hipólito

Laboratório de Biologia e Ecologia de Abelhas; Instituto de Biologia – Departamento de Zoologia, Universidade Federal da Bahia (UFBA); Rua Barão de Geremoabo, S/N, Campus de Ondina; CEP 40.170-110 Salvador, BA, Brasil

D.W. Inouye

Department of Biology, University of Maryland, College Park, MD 20742-4415, USA

J. Jaramillo

Laboratorio de investigaciones en Abejas (LABUN), Departamento de Biología, Universidad Nacional de Colombia, Sede Bogotá, Colombia

N.K. Joshi

Pennsylvania State University Fruit Research and Extension Center, Entomology, 290 University Drive, Biglerville, PA 17307, Pennsylvania State University, Department of Entomology, 501 ASI Building, University Park, PA 16801

M. Kasina

Kenya Agricultural Research Institute, NARL, P.O. Box 14733-00800 Nairobi, Kenya

P.G. Kevan

NSERC-CANPOLIN, School of Environmental Sciences, Bovey Comples, University of Guelph, Guelph, ON N1G 2W1, Canada

L.H.P Kiill

Empresa Brasileira de Pesquisa Agropecuária (EMBRAPA) Semiárido, Petrolina PE, Brasil

R. Krell

FAO, Rome, Italy

C. Krug

Empresa Brasileira de Pesquisa Agropecuária (EMBRAPA), Ocidental, Manaus, AM, Brasil

P. Kwapong

Department of Conservation Biology and Entomology (CBE), School of Biological Sciences Sciences, University Post Office, University of Cape Coast, Cape Coast, Ghana

R.P. Macfarlane

Buzzuniversal, 33 Woodside Common; Christchurch, New Zealand

D.J. Martins

Turkana Basin Institute – Stony Brook University, N507 Social & Behavioural Sciences Stony Brook NY 11794 USA, Insect Committee of Nature Kenya, National Museums of Kenya, Museum Hill, Nairobi, P.O. Box 44486 Nairobi GPO 00100, Kenya

M. Maués

Empresa Brasileira de Pesquisa Agropecuária (EMBRAPA) Amazônia Oriental, Belém, PA, Brasil

J.K.S. Mbaya

National beekeeping station, P.O. Box 34188, Nairobi, Kenya

B.G. Meyrelles

Universidade Federal de Viçosa, Departamento de Biologia Animal, Viçosa, MG, Brasil

P.C. Montagnana

Universidade Estadual Paulista-UNESP, Departamento de Ecologia, Rio Claro, SP, Brasil

J.E. Moreno

Smithsonian Tropical Research Institute, Balboa, Republic of Panama

G. Nates-Parra

Laboratorio de investigaciones en Abejas (LABUN). Departamento de Biología, Universidad Nacional de Colombia, Sede Bogotá, Colombia

C.M. da S. Neto

Universidade Federal de Goiás-UFG, Departamento de Botânica, Goiânia, GO

P. Nunes-Silva

Pontificia Universidade Católica do Rio Grande do Sul, Av. Ipiranga, 6681 – 90619900, Porto Alegre, RS, Brasil

R. Ospina Torres

Laboratorio de investigaciones en Abejas (LABUN), Departamento de Biología. Universidad Nacional de Colombia, Sede Bogotá, Colombia

I. Ovando-Medina

Universidad Autonoma de Chiapas. Centro de Biociencias. Carretera a Puerto Madero Km 2.0, Tapachula, 30700, Chiapas, Mexico

L. Packer

Department of Biology, York University, 4700 Keele Street, Toronto, Ontario M3J 1P3, Canada

G.P. Patricio

Universidade Estadual Paulista-UNESP, Departamento de Ecologia, Rio Claro, SP, Brasil

C. Pigozzo

Instituto de Biologia, Universidade Federal da Bahia – Campus de Ondina, Rua Barão de Geremoabo s/n, 40170-210 Salvador, BA, Brasil

C.S.S. Pires

Embrapa Recursos Genéticos e Biotecnologia, Cx. Postal 02372 – Brasília – DF, CEP 70.849-970, Brasil

V.C. Pires

Instituto do Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da Bahia, Rua Viena, nº. 425, Bairro Dinnah Borges – Eunálopis – BA, CEP 45.820-970, Brasil

E. J. Rajotte

Pennsylvania State University, Department of Entomology, 501 ASI Building, University Park, PA 16801, USA

M.F. Ribeiro

Empresa Brasileira de Pesquisa Agropecuária (EMBRAPA) Semiárido, Petrolina PE, Brasil

M. Rincon-Rabanales

Universidad Autonoma de Chiapas, Centro de Biociencias, Carretera a Puerto Madero Km 2.0, Tapachula, 30700, Chiapas, Mexico

A. Rodriguez-C.

Laboratorio de investigaciones en Abejas (LABUN), Departamento de Biología, Universidad Nacional de Colombia, Sede Bogotá, Colombia

D.W. Roubik

Smithsonian Tropical Research Institute, Balboa, Republic of Panama

M. Salvador-Figueroa

Universidad Autonoma de Chiapas, Centro de Biociencias, Carretera a Puerto Madero Km 2.0, Tapachula, 30700, Chiapas, Mexico

D. Sammataro

USDA-ARS Carl Hayden Honey Bee Research Center, 2000 E. Allen Road, Tucson, AZ 85719-1596, USA

A.C. dos Santos

Embrapa Amazônia Oriental, Belém, PA, Brasil

R.C. Sihag

Department of Zoology, CCS Haryana Agricultural University, Hisar 125004, India

E.M.S. Silva

UNIVASF, Brasil

P.N. Silva

Universidade Federal de Vicosa, Departamento de Biologia Animal, Vicosa, MG, Brasil

C.I. da Silva

(xx)

Universidade Federal do Ceará - UFC, Departamento de Zootecnia – CCA, Campus Universitário do Pici, Bloco 808, CEP 60.356-000 Fortaleza – CE, Brasil

K.M.M. Sigueira

Universidade do Estado da Bahia, Campus III DTCS, Juazeiro. Av. Egard Chastinet s/n São Geraldo 48905-680 – Juazeiro, BA, Brasil

E.R. Sujii

Embrapa Recursos Genéticos e Biotecnologia, Cx. Postal 02372 - Brasília - DF, CEP 70.849-970, Brasil

H. Taki

Department of Forest Entomology, Forestry and Forest Products Research Institute, 1 Matsunosato, Tsukuba, Ibaraki 305-8687, Japan

L.I. Vargas-Lopez

Universidad Autonoma de Chiapas, Centro de Biociencias, Carretera a Puerto Madero Km 2.0, Tapachula, 30700, Chiapas, Mexico

J.A. Vazquez-Ovando

Universidad Autonoma de Chiapas. Centro de Biociencias. Carretera a Puerto Madero Km 2.0, Tapachula, 30700, Chiapas, Mexico

B.F. Viana

Instituto de Biologia, Universidade Federal da Bahia – Campus de Ondina, Rua Barão de Geremoabo s/n, 40170-210 Salvador, BA, Brasil

S. Witter

Fundação ZooBotânica do Rio Grande do Sul, Salvador França, 1427 - 90690 -000, Porto Alegre, RS. Brasil

PREFACE TO THE SECOND EDITION

ollinators such as bees have been declining in diversity, if not abundance, ever since people began to replace their habitats with those suited for human use. Humans are largely responsible for this problem and, thus, might also be expected to remedy it. How to achieve this, however, is not yet exactly clear. Furthermore, there is now increasing awareness that an intact ecosystem has values determined by social, political, economic and a host of other human devices, which are often in conflict with ecological processes that form and maintain ecosystems and the services they provide to humanity [1–3].

Many advocate the use of "sustainable" approaches in crop pollination. However, it is prudent to draw on the knowledge of experts in related fields. One such group is the sustainable forestry cadre, which encompasses both the so-called developed and developing worlds. In their words, [4] sustainable forestry is not the same as sustainable forests. In the present context, sustainable pollination is not the same as sustainable pollinators. Which pollinators are to be sustained, how and for whom?

There are obvious trade-offs. In the case of agriculture, managed pollinators are brought in when local pollinator numbers are too low in the surrounding environment to pollinate crops at an acceptable level. However, when the environment itself is the source of pollinators, and property boundaries are already set, some difficult decisions are required. How much land or habitat should remain underutilized by agriculture or other activities to sustain pollinators? In other words, how many crops or other materials can be voluntarily sacrificed for the sake of producing fruit and seeds that are only obtained from pollination by wild animals? In larger farms or monocultures, the question is more complex, but similar. If fewer pollinators result in a smaller yield, is it less costly to increase planting density or area, to hire a pollinator service provider (PSP) or to sacrifice arable land for "pollinator reserves" [5]? Finally, biocides almost invariably reduce pollinator populations [6, 7]. Is the cost of such chemical input compensated by the increased saleable produce and the profit margin, compared to lost production due to a pollination/pollinator deficit?

As if this were not already complicated enough, bee keepers are hard pressed to maintain their profit margins, which seem to hover at a level of net profit being just shy of 10 percent of the gross profit [8]. In other words, no one is getting rich, but commercial beekeeping is sustainable – meaning that it can continue and is not going "into the red". The fact that nature is deemed sustainable only when such a decline is avoided is a sure sign of trouble. Nature must not only continue, but advance

by a process known as natural selection, to keep pace with the mounting challenges posed both by environmental change and human impact. Without the appropriate habitat and populations it supports, that cannot occur.

The present compendium for practitioners shows the reader how to strive to maintain important checks and balances, taking into consideration pollinators in croplands, both large and small, and within the world's temperate and tropical realms. While it describes a range of methods and goals, it does not advocate any particular product or copyrighted item. Thanks are due to FAO for its service in furthering applied pollination science.

David W. Roubik Balboa Republic of Panama and Port Angeles

Washington, 2016

REFERENCES

- [1] I.C., Ramankutty, N. & Snyder, P.K. 2005. Global consequences of land use. Science, 309: 570–574.
- [2] mismatches across Europe. PLoS One, 9: e82996.
- [3] Science, 344, doi: 10.1126/science.1246752.
- [4] DC, Island Press.
- [5] and the Environment, pp. 25-33. Penang, Malaysia, Beenet Asia and Southbound.
- [6] van der Valk, H. & Koomen, I., eds. 2013. Aspects determining the risk of pesticides to wild bees: risk profiles
- Roubik, D.W., ed. 2014. Pollinator safety in agriculture. Rome, FAO. [7]
- [8] Handbook 11, NRAES-186.

A NOTE ON REFERENCES

Several of the chapters and sections included in this publication appeared in earlier forms in the previous edition of this Compendium: Pollination of Cultivated Plants in the Tropics (1995). The presentation of the references in these chapters has remained the same, with the inclusion of newer publications where these are mentioned in the text. New chapters and sections use a numbered reference system. All chapters have been revised and updated for this second edition.

(xxii)

Foley, J.A., DeFries, R., Asner, G.P., Barford, C., Bonan, C., Carpenter, S.R., Chapin, F.S., Coe, M.T., Daily, G.C., Gibbs, H.K., Helkowski, J.H., Holloway, T., Howard, E.A., Kucharik, C.J., Monfreda, C., Patz, J.A., Prentice,

Breeze, T.D., Vaissière, B.E., Bommarco, R., Petanidou, T., Seraphides, N., Kozák, L., Scheper, J., Biesmeijer, J.C., Kleijn, D., Gyldenkærne, S., Moretti, M., Holzschuh, A., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Stout, J.C., Pärtel, M., Zobel, M. & Potts, S.G. 2014. Agricultural policies exacerbate honeybee pollination service supply-demand

Pimm, S.I., Jenkins, C.N., Abell, R., Brooks, T.M., Gittleman, J.L., Joppa, L.N., Raven, P.H., Roberts, C.M & Sexton, J.O. 2014. The biodiversity of species and their rates of extinction, distribution, and protection.

Aplet, G.H., Johnson, N., Olson, J.T. & Sample, V.A. (eds.). 1993. Defining sustainable forestry. Washington,

Roubik, D.W. 1996. Diversity in the real world: tropical forests as pollinator reserves. In M. Mardan, A. Sipat, K.M. Yusoff, H.M.S.R. Kiew & M.M. Abdullah, eds. Proceedings of the International Conference on Tropical Bees

for focal crops on three continents. Pollination Services for Sustainable Agriculture, Field Manuals. Rome, FAO.

Spivak, M. 2010. The business of pollination. In E. Mader, M. Spivak & E. Evans, eds. Managing alternative pollinators: a handbook for beekeepers, growers, and conservationists, pp. 1-14. Ithaca, NY, SARE





Part I INTRODUCTION

page to be designed

Chapter 1 **LESSONS LEARNED OVER THE LAST 20 YEARS** D.W. Roubik

1.1 SUSTAINABLE POLLINATION AND POLLINATORS

The year 2012 marked the 50th anniversary of a landmark book by Rachael Carson entitled *Silent Spring*, which first drew attention to the real dangers of biocides. Today, lessons regarding the hazards of toxic pesticide are still being re-learned, with the consequences of usage most evident in pollinators. In 1995, FAO published *The Pollination of Cultivated Plants in the Tropics*, which introduced readers to various aspects of natural and insect pollination. Now, over 20 years later, it is timely to revise, update and expand this publication. While there is much new information to be added to the knowledge base on pollination, much of what was known 20 years ago bears repeating.

The practical concerns of pollination studies are not difficult to understand. The largest crops – rice, wheat, sugar cane and corn – are pollinated by wind, but the proportion of crops that requires pollination by animals has increased steadily. Only a few crops used for fruit, seeds or fibre (e.g. olives, pistachio, pineapple and banana) have no need for pollination by animals [4, 5]. The utility of pollination also extends to crops beyond food and fibre. For example, a number of important biofuels (aside from sugarcane and corn) benefit from pollinators including: sunflower, canola, African oil palm, coconut, *Jatropha* and soybean [6, 7, 44 and see Chapter 9.3]. Yet, problems still arise in getting the pollinatorpollination message across, despite concerted efforts [8–24]. Notwithstanding progress in farming techniques and diverse farm management strategies, many limitations persist in basic and applied knowledge of pollinators and their environment, especially among small farms. In such environments, pollinators cannot be rented or purchased; they must be incorporated into farming itself. And if they are lost, *some* (see below) will likely vanish forever. Most of the pollinators in any kind of agro-ecosystem certainly seem to require conscious attention and management innovations, if not intervention or regulation.

Not all pollinators are amenable to management, however. Those that are possess certain distinguishing characteristics that require attention, especially now. The main pollinators serving agriculture in addition to "pollen bees" (Chapter 4) are "persistent pollinators". They nest along roadways, open areas, human-created landscapes and often forage in weedy vegetation. They are pre-adapted to disturbances such as land clearing or aridity, and opportunistically use available nesting and food resources during much of the growing season. Their pioneer habits make them potentially invasive and able to fill biological gaps and loose niches. Individuals and companies that have achieved economic success as "pollination service providers" produce and sell adaptable or at least manageable bees, such as *Apis, Osmia, Centris, Xylocopa, Bombus* and *Megachile*. Such species forage on a wide range of plants and crops and are amenable to nesting in spaces expressly created for them. Most importantly, they appear to compensate for biodiversity loss in pollinator species by their sheer number and persistence, a fact that is still underappreciated.

Thus, it is true that, over the short term, pollination may be preserved at the expense of certain pollinators by substituting the rich diversity of pollinators in natural systems with certain "default pollinators" in agricultural systems. A conservationist views such novel pollinators as a mixed blessing, because they may displace the original pollinators. Many of those original pollinators, however, prefer their normal habitat and will be primarily found there, not in the agro-ecosystem. Although the most flexible species will remain accessory pollinators in agriculture and silviculture, more sensitive species will not be found nearby. The majority of pollinators, outside of particular reserves, will be a small subset of the original pollinators in any geographic area. These will be the pollinators that are managed, and will include the most adaptable and opportunistic species that rapidly colonize, reproduce and compensate for environmental stressors. In rare cases, they might also include species that can partly withstand biocides, fire, rising global temperature and tillage. The most obvious alternative scenarios in the agro-pollination network seem implausible: people are unlikely to abandon farming in favour of forest gardening within semi-natural communities; the continuation of widespread habitat poisoning until all wildlife, including pollinators, is driven to extinction seems inconceivable; and agronomists are unlikely to find the means of converting all important crops into self-pollinating or pollen-free varieties. Pollinators, some of them living in the wild and some of them under human care, will continue to form the basis for successful agriculture and silviculture. The only rational definition of success is sustainability, in its best sense.

(2)

1.1.1 **Tropical and temperate zones**

When the first edition of this book was completed, in 1993, several important facts were evident. The majority of plants cultivated in the tropics had not received much attention with respect to pollination requirements, breeding system or pollinators. Most cultivated plants and their fruit, seed and edible parts had therefore survived without applied human knowledge or management. This statement also applied - and still applies - reasonably to the temperate zone, in addition to the tropics and subtropics [25-31]. Moreover, although agrarian knowledge is formidable on fruit, nut, vegetable and seed crop management [32, 33], the paucity of concrete pollination data for tropical and temperate crops remains unchanged. Several new chapters here serve to demonstrate the range of important tests and variables that are needed to supply that badly needed, detailed information on pollination.

Because tropical crops grown in the highlands usually originate in the temperate zone, tropical pollination information already contains much that is relevant to temperate climates. At the same time, the tropical crops consumed in the temperate zone are much more diverse than temperate zone crops consumed in situ. It is therefore important to study and monitor them, especially in the global marketplace. One region and set of practices also informs others, which constitutes a significant advantage for the goal of sustainable pollination and sustainable pollinators worldwide.

In the tropics, the last 20 to 30 years mirror past dynamics in the temperate zone with at least one major difference. A basic ecological turning point is approaching: the tropics are quickly losing a significant proportion of natural habitats, including a large part of the world's species [34], and routinely depend upon this often underappreciated wildlife. Temperate latitudes have already passed through changes that led to the adoption of different, manageable pollinators, either to supplement or replace those in agricultural settings. As Krell (Chapter 10.5) points out, creating infrastructure for improving pollination is expensive and difficult, and the best alternative is to conserve pollinators while they still exist (Chapter 3.1). While the situation in the temperate zone is being managed – more or less – this is often not the case in the tropics as far as pollinators and pollination are concerned. Economies in these regions are, therefore, especially vulnerable to a pollinator decline [e.g. 35]. However, one distinct advantage in the tropics is the continuous breeding and activity of pollinators and plants. If this persists, and does not have to be artificially restored, there are many benefits, including potential recovery following negative impacts.

Somewhat contrary to the above scenario, there have been significant new advances in applied and managed pollination, at least at the descriptive level. Some of the most comprehensive and detailed efforts relate to tropical zones. For instance, a catalogue of Neotropical bees led to a broad summary of passion fruit management in Brazil, and also to an enumeration of common bees found at flowering crops in that diverse tropical country [99, 119, 120]. In the temperate zone, detailed manuals now supply the natural history enthusiast with the means to identify species of bumblebees [36]. The subjects of pollinator application, restoration and gardening to fulfil pollinator needs have been treated by recent introductory guides and manuals, both supported with international funding and by societies dedicated to pollinators and their conservation, and are generally available on the World Wide Web [e.g. 86, 107, 109, 119].

This revised edition of the original compendium, first published in 1995, examines the tropical and temperate zones together. It incorporates and updates several sections from the first edition and adds many new chapters and authors. These emphasize not only the present state of knowledge and its application but, in general, approaches and methods for *getting things done* in various farming environments. In order to introduce those subjects to a new generation of readers, the following paragraphs outline the general similarities and differences of tropical and temperate zones. Pollinators can be divided essentially into two groups: those dedicated to visiting flowers and those that make only occasional use of them. Bees, certain wasps and flies are the *only* animals that specialize in harvesting pollen, using its protein to make their offspring. These insects are indispensable for pollination. They remove pollen from the anthers, handle it and occasionally pass it on to a receptive stigma, but otherwise pollen is destined for brood, the earth or personal consumption by such dedicated flower visitors.

The tropics are distinguished not only by continuous growing seasons, and a potentially greater build-up of diseases or herbivores, but also by a much wider variety of general pollinators – primarily honey-making social bees with colonies active year round [17, 22, 37, 38]. Those bees are termed "general pollinators" because they may interact with a large proportion of the local flowers. More importantly, such bees recruit hundreds to thousands of colony members on the best available blooms. This results in distinctive behaviour with bees visiting flowers and leaving in a comparatively abrupt manner, particularly in large patches such as croplands. Once the blooms are over or if they have not satisfied the colony, the bees continue their search for more. Colonies can live for years and reproduce, visiting one flower species after another or many at the same time.

In the temperate zone, other bee groups and varied pollinating animals often seek a narrower variety of flowers. However, in both the temperate zone and among certain tropical habitats and species, the individual pollinator has a brief active season. During a favourable period at any point on the globe, a particular bee or other flower-visiting animal may reproduce and then disappear from view for around 48 weeks. Such varied pollinator schedules call for fundamental differences in management outlook and approach in croplands. The tropics and some subtropical areas are naturally endowed with bees that visit flowers throughout the year; however, their value as adequate or manageable pollinators, as shown in several chapters here, is only now being realized.

Among all the world's pollinators - including flies, wasps, bees, beetles, thrips, butterflies and moths, through bats, birds, marsupials and the odd ant, crickets, cockroaches, squirrels, lizards and molluscs - about half of tropical flowering plants depend on bees. This proportion rises in farms and wildlands of the temperate zone, where the majority of flowering plants are visited and pollinated by bees, birds and flies. When searching for crop pollinators with the aim of increasing their abundance – and believing that this will also help pollinate native flora – a fairly rigorous plan of study and experimentation is needed to provide evidence that such hopes are well founded. Although this area remains beyond the scope of the present publication, the tools needed to investigate the subject are presented here and have been updated since the original edition.

1.1.2 Pollinator backup and restoration

Although animals pollinate flowers everywhere, among crops the most widely employed pollinator is usually a single species of honey bee. This social animal provides a critical backup role in the pollinator realm. As a manageable bee that also produces marketable honey and wax, Apis mellifera has few counterparts in the pollinator world – most notably the tropical and subtropical "stingless honey bees", now increasingly utilized. Those honey-making animals are equally regarded as a basis for "productive conservation", perhaps because they have multiple uses and provide economic benefits. They may be good for sustaining a certain kind of agriculture, much as teak plantations prevent erosion or leguminous cover crops improve soil nitrogen, but whether they should constitute the principal basis for agricultural pollination is rightly questioned (see Chapter 3).

Although crops that require animal pollination do not provide the bulk of food for human consumption, their individual nutritional value is often higher [35, 39]. At the high end of crop value, biofuels and seed, fruit, nut and beverage crops increasingly demand bees and other pollinators, which must be managed to fulfil such demands [29, 40–45].

(4)

By diversifying the species that are put to work for those purposes, and by working to understand their biology, experts come closer to finding adequate insurance for both human needs and general conservation. Perhaps some time in the future, pollinators managed for crop production or invasive ones that have naturalized (e.g. megachilids, bumblebees or honey bees in the Americas, Australia, New Zealand and elsewhere) may provide a backup or even the sole pollination services for certain native wildland plants, as they now readily support a variety of invasive flora. The vast crop fields, if varied in their composition and managed in a "pollinator friendly" manner, may in turn help to restore some pollinators to their native habitat. The essential fact remains that a species in an assemblage is sustainable in the proper community, while all else is unsustainable without added input. This publication is an effort to define the parameters of that needed human input.

1.2 THE EXTENT OF PROGRESS TO DATE

1.2.1 An ecological overview

Fifty years ago, it was known that pollinators for agricultural plants can fail, just like the rains or a vernalization period, and that growers often "place all their eggs in one basket" – at least for a year or two [45]. Then, as now, small farmers in tropical zones cut and burn forest to sow crops in a cycle resembling "predatory farming" [46] – using up one set of resources and then passing to another, but at a small scale and with a rapid farm recovery period. However, more extensive land use by more people, and greater demands, leads to soil and land becoming increasingly depleted.

Less traditional and larger-scale styles of farming spread rapidly removing existing habitats and organisms, including pollinators, more or less completely and for relatively long periods. All such practices inevitably affect huge landscapes, but the tropics and the temperate zone also harbour substantial areas of natural vegetation and wildlife. These natural ecosystems nonetheless experience drought, flooding and a certain degree of regular, substantial fluctuation.

Figure 1.1 SCENES OF HUMANS, CULTIVATION AND POLLINATORS FROM AROUND THE GLOBE



Above left depicts a mating and nesting aggregation of the giant honey bee, *Apis dorsata*, in Asia, and a mating drone with queen flying nearby. Flies and stingless honey bees (meliponines) are shown below, working on the flowers of mango. Shaded coffee plantings, pollinated by diverse bees, are presented along with forest clearing and burning, traditional tillage and beekeeping with a hive of honeybees, and the chemical applications of herbicide and pesticide (by air) in paddy rice, next to a young plantation of African oil palm, pollinated by beetles and not requiring biocwide utilization (in the Neotropics, contrasted with Asia and Africa). Ripe fruit of mangosteen, mango, cashew and lychee are shown.

Source: Drawing and design by F. Gattesco and D.W. Roubik

Figure 1.2 WHAT THE BEES HAVE GIVEN US



Food is shown in the form of honey and pollen from both stingless honey bees (above right), with two worker bees in flight and a fecund, non-flying queen next to a few brood cells and honey pots, while the worker *Apis mellifera* (above left) flies near its comb and brood containing a few drones and queens. Food and beverage take the form of products of plants whose flowers bees forage from and deliver pollen to (below left), with a worker bumblebee cradled next to some coffee beans and leguminous seeds. Seeds for growing plants with multiple uses are also shown (bottom right), including forage for livestock (the "leafcutter" bee female shown at its nest, a managed pollinator for lucerne), biofuels (sunflower seeds), and squash and melon seeds.

Source: Drawing and design by F. Gattesco and D.W. Roubik

They are by no means stable, regardless of latitude or elevation, and their original pollinators and floral resources experience peaks and lows. Thus, an important contrast with agricultural areas is not only the presence of abundant native pollinators, including some that are managed, but an abundance suitable for pollination. That relative stability is certain to be a goal of management, rather than a given feature obtained merely by preserving pollinator reserves or management areas.

A curious "boom or bust" resource pattern also exists for flower visitors. Of particular relevance to the main subject of this publication, is the important role played by ENSO (El Niño-Southern Oscillation) events [59, 74] in heavily agricultural areas particularly in Southeast Asia, tropical America and Africa. An extensive flowering period occurs every few years, in which a large variety of woody plants flower concurrently, usually within a few months. Among mass flowering crops, and in those natural systems affected by the dry years of ENSO, pollinators are attracted in large numbers to resources that last only a short time. There, the pollinators are forced to adjust though a combination of food hoarding, diapause (hibernation) and dispersal (migration, especially the honey bee), when no such large resource blooms occur. In the temperate zone, in general, most pollinators are highly seasonal, and their adult activity matches that of preferred floral resources [106]. A brief active pollinator period in the drier regions often follows rain showers. In the moister regions, the emergence of adult insects that pollinate flowers coincides most often with a dry period. Thus, while agricultural ecosystems are challenging habitats for pollinators to persist within, they are not entirely different from the challenges of resource swings in natural environments, to which pollinators have always had to adjust. As discussed below, the threat of agricultural chemicals poses an entirely different kind of challenge, found only in human-created ecosystems.

1.2.2 Major shifts in pollination landscapes

The world is now experiencing a "sea change" in the pollination landscape, and must decide how to usher in the best alternatives to the original, natural communities. Two contemporary events, in addition to much publicized and debated pesticide use and habitat conversion, are having a strong global impact on pollinators and pollination. One is repeated introduction of Asiatic native honey bee pests (primarily Varroa, a large parasitic mite) westward, where they readily switch their host to the Western hive bee, *Apis mellifera*. In addition, these parasitoids attack that species in situ, within Asia, where the Western hive bee is often relatively defenceless (see Chapter 16). The other significant impact is Africanization of honey bees in the Neotropics. The ecology of this introduced bee species creates pervasive yet varied changes, and provides the first feral population of stinging honey bees in most of the Americas [22, 47–56, and the present publication]. Those bees are not amenable to crop pollination achieved by trucking (i.e. transporting over roadways) colonies in large numbers, because they are too dangerous. They can, however, be cultivated along with crops in a suitable setting, or their hives moved on a small scale.

Global agricultural intensification and the accompanying fungicide, herbicide, rodenticide, miticide, bacteriacide and insecticide (collectively called biocide or pesticide) treatments, plant growth regulators, fruit thinners, fertilizers and the ploughing of land, have had mostly predictable effects [46, 57-70]. When former pollinators are pushed out, other pollinators need to be brought in [69, 70]. In cases where those pollinators present problems or are not in abundant supply when needed, the cause and effect may be clear, but adequate solutions may be less obvious and seldom work out satisfactorily. Meanwhile, research and outreach continue to highlight important topical problems and needed additional research and management aimed at pollinators, as emphasized repeatedly in this publication. Pollinator wellbeing requires serious study and long-term commitment [16, 71-77, 101, 112], but more pollinators are needed now for agriculture.

In North America and Africa, in particular, pollinated fruit and vegetables are major crops both

in net value to growers and in total tonnage [78, see also Chapter 7.1]. Generally, however, wind-pollinated wheat, rice, sugarcane, corn, barley, millets and other grains or tree crops, such as walnuts, remain the major world crops. Dense plantings ensure that pollen is transferred among individuals by wind. As long as the farmer stays ahead of the pests, parasites, soil depletion, temperature extremes and moisture deficits that such croplands experience, pollination seems quaranteed. And yet, until herbicide-resistant pollination units are invented [1–3, 66], or pesticideresistant strains of honey bees are available (parasite and pathogen resistant varieties are known, see Chapter 16), no pollinator or pollination service should be taken for granted. While the attractive notion (for growers) persists that someday many crops will be pollination-free or parthenocarpic, or prompted to fruit uniformly by inexpensive commercial growth hormones or regulators, or that honey bees will resist whatever environmental or other obstacles are thrown at them, all such ideas ultimately assume that no new economic factors, weather patterns, pathogens or natural enemies will arise. Likewise, they assume that the flexibility and survival of pollinator populations, currently known simply as "health", will not decline from genetic or nutritional issues. Most biologists, growers and resource managers presumably know better. Furthermore, certain proven sustainable practices remain superior because of their economy, flexibility and durability. Pollinators are part of the sustainability equation, but which pollinators merit this status and which human inputs will maintain them is only now being established.

1.3 THE POLLINATION FACTOR IN CROPLANDS

1.3.1 Crop harvest constraints

What happens when numerous seeds and fruit are produced in a stand of animal-pollinated plants? Growers are generally content; however, the type of produce and its commercial sale largely determine final outcome and income. One result of a larger crop is that the fruit may be smaller and less attractive or, when

regional production reaches a peak, the market price declines. Another is that, in the following year, the perennial fruit and nut trees will bear less fruit and seeds, an outcome known as alternate bearing (see glossary). A third consequence, although rare, is that the plant will die (this occurs in peaches and cacao, among others, when nearly every flower sets a fruit); however this situation is impossible in all but artificial pollination experiments. Nevertheless, the observation underscores the relationship between short-term and long-term production from a cultivated plant. The critical guestion of which level of pollination is most beneficial for both short and long-term productivity often remains poorly understood, at least for perennial plants under cultivation.

1.3.2 The nature of agricultural sustainability

A major consideration in attaining sustainability concerns slow fruit and seed production.¹ Fruit growers have been known to drive a stake into their trees (causing stress) to gain more profit from a season's blooming, and are actively seeking possible solutions to perceived underproduction. Can production rates or success be augmented and is this a sustainable solution to production shortfall? More study can provide evidence of pollinator decline and pollination shortcoming, versus a limitation related to plant physiology or farming practice. However, in agricultural plots - in contrast to natural mixed habitats of diverse species - the *relatively* sustainable (i.e. multiyear) value of any one season must be carefully assessed. Where there are fewer and fewer pollinators, questions arise as to which kinds are still available, which existed previously, how the performance and consistency of either group might be rated, and what it costs to replace them. Those are by no means new themes (see Chapters 2.2 and 3.2), but they have been the subject of considerable study since the first edition of this book was published (see Further reading).

At the population level, almost no studies have been made on the abundance (versus diversity or species richness) of pollinators over three or more successive years. This is an important subject because pollinators and their resources naturally vary between years. Such variation may be cyclical and predictable, difficult to predict or may indicate certain plants "take a break" due to their biology after producing a relatively large fruit or seed crop. Some of the great climatic drivers of bee and flower population cycles occur sporadically, and in cycles of a few to several years or even decades. Of these, there also are very few studies, for example, of the general flowering phenomenon in Southeast Asia. Nonetheless, yearly crop yield management involves attempts to optimize flowering and final fruit production in a relatively stable system, at least in the development of a particular management scheme (see Chapters 4 and 6 in particular). If the few population studies are sorted into "relatively stable and natural" habitats, versus those that are "human-induced and probably unstable", there is little to allow for a statistical comparison. Yields may be subject to finetuning and rational planning, or they may be beyond human control. In truth, a pollinator deficit may be remedied with more careful cultivation or management of pollinators. Obtaining more produce from a plant, in the case of a perennial, also means that its life expectancy is possibly shortened [32, 33]. Plants are replaced at an appreciable cost, thus having a bumper crop one year may result in an economic deficit the next, or later when those plants require removal and replacement, or more care.

1.3.3 A taxonomic impediment for crops

Local crop pollination requirements and pollinator performance vary considerably, as highlighted in this compendium. One reason involves the differing needs of botanical cultivars. A recognized cultivar has a certified name, enabling farmers to buy its seeds with confidence. But not every cultivar of a given crop has the same breeding system or pollination requirements. Among mango and apple with their thousands of cultivars, for example, some depend entirely on flies for pollination while bees are responsible elsewhere,

and female flowers of certain cultivars produce fruit without pollination or pollen. Each of these is the same generic crop wherever it is grown, and has the same common and scientific name. However, in this case biology supersedes scientific nomenclature and necessitates a focus on the detailed knowledge and nomenclature of named cultivars. It is known that pollinator and pollination requirements differ among plants of the same genus or family. That this is sometimes true for individual populations within a given species should come as no surprise.

1.3.4 Crop pollination ecology

Pollen-free clonal crops are certainly used widely, along with many that self-pollinate within the flower (see Chapter 2.1 and Part V). Those apparently selfsufficient cultivars are developed by plant breeders, whenever possible, but so-called "hybrid vigour" remains a mainstay of many crops and their commercial seeds. Genetic inbreeding within any crop usually produces less and less adapted individuals. Because crops are biological entities, despite their modification and selective breeding, they need an adequate fund of genetic variation to adapt to challenges in their life and over generations. In addition, hybrid seeds cannot exist without cross-pollination, which is often impossible by wind or abiotic agent, or by agrochemical means. In the world's farms and plantations, aside from a few widely grown commercial species (banana, pistachio, seedless grape, date palm, oil palm, agave, olive, certain citrus, papaya), bees supply most of the necessary natural and managed pollination, and the means of producing abundant hybrid seeds via outcrossing - the movement of pollen between plants. In fact, many plants that do not necessarily need bees - those that self-pollinate - are nonetheless aided in their seed, fruit and fibre production when bee-pollinated or outcrossed. Field examples are given in the present book (e.g. Chapters 3 and 9.3) and additional outstanding examples include coffee and lettuce [54, 79]. Growers often appreciate this, and some have experimented and learn to make sure there are at least honey bees present. Even if inefficient by some standards, honey bees are almost never a waste of effort, unless better pollinators are

¹ Short-term pollinator deficits are addressed in several chapters of this publication (e.g. Chapter 3.1).

found and propagated for their contribution to yield and vigour [70].

Pollination service providers (PSPs) design management schemes for large farms in a variety of settings that have evolved at a steady and sometimes rapid pace (e.g. see Chapter 4). Outstanding success in greenhouse or glasshouse production of tomatoes among a few dozen crops - has made bumblebees star performers due to persistent study and management over the course of a century (Chapter 11). The alfalfa leafcutter bee, a lucerne pollinator, was imported to the Americas accidentally from Europe in the 1930s and later became the most intensely managed non-Apis bee in the world [41, 80]. Osmia, another megachilid bee known as a Mason bee – due to its plastering of nest cells with mud – is stored artificially in the resting or diapause stage during the cold season, then released en masse in extensive croplands during the spring bloom [19, 20, 41, 80, and Chapter 3.1]. Such benchmark events have been accompanied by the combined impetus of the Internet and World Wide Web, and the blossoming of detailed and original, comprehensive works on pollination, pollinators, the environment and food production over recent decades. Stingless bees, the foremost honey-making bees on the planet, are now receiving serious consideration as more than tropical curiosities [22, 81, 82 and Chapters 13-15]. In addition, international pollination initiatives and networks are now operational worldwide. New scientific journals are focusing on beekeeping in diverse settings, bees in general, applied pollination work, conservation, applied ecology, and the economics of crop and farming stability. The welfare of pollinators has finally been incorporated into the perception of human welfare.

However, it is not possible to be certain about the stability of pollinators. They are seldom under our control and often do not prefer or meet the needs of crops put before them. In at least two decades, one of the major pollinating species, *Apis mellifera*, has been markedly affected by a variety of stresses, yet they survive and maintain considerable diversity [83]. Recent information points to possible disease, primarily viral "spillover" from Western hive bees

(10)

- and also bumblebees kept by growers largely for greenhouse operations - to a few other bee species [84, 85 and Chapter 11]. No pandemic involving bees in general has ever been found.

The view that agricultural pollinators are livestock is being replaced with a more realistic view towards maintaining habitat quality for pollinator populations (Chapter 3 and Part II). In the long run this seems desirable. Recognizing the general level of ignorance regarding pollinator conservation or restoration, most experts stress the importance of conserving nature as a whole, and trust that this foresight, fraught with ignorance though it is, will allow nature and its processes to conserve pollinators and correct some of the problems.

Much of the modern scramble to retain bees in the environment is tied to their honey production, as well as agricultural advantages. This rationale is founded on basic economics, and not necessarily the requirements of forestry, agronomy, conservation or sustainability [86-90]. Such "productive conservation" or the application of pollinators to multiple needs and desires occurs in habitats that are no longer natural or fully intact. The concept of a mature and diverse ecosystem versus a more disturbed environment is of importance for this general theme, but seems poorly understood. For instance, a large part of the tropics is thought to be pristine, although this is not the case [90, 91]. When a natural patch of wildlife or vegetation is present, it is often located in an area that has already been used and altered by humans, even in the recent past. There are secondary forest species that persist despite disturbances such as land clearing, burning, fragmentation and local climate change. Most species alive today have in fact experienced drastic changes during their evolutionary and ecological history, the largest driven by repeated periods of glaciation over the past few million years. Glacial conditions in these remote times created drier and cooler habitats, while forests retreated and open habitat increased. During such periods the landscape was populated with different groups of organisms. Today, the search for new pollinators to be managed requires both honey production and pollination by

bees adapted to change and manipulation (Part IV). An ice-age analogue is now being created by human activity [34, 92] and pollinators tolerant of such a disturbance will gradually predominate. The wild bees that persist under these conditions, most of them solitary but some of them social with perennial colonies, are likely to be those adapted to edge or open habitats, where their nesting resources and food plants are concentrated. Some social bees including the highly social honey-making species that form longlived colonies will continue to hoard food or migrate between floral habitats, and thereby survive dearth periods. Agricultural lands, notwithstanding pollutants and pesticides, continually test and select for certain kinds of flower-visiting animals, largely by eliminating those that are ill adapted to abrupt or progressive habitat modification. The future has places for both colonial and other bees, and efforts to help them may occasionally prove decisive.

1.3.5 Prospects in pollination biology

Prominent worldwide habitat conditions include burgeoning human populations, not unlike human arrival in the Americas just 15 000 years ago. However, as the students of two decades in Central Amazonian experimental forest plots and elsewhere report, the present marks an unprecedented pace and scale of change [34, 89, 91]. Can biotic elements keep up and survive in the tropics and elsewhere? Will most native pollinators be stripped from the landscape by competition with invasive honey bees? Species that seem to be on the rise include Africanized honey bees, Apis cerana, A. dorsata, A. florea or A. indica, flies, small halictid bees, persistent populations of solitary and stingless honey bees, and long-range foragers such as Xylocopa, Centris, Amegilla and Bombus. Will flowering plants evolve self-pollination in response to pollinator loss or deficit? More importantly, is there any general restoration model available and can such restoration projects, which include pollinators, be cost-effective?

The tropics, particularly the Neotropics, are now repeating the temperate zone history of urbanization and retreat from smallholder agricultural plots and family farms. These abandoned lands may generate more native habitat – at a low successional stage – and eventually become biocide-free environments or be brought into large-scale development [92]. Conversely, traditional family farming is still the dominant practice in much of the tropics.² The world may "green up" a little as a result of land-use change, but an old-growth forest or natural prairie, even in relatively small areas, needs decades to centuries to form and perform its proper function. The concern is how to deal with the interim regarding the pollination of current crops.

Within secondary growth forest and other regenerating habitats, there is a good chance that more pollinator species may thrive, due to loss of their natural enemies after community simplification. Successional stages of natural communities seem to include a greater abundance of fewer pollinators, which thereby replace more species foraging and pollinating at lower rates, in the more advanced or complex communities. This scenario is now a factor in planning for pollination futures [89]. Certain generalists may replace specialists, to an extent, through their flexibility or evolutionary change.

Modelling pollination in natural habitats is a useful tool for realizing a sharper focus on crop and wildlife management, including pollinators and their resources [93, 94]. Concurrently, the practical experience of farmers who recognize the value and goal of pollination service provides abundant empirical data and insight presented in recent FAO publications (see the References and Chapter 7). Fortunately, such organizations motivate scientific extension work and promote cooperation across continents through a number of farsighted projects aligned with international pollinator initiatives.

Technicians and growers are currently more sensitized to the fact that pollination is just as important to their livelihoods as other kinds of farm management. Extension and outreach efforts confirm the concept and validity of pollination. As illustrated in the case studies presented in this publication,

² See www.fao.org/assets/infographics/FAO-Infographic-IYFF14-en.pdf

pollination is a broad theme with consistent and predictable features. Above all, if there is no provision for pollinators, then the management of farms or wildlands - in any real sense - is precarious and incomplete. Manuals or compilations such as this one can be used to inform and train those interested, who may, in turn, then present the facts to future farmers, pollination activists, professional pollination service providers, and officials or governments responsible for management and policy.

A noteworthy difference from the previous book, published in 1995, is that food, fuel and beverage crops are accorded greater emphasis, resulting in the removal of some content on timber, forage and medicinal cultivated plants. Because most plant names and a wealth of information are now easily accessible via the Internet, and the more credible sources follow international standards and norms, there seems little reason to repeat them here where a general online query will suffice. These are essential steps in an overall enterprise of providing information, crosschecking, and confirming trends and facts. Much is sure to change and will certainly improve. While the present scope of this compilation precludes discussion of wider themes, it reviews major advances in pollination biology, with some consideration of policy and management in the tropics, subtropics and the temperate zone. Commercial crops and certain techniques and tools are discussed in detail, along with general methods, experiments and theory. While this publication is not a husbandry manual for pollination service providers, or a set of quidelines for applications of chemical input to management questions, it does attempt to outline the practices and concerns of this vital human activity.

1.4 HOW TO USE THIS BOOK

The first part of the book reviews general issues, applied pollination, and makes suggestions or general recommendations on pollination for agriculture and conservation. More detailed information is then presented for particular crops, organized by geographic region and crop type. Pollination successes and challenges are identified and examined. Pollinator

management is given its own chapter, followed by a chapter on research techniques, a further look at theory and the identification of pollen – the materia prima of cultivated plants - from a practical point of view. As formal or written agreements seem essential for crop pollination and professional pollination service providers, a first annex presents a basic pollination contract, and a second presents crop pollen species descriptions and documents the requisite voucher material and common and scientific names for pollen of cultivated plants depicted here for microscopic, taxonomic reference and pollinator study (Annex 2).

A number of relatively new and pertinent resources are available online. For example, Canada provides concise information for many animal pollinated crops at http://pollinator.ca/canpolin/ - a model that will hopefully motivate further work in this field.³ The World Wide Web has truly permitted entry to an era of rapid enlightenment. It is of particular value for research, for example, with regard to establishing the scientific names of living things, and the publications and laboratory websites of authors. Caution should be exercised, however, when consulting "grey" literature and consulting websites offering services free of charge. Random searches for specific answers to crop cultivation or pollination needs are not encouraged. While these may be forthcoming or are sometimes available, the real tests and implementation take time, and are not assisted by quick or superficial answers. That biologists and other professionals will transform the current "Anthropocene" age into the needed "Biologicene", based on field tests and science, is a worthy goal, encapsulated in the following message: "When he [or she] enters a forest or meadow he [she] sees not merely what is there, but what is happening there" (Paul B. Sears, "Deserts on the March", 1935).

REFERENCES

- [1]
- [2] winterization before proceeding to colony collapse disorder. Bulletin of Insectology, 67: 125-130.
- [3] 4598.2012.00196.x.
- Free, J.B. 1993. Insect pollination of crops (2nd edn). London, Academic Press. [4]
- [5] 12. doi: 10.1100/2012/375631.
- [6] production of canola (Crucifera: Brassicaceae). Journal of Economic Entomology, 98: 367–372.
- [7]
- Berenbaum, M.R. 1995. Bugs in the system. New York, USA, Basic Books. [8]
- [9] Buchmann, S.L. & Nabhan, G.P. 1995. Forgotten pollinators. Washington, DC, Island Press.
- Linnean Society Symposium Series, No. 18. London, Academic Press.
- 12:8-17.
- yield? Annals of Botany, 88: 165-172.
- nature. Brasília, Ministry of Environment.
- OR, USA, Xerces Society.
- Jeremy P. Tarcher/Penguin.
- [16] plants in Britain and the Netherlands. Science, 313: 351-354.
- [17] Michener, C.D. 2007. The bees of the world (2nd edn). Baltimore, MD, USA, Johns Hopkins Press.
- Bloomsbury.
- [19] Harper Collins.
- and conservationists. SARE Handbook 11. Ithaca, NY, USA: NRAES & College Park, MD, USA, SARE.
- [21] Cane, J.H. 2011. Meeting wild bees' needs on Western US rangelands. Rangelands, 33: 27–32.

Henry, M., Beguin, M., Requier, F., Rollin, O., Odoux, J.F., Aupinel, P., Aptel, J., Tchamitchian, S. & Decourtye, A. 2012. A common pesticide decreases foraging success and survival in honey bees. Science, 336: 348–350.

Lu, C., Warchol, K.M. & Callahan, R.A. 2014. Sub-lethal exposure to neonicotinoids impaired honey bees

Pleasants, J.M. & Oberhauser, K.S. 2012. Milkweed loss in agricultural fields because of herbicide use: effect on the monarch butterfly population. Insect Conservation and Diversity, 6(2): 135–144. doi: 10.1111/j.1752-

Spinardi, A. & Bassi, D. 2012. Olive fertility as affected by cross-pollination and boron. Scientific World Journal,

Sabbahi, R., de Oliveira, D. & Marceau, J. 2005. Influence of honey bee (Hymenoptera: Apidae) density on the

Villanueva, R-G., Echazarreta, G-C., Roubik, D.W. & Moquel-Ordoñez, B. 2014. Transgenic soybean pollen (*Glycine* max L.) in honey from the Yucatán peninsula, Mexico. Scientific Reports, 4, 4022. doi: 10.1038/srep04022.

[10] Matheson, A., Buchmann, S.L., O'Toole, C., Westrich P. & Williams, I.H., eds. 1996. The conservation of bees.

[11] Allen-Wardell, G., Bernhardt, P., Bitner, R., Búrguez, A., Buchmann, S. & Cane, J. 1998. The potential consequences of pollinator declines on the conservation of biodiversity and stability of food crop yields. *Conservation Biology*,

[12] Richards A.J. 2001. Does low biodiversity resulting from modern agricultural practice affect crop pollination and

[13] Kevan, P.G. & Imperatriz-Fonseca, V.L., eds. 2002. Pollinating bees: the conservation link between agriculture and

[14] Sheppard, M., Buchmann, S.L., Vaughn, M. & Hoffman Black, S. 2003. Pollinator conservation handbook. Portland,

[15] Whynott, D. 2004. Following the bloom: across America with the migratory beekeepers (2nd edn). New York, USA,

Beismeijer, J.C., Roberts, S.P.M., Reemer, M., Ohlemuller, R., Edwards, M., Peeters, T., Schaffers, A.P., Potts, S.G., Kleukers, R., Thomas, C.D., Settele, J. & Kunin, W.E. 2006. Parallel declines in pollinators and insect pollinated

[18] Jacobsen, R. 2008. Fruitless fall: the collapse of the honey bee and the coming agricultural crisis. New York, USA,

Packer, L. 2010. Keeping the bees: why all bees are at risk and what we can do to save them. Toronto, Canada,

[20] Mader, E., Spivak, M.L. & Evans, E. 2010. Managing alternative pollinators: a handbook for beekeepers, growers,

Another promising example is a pollination report for passion fruit produced at the national level: www.iea.usp. br/pesquisa/grupos/servecossistemas/publicacoes/manejodos-polinizadores-e-polinizacao-de-flores-do-maracujazeiro (in Portuguese).

(14)

- [22] Imperatriz-Fonseca, V.L., Lange Canhos, D.A., Araujo Alvex, D. & Mauro Saraiva, A., eds. 2012. Polinizadores no Brasil: contribuição e perspectivas para a biodiversidade, uso sustentável, conservação e serviços ambientais [Pollinators in Brazil: contribution and perspectives for biodiversity, sustainable use, conservation and environmental services]. São Paulo, Brazil, Editora da Universidade de São Paulo.
- [23] O'Toole, C. 2013. Bees: a natural history. Brooklyn, NY, USA, Firefly Books.
- [24] Conrad, R. 2013. Natural beekeeping: organic approaches to modern beekeeping (2nd edn). White River Junction, VT, USA, Chelsea Green Publishing.
- Velthuis, H.H.W. 2002. The historical background of the domestication of the bumble-bee Bombus terrestris and [25] its introduction in agriculture. In P.G. Kevan & V.L. Imperatriz-Fonseca, eds. Pollinating bees: the conservation link between agriculture and nature, pp. 142–149. Brasília, Ministry of Environment.
- Donaldson, J.S. 2002. Pollination in agricultural landscapes, a South African perspective. In P.G. Kevan & [26] V.L. Imperatriz-Fonseca, eds. Pollinating bees: the conservation link between agriculture and nature, pp. 97–104. Brasília, Ministry of Environment.
- [27] Williams, I.H. 2002. Insect pollination and crop production: a European perspective. In P.G. Kevan & V.L. Imperatriz-Fonseca, eds. Pollinating bees: the conservation link between agriculture and nature, pp. 36-41. Brasília, Ministry of Environment.
- [28] Herzon, I. & Mikk, M. 2007. Farmers' perceptions of biodiversity and their willingness to enhance it through agri-environment schemes: a comparative study form Estonia and Finland. Journal of Nature Conservancy, 15: 10-25.
- [29] Aizen, M.A. & Harder, L.D. 2009. The global stock of domesticated honey bees is growing slower than agricultural demand for pollination. *Current Biology*, 19: 1–4.
- [30] Gallai, N., Salles, J.M., Settele, J. & Vassière, B.E. 2009. Economic valuation of the vulnerability of world agriculture confronted with pollinator decline. *Ecological Entomology*, 68: 810–821.
- [31] Ollerton, J., Winfree, R. & Tarrant, S. 2011. How many flowering plants are pollinated by animals? Oikos, 120: 321-326.
- [32] Hartmann, H.T., Kofranek, A.M., Rubatzky, V.E. & Flocker, W.J. 1988. Plant science: growth, development, and utilization of cultivated plants (2nd edn). Englewood Cliffs, NJ, USA, Prentice Hall Career & Technology.
- [33] Dixon, G.R. & Aldous, D.E., eds. 2014. Horticulture: plants for people and places, Vols 1–3. Dordrecht, Netherlands, Springer Science & Business Media.
- [34] Pimm, S.I., Jenkins, C.N., Abell, R., Brooks, T.M., Gittleman, J.L., Joppa, L.N., Raven, P.H., Roberts, C.M & Sexton, J.O. 2014. The biodiversity of species and their rates of extinction, distribution, and protection. Science, 344. doi: 10.1126/science.1246752.
- [35] Ashworth, L., Quesada, M., Casas, A., Aguilar, R. & Oyama, K. 2009. Pollinator-dependent food production in Mexico. Biological Conservation, 142: 1050-1057.
- [36] Williams, P., Thorp, R., Richardson, L. & Colla, S. 2014. Bumble bees of North America: an identification guide. Princeton, NJ, USA, Princeton University Press.
- [37] Roubik, D.W. 1989. Ecology and natural history of tropical bees. New York, USA, Cambridge University Press.
- [38] Roubik, D.W. 2012. Ecology and social organization of bees. Wiley eLS (online). doi: 10.1002/9780470015902. a0023596.
- [39] Eilers, E.J., Kremen, C., Greenleaf, S., Garber, A.K. & Klein, A.M. 2011. Contribution of pollinator-mediated crops to nutrients in the human food supply. PLoS One, 56: e21363.
- Klein, A.M., Vassière, B.E., Cane, J.H., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Cunningham, S.A., Kremen, C. & Tscharntke, T. 2007. [40] Importance of pollinators in changing landscapes for world crops. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B, 274: 303-313.

- [41] James, R. & Pitts-Singer, T., eds. 2011. Bee pollination in agricultural ecosystems. Oxford, UK, Oxford University Press.
- benefit. PLoS One, 7: e33954.
- reciprocal benefits. American Journal of Agricultural Economics, 94: 956–977.
- [44] Europe. PLoS One, 9: e82996.
- [46] Sears, P.B. 1935. *Deserts on the march*. Norman, OK, USA, University of Oklahoma Press.
- & I.H. Williams, eds. The conservation of bees, pp. 173–182. London, Academic Press.
- [49] Roubik, D.W. 1998. The killer bee saga. *Subtropical Fruit News*, 6: 13–14.
- honey bees: evidence of an invasive mutualism. *Ecological Applications*, 11: 1870–1883.
- and after honey bee invasion. *Population Ecology*, 43: 53–62.
- Environment.
- successful biological invasion. Annual Review of Entomology, 49: 351–376.
- [54] Roubik, D.W. 2002. The value of bees to the coffee harvest. *Nature*, 417: 708.
- bees]. Acta Biologica Colombiana, 14: 115-124.
- resource and trap nest analysis. Biological Journal of the Linnean Society, 98: 152–160.
- Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 74: 373–393.
- Conservation Biology, 19: 195–202.
- [60] Kremen, C., Williams, N.M., Aizen, M.A., Gemmill-Herren, B., LeBuhn, G., Minckley, R., Packer, L., Potts, S.G.,

[42] Lautenbach, S., Seppelt, R., Liebscher, J. & Dorman, C.F. 2012. Spatial and temporal trends of globlal pollination

[43] Rucker, R.R., Thurman, W.H. & Burgett, D.M. 2012. Honeybee pollination markets and the internalization of

Breeze, T.D., Vaissière, B.E., Bommarco, R., Petanidou, T., Seraphides, N., Kozák, L., Scheper, J., Biesmeijer, J.C., Kleijn, D., Gyldenkærne, S., Moretti, M., Holzschuh, A., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Stout, J.C., Pärtel, M., Zobel, M. & Potts, S.G. 2014. Agricultural policies exacerbate honeybee pollination service supply-demand mismatches across

[45] Bohart, G.E. 1967. Management of wild bees. In *Beekeeping in the United States*, Agriculture Handbook No. 335, pp. 109–118. Washington, DC, United States Department of Agriculture, Agricultural Research Service.

[47] Roubik, D.W. 1996. African honey bees as exotic pollinators in French Guiana. In A. Matheson, S.L. Buchmann, C. O'Toole, P. Westrich & I.H. Williams, eds. The conservation of bees, pp. 173–182. London, Academic Press.

[48] Roubik, D.W. 1996. Measuring the meaning of honey bees. In A. Matheson, S.L. Buchmann, C. O'Toole, P. Westrich

[50] Barthell, J.F., Randall, J.M., Thorp, R.W. & Wenner, A.M. 2001. Promotion of seed set in yellow star-thistle by

[51] Roubik, D.W. & Wolda, H. 2001. Do competing honey bees matter? Dynamics and abundance of native bees before

[52] Roubik, D.W. 2002. Feral African bees augment Neotropical coffee yield. In P.G. Kevan & V.L. Imperatriz-Fonseca, eds. Pollinating bees: the conservation link between agriculture and nature, pp. 218-228. Brasília, Ministry of

[53] Schneider, S.S., DeGrandi-Hoffman, G. & Smith, D.R. 2004. The African honey bee: factors contributing to a

[55] Roubik, D.W. 2009. Ecological impact on native bees by the invasive Africanized honey bee. Impacto ecológico de la abeja de miel africanizada sobre las abejas nativas [Ecological impact of the African honey bee on native

[56] Roubik, D.W. & Villanueva, R-G. 2009. Invasive Africanized honey bee impact on native solitary bees: a pollen

[57] Kevan, P.G. 1999. Pollinators as bioindicators of the state of the environment: species activity and diversity.

[58] Packer, L., Zayed, A., Grixti, J.D., Ruz, L., Owen, R.E., Vivallo, F. & Toro, H. 2005. Conservation genetics of potentially endangered mutualisms: reduced levels of genetic variation in specialist versus generalist bees.

[59] Cane, J.H., Minckley, R., Roulston, T., Kervin, L.J. & Williams, N.M. 2006. Complex responses within a desert bee quild (Hymenoptera: Apiformes) to urban habitat fragmentation. *Ecological Applications*, 16: 632–644.

Roulston, T., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Vazquez, D.P., Winfree, R., Adams, L., Crone, E.E., Greenleaf, S., Keitt, T.H., Klein, A-M., Regetz, J. & Ricketts, T.H. 2007. Pollination and other ecosystem services produced by mobile organisms: a conceptual framework for the effects of land-use change. Ecology Letters, 10: 299-314.

- [61] Rader, R., Howlett, B.G., Cunningham, S.A., Westcott, D.A., Newstrom-Lloyd, L.E., Walker. M.K., Teulon, D.A.J. & Edwards, W. 2009. Alternative pollinator taxa are equally efficient but not as effective as the honeybee in a mass flowering crop. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 46: 1080–1087.
- [62] Potts, S.G, Biesmeijer, J.C., Kremen, C., Neumann, P., Schweiger, O. & Kunin, W.E. 2010. Global pollinator declines; trends, impacts and drivers. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 25: 345–353.
- [63] Winfree, R., Aguilar, R., Vazquez, D.P., LeBuhn, G. & Aizen, M. 2010. A meta-analysis of bees' responses to anthropogenic disturbance. *Ecology*, 90: 2068–2076.
- [64] Williams, N.M., Crone, E.E., Roulston, T.H., Minckley, R.L., Packer, L. & Potts, S.G. 2010. Ecological and life-history traits predict bee species responses to environmental disturbances. *Biological Conservation*, 2010: 2280–2291.
- [65] Roulston, T.H. & Goodell, K. 2010. The role of resources and risks in regulating wild bee populations. *Annual Review of Entomology*, 56: 296–312.
- [66] Brittain, C.A., Vighi, M., Bommarco, R., Settele, J. & Potts, S.G. 2010. Impacts of a pesticide on pollinator species richness at different spatial scales. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, 11: 106–115.
- [67] Winfree, R., Bartomeus, I. & Cariveau, D.P. 2011. Native pollinators in anthropogenic habitats. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution and Systematics*, 42: 1–22.
- [68] Pettis, J.S., vanEngelsdorp, D., Johnson, J. & Dively, G. 2012. Pesticide exposure in honey bees results in increased levels of the gut pathogen *Nosema*. *Naturwissenshcaften*, 99: 153–158.
- [69] Caravalheiro, L.G., Kunin, W.G., Keil, P., Aguirre-Guttierez, J., Ellis, W.E., Fox, R., Groom, A., Hennekens, S., Van Landuyt, W., Maes, D., Van de Meutter, F., Michez, D., Rasmont, P., Ode, B., Potts, S.G., Reemer, M., Masson Roberts, S.P., Schaminée, J., WasllisDeVries, M.F. & Biesmeijer, J.C. 2013. Species richness declines and biotic homogenization have slowed down for NW-European pollinators and plants. *Ecology Letters*, 16: 870–878.
- [70] Aebi, A., Vaissière, B.E., vanEngelsdorp, D., Delaplane, K., Roubik, D.W. & Neumann, P. 2011. Back to the future: *Apis* versus non-*Apis* pollination: a response to Ollerton, et al. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 27: 142–143.
- [71] Roubik, D.W. 2000. Ups and downs in pollinator populations: when is there a decline? *Conservation Ecology*, 5(1): 2 (available at consecol.org/vol5/iss1/art2).
- [72] Marlin, J.C. & Laberge, W.E. 2001. The native bee fauna of Carlinville, Illinois, revisited after 75 years: a case for persistence. *Conservation Ecology*, 5: 87–89.
- [73] Frankie, G.W., Vinson, S.B., Thorp, R.W., Rizzardi, M.A., Tomkins, M. & Newstrom-Lloyd, L.E. 2002. Monitoring: an essential tool in bee ecology and conservation. In P.G. Kevan & V.L. Imperatriz-Fonseca, eds. *Pollinating bees:* the conservation link between agriculture and nature, pp. 151–162. Brasília, Ministry of Environment.
- [74] Roubik, D.W. 2005. Large processes with small targets: rarity and pollination in rain forests. In D.W. Roubik, S. Sakai & A. Hamid Karim, eds. *Pollination ecology and the rain forest: Sarawak studies*, pp. 1–12. New York, USA, Springer-Verlag Science & Business Media.
- [75] Cameron, S.A., Lozier, J.D., Strange, J.P., Koch, J.B., Cordes, Nils, Solter, L.F. & Griswold, T.L. 2011. Patterns of widespread decline in North American bumble bees. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, USA*, 108: 662–667.
- [76] Bartomeus, I, Ascher, J.A., Gibbs, J., Danforth, B.N., Wagner, D.L., Hedtke, S.M. & Winfree, R. 2013. Historical changes in northeastern US bee pollinators related to shared ecological traits. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, USA*, 110: 4656–4660.
- [77] LeBuhn, G., Droege, S., Connor, E.F., Gemmill-Herren, B., Potts, S.G., Minckley, R.L., Griswold, T., Jean, R., Kula, E., Roubik, D.W., Cane, J., Wright, K.W., Frankie, G. & Parker, F. 2013. Detecting insect pollinator declines on regional and global scales. *Conservation Biology*, 27: 1–13.
- [78] FAO. FAOSTAT. (dataset). Accessed June 2014.

(16)

- [79] Verma, L.R. & Partap, U. 1993. *The Asian hive bee,* Apis cerana, *as a pollinator in vegetable seed production*. Kathmandu, International Centre for Integrated Mountain Development.
- [80] Pitts-Singer, T. & Cane, J.H. 2011. The alfalfa leafcutting bee, *Megachile rotundata*: the world's most intensively managed solitary bee. *Annual Review of Entomology*, 56: 221–237.
- [81] Vit, P., Pedro, S.R.M. & Roubik, D.W., eds. 2013. Pot-honey: a legacy of stingless bees. New York, USA, Springer Business & Media.
- [82] Vit, P. & Roubik, D.W., eds. 2013. Stingless bees produce honey and pollen in cerumen pots. Mérida, Venezuela, SABER-ULA, Universidad de Los Andes (available at www.saber.ula.ve/handle/123456789/35292).
- [83] Walberg, A., Han, F., Wellhagen, G., Dahle, B., Kawata, M., Haddad, N., Simões, Z.L.P., Allsopp, M.H., Kandemir, I., De la Rúa, P., Pirk, C.W. & Webster, M.T. 2014. A worldwide survey of genome sequence variation provides insight into the evolutionary history of the honeybee *Apis mellifera*. *Nature Genetics*. doi:10.1038/ng.3077.
- [84] Graystock, P., Yates, K., Evison, S.E.F., Darvill, B., Goulson, D. & Hughes, W.O.H. 2013. The Trojan hives: pollinator pathogens, imported and distributed in bumblebee colonies. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 50: 1207–1215.
- [85] Furst, M.A., McMahon, D.P., Osborne, J.L., Paxton, R.J. & Brown, M.J.F. 2014. Disease associations between honeybees and bumblebees as a threat to wild pollinators. *Nature*, 506: 364–366. doi: 10.1038/nature12977.
- [86] Bradbear, N. 2009. Bees and their role in forest livelihoods: a guide to the services provided by bees and the sustainable harvesting, processing and marketing of their products. Non-Wood Forest Products, No. 18. Rome, FAO.
- [87] Holzschuh, A., Dormann, C.F., Tscharntke, T. & Steffan-Dewenter, I. 2011. Expansion of mass-flowering crops leads to transient pollination dilution and reduced wild plant pollination. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B*, 278: 3444–3451.
- [88] Martins, D.J. 2014. *Our friends the pollinators. A handbook of pollinator diversity and conservation in East Africa.* Nairobi, Nature Kenya.
- [89] Roubik, D.W. & Gemmill-Herren, B. 2016. Developing pollination management plans across agricultural landscapes: quo vadis, sustainable crop pollination? In B. Gemmill-Herren, ed. *Pollination services to* agriculture: sustaining and enhancing a key ecosystem service, pp. 131–152. London and New York, Earthscan/ Routledge.
- [90] Heckenberger, M.J., Russell, J.C., Toney, J.R. & Schmidt, M.J. 2007. The legacy of cultural landscapes in the Brazilian Amazon: implications for biodiversity. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society*, B. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2006.1979
- [91] Bierregaard, R. O. Jr., Gascon, C., Lovejoy, T.E. & Mesquita, C.G., eds. 2001. *Lessons from Amazonia: the ecology and conservation of a fragmented forest*. New Haven, CT, USA & London, Yale University Press.
- [92] Laurance, W.F. & Wright, S.J. 2009. New insights into the tropical biodiversity crisis. *Conservation Biology*, 23: 1382–1385. doi: 10.111/j.1523–1739.2009.01339.
- [93] Degen, B. & Roubik, D.W. 2004. Effects of animal pollination on pollen dispersal, selfing, and effective population size of tropical trees: a simulation study. *Biotropica*, 36: 165–179.
- [94] Devillers, J., ed. 2014. In silico bees. Boca Raton, FL, USA, CRC Press.

FURTHER READING

(18)

- [95] Nabhan, G.P. 1989. Enduring seeds: Native American agriculture and wild plant conservation. Tucson, AZ, USA, University of Arizona Press.
- Morandin, L.A. & Winston, M.L. 2006. Pollinators provide economic incentive to preserve natural land in [96] agroecosystems. Agriculture Ecosystem Management, 116: 289-292.
- Waser, N.M. & Ollerton, J., eds. 2006. Plant-pollinator interactions: from specialization to generalization. [97] Chicago, IL, USA, University of Chicago Press.
- [98] Williams, N.M. & Kremen, C. 2007. Resource distributions among habitats determine solitary bee offspring production in a mosaic landscape. *Ecologica Applicata*, 17: 910–921.
- [99] Moure, J.S., Urban, D. & Melo, G.A.R., eds. 2007. Catalogue of bees (Hymenoptera, Apoidea) in the Neotropical region. Curitiba, Brazil, Sociedade Brasileira de Entomologia.
- [100] Chacoff, N.P., Aizen, M.A. & Aschero, V. 2008. Proximity to forest edge does not affect crop production despite pollen limitation. Proceedings of the Royal Society B, 275: 907–913.
- [101] Goulson, D., Lye, G.C. & Darvill, B. 2008. Decline and conservation of bumble bees. Annual Review of Entomology, 53: 191-208.
- [102] Paxton, R.J., Brown, M.J.F. & Murray, T.E., eds. 2009. Special issue on bee conservation. Apidologie, 40: 193-418.
- [103] Willmer, P. 2011. Pollination and floral ecology. Princeton, NJ, USA, Princeton University Press.
- [104] Anderson, K.E., Sheehan, T.H., Eckholm, B.J., Mott, B.M. & Degrandi-Hoffmann, G. 2011. An emerging paradigm of colony health: microbial balance of the honey bee and hive (Apis mellifera). Insectes Sociaux, 58: 431-444.
- [105] Mayer, C., Adler, L., Armbruster, W.S., Dafni, A., Eardley, C., Huang, S-Q., Kevan, P.G., Ollerton, J., Packer, L., Ssymank, A., Stout, J.C. & Potts, S. 2011. Pollination ecology in the 21st century: key questions for future research. Journal of Pollination Ecology, 3: 8–23.
- [106] Bartomeus, I., Ascher, J.S., Wagner, D., Danforth, B.N., Colla, S., Kornbluth, S. & Winfree, R. 2011. Climateassociated phenological advances in bee pollinators and bee-pollinated plants. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, USA, 108: 20645–20649.
- [107] Mader, E., Sherherd, M., Vaughan, M., Hoffman Black, S. & LeBuhn, G. 2011. Attracting native pollinators. Protecting North America's bees and butterflies. North Adams, MA, USA, Storey Publishing.
- [108] Ackerman, J.D. & Roubik, D.W. 2012. Can extinction risk help explain plant-pollinator specificity among euglossine bee pollinated plants? Oikos, 121: 1821-1827.
- [109] Delaplane, K.S., Daq, A., Danka, R.G., Freitas, B.M., Garibaldi, L.A., Goodwin, R.M. & Hormanza, J.I. 2013. Standard methods for pollination research with Apis mellifera. Journal of Apicultural Research, 52(4). doi: 10.3896/IBRA.1.52.4.12.
- [110] Pisanty, G., Klein, M.A. & Mandelik, Y. 2013. Do wild bees complement honeybee pollination of confection sunflowers in Israel? Apidologie. doi: 10.1007/s13592-013-0242-5.
- [111] Fründ, J., Dorman, C.F., Holzschuh, A. & Tscharntke, T. 2013. Bee diversity effects on pollination depend on functional complementarity and niche shifts. *Ecology*, 94: 2042–2054.
- [112] Cane, J.H., Kervin, L.J. & Minckley, R. 2013. Sensitivity of systematic net sampling for detecting shifting patterns of incidence and abundance in a floral guild of bees at Larrea tridentatea. Journal of the Kansas Entomological Society, 86: 171–180.

- [113] Mao, W., Schuler, M.A & Berenbaum, M.R. 2013. Honey constituents up-regulate detoxification and immunity 8842-8846.
- in agroecosystems. Ecology Letters, 16: 584-599.
- National Academy of Sciences, USA, 110: 8387–8392.
- [117] Martins, D.J. 2013. People, plants and pollinators: uniting conservation, food security, and sustainable tropics, pp. 232–238. New York, USA, John Wiley & Sons.
- [118] Roubik, D.W. (ed.). 2014. Pollinator safety in agriculture. Rome, FAO.
- [119] da Silva, C.I., Marchi, P., Aleixo, K.P., Nunes-Silva, B., Freitas, B.M., Garófalo, C.A., Imperatriz-Fonseca, V.L., of Environment.
- and the Ministry of the Environment.
- native species. Ecology, 95: 2033–2039.
- 532-540. doi: 10.1111/1744-7917.12136.
- org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15)61085-6).
- [124] Garibaldi, L.A., Carvalheiro, L.G., Vaissière, B.E., Gemmill-Herren, B., Hupólito, J., Freitas, B.M., Ngo, H.T.,

genes in the Western honey bee Apis mellifera. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, USA, 110:

[114] Kennedy, C.M., Lonsdorf, E., Neel, M.C., Williams, N.M., Ricketts, T.H., Winfree, R., Bommarco, R., Brittain, C., Burley, A.L., Cariveau, D., Carvalheiro, L.G., Chacoff. N.P., Cunningham, S.A., Danforth, B.N., Dudenhöffer, J-H., Elle, E., Gaines, H.R., Garibaldi, L.A., Gratton, C., Holzschuh, A., Isaacs, R., Javorek, S.K., Jha, S., Klein, A.M., Krewenka, K., Mandelik, Y., Mayfield, M.M., Morandin, L., Neame, L.A., Otiene, M., Park, M., Potts, S.G., Rundlöf, M., Saez, A., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Taki, H., Viana, B.F., Westphal, C., Wilson, J.K., Greenleaf, S.S. & Kremen, C. 2013. A global quantitative synthesis of local and landscape effects on wild bee populations

[115] Boreux, V., Kushalappa, C.G., Vaast, P. & Ghazoul, J. 2013. Interactive effects among ecosystem services and management practices on crop production: pollination in coffee agroforestry systems. Proceedings of the

[116] Brittain, C., Williams, N., Kremen, C. & Klein, A.M. 2013. Synergistic effects of non-Apis bees and honey bees for pollination services. Proceedings of the Royal Society B, 280: 20122767. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2012.276.

agriculture in East Africa. In N. Sodhi, L. Gibson & P.H. Raven, eds. Conservation biology: voices from the

Alves Macedo de Oliveira, P.E. & Alves-dos-Santos, I. 2014. Manejo dos polinizadores e polinização de flores do Maracujazeiro. São Paulo, Brazil, Institute of Advanced Studies of the University of São Paulo and Ministry

[120] da Silva, C.I., Aleixo, K.P., Nunes-Silva, B., Freitas, B.M. & Imperatriz-Fonseca, V.L. 2014. Guia ilustrado de abelhas polinizadoras no Brasil. São Paulo, Brazil, Institute of Advanced Studies of the University of São Paulo

[121] Resasco, J., Haddad, N.M., Orrock, J.L., Shoemaker, D-W., Brudvig, L.A., Damschen, E.I., Tewksbury, J.J. & Levey, D.J. 2014. Landscape corridors can increase invasion by an exotic species and reduce diversity of

[122] Groom, S.V.C., Tuiwana, M.V., Stevens, M.I. & Schwarz, M.P. 2014. Recent introduction of an allodapine bee into Fiji: A new model system for understanding biological invasions by pollinators. Insect Science, 22(4):

[123] Smith, M.R., Singh, G.M., Mazaffarian, D. & Myers, S.S. 2015. Effects of decreases of animal pollinators on human nutrition and global health: a modelling analysis. Lancet, 386: 1964-1972 (available at http://dx.doi.

Azzu, N., Sáez, A., Åström, J., An, J., Blochtein, B., Buchori, D., Chamorro García, F.J., Oliveira da Silva, F., Devkota, K., de Fátima Ribeiro, M., Freitas, L., Gaglianone, M.C., Goss, M., Irshad, M., Kasina, M., Pacheco Filho, A.J.S., Piedade Kiill, L.H., Kwapong, P., Nates Parra, G., Pires, C., Pires, V., Rawal, R.S., Rizali, A., Saraiva, A.M., Veldtman, R., Viana, B.F., Witter, S. & Zhang, H. 2016. Mutually beneficial pollinator diversity and crop yield outcomes in small and large farms. Science, 351: 388-391. doi: 10.1126/science.aac7287



photo to be discussed/selected

Chapter 2 **POLLINATION, POLLINATORS AND POLLINATION MODES: ECOLOGICAL AND ECONOMIC IMPORTANCE**

2.1 POLLINATION: A GENERAL OVERVIEW R.C. Sihaq

Angiosperms are credited with the most beautiful gift of nature – they have flowers. The latter, though scientifically of reproductive relevance, have much greater significance in the ecosystem and for human society. As Richards remarks (1987, p. 66):

An outstanding feature of Angiosperms is the amazing diversity in forms and colour that has been adopted by the inflorescence, sufficient to inspire great art, fuel a major industry and serve as a solace for suffering mankind. Yet the flower is merely a sex organ, and never has any function except to promote reproduction by seed, usually sexually. The beautiful, weird, sinister, astounding forms that flowers have acquired are strictly pragmatic, and have encouraged the ecological diversification, and dominance, of the flowering plants.

This quote underlines the ecological importance of flowers.⁴ If the authentic paleontological and present ethological records can prove (and they

(20)

do) that the evolution and perpetuation of this floral diversity is due to pollinators, this surely demonstrates their importance. Likewise, if it is also proved that pollinators help to increase the seed yield of many crops, this should underline their economic importance.

In angiosperms, pollination is an important event that acts as a prerequisite to sexual reproduction. Pollen performs the same function in plants that sperm does in animals. Successful pollen transfer is therefore very important. However, pollen is a nonmotile spore: it must be transferred from anthers (the seat of their production) to the stigma (the seat of their germination) by a vector.

Different plant species exercise different pollination modes, and the benefits accrued depend upon the kind of pollen transferred. While self-pollination normally tends to increase homozygosity, pollen from other flowers, plants or genotypes should increase heterozygosity. Self-pollination generally sacrifices plant quality (particularly in outcrossers), while outcrossing helps to increase hybrid vigour, resulting in healthier and stronger plants (although this is not always the case). The type of pollination also determines the chances of gene recombination and exchange between individuals. In changing

S.L. Buchmann. 2015. The reason for flowers. Their history, culture, biology and how they change our lives. Scribner, New Vork

Figure 2.1 SCHEMATIC REPRESENTATION OF POLLEN, FERTILIZATION AND REPRODUCTION IN THE ANGIOSPERM LIFE CYCLE



(A) eukaryotic pollen cell; (B) pollen grain and germination; (C) angiosperm fertilization (Po = pollen grain, VC = vegetative cell, GC = generative cell, St = stigma, Sl = style, Pt = pollen tube, SC1/SC2 = sperm cells, O = ovule, E = egg, ES = embryo sac, Sy = synergides, A = antipodal cells, CC = central cell, Zy = zygote, fCC = fertilized central cell, and PRE/POST = before and after fertilization; (D) complete angiosperm life cycle

environments, gene recombination (and therefore crosspollination) should provide an opportunity to produce strains better suited to new conditions, and is therefore an ecological necessity. In changing pest scenarios with rapidly evolving resistance to pesticides, especially in the tropics, gene recombination and heterozygosity through cross-pollination are reliable means to increase crop yield. Literally, they provide certain crops with the opportunity to keep up with or escape their enemies.

This section reviews pollination modes and pollinators, along with their ecological and economic importance. The use of complex terminology for pollination ecology is avoided where possible, although such terms are used elsewhere in the present book (see also the Glossary). The discussion is limited to descriptions of the importance of pollinators and pollination modes in crops grown to produce seeds and fruit.

2.1.1 The flower

Before exploring the benefits of pollination it is important to first understand how flowers work and how they relate to pollination and pollination modes. These subjects are explored in more detail in Chapters 5–7.

A typical hermaphrodite (bisexual) flower has four parts:

• *Calyx*: The calyx (consisting of sepals) is normally green and provides protection to other floral parts during the bud stage.





- *Corolla*: The corolla (consisting of flower petals) is the coloured part of the flower, which provides the primary attraction and stimulus for pollinators.
- Androecium: This is the male part of the flower. It consists of anthers that hold pollen and function as the seat of male spores.
- *Gynoecium*: This is the female part of the flower and carries the female gamete – the ovule – in the ovary. Pollen is received at the distal tip called the stigma, where the former germinates for fertilization.

(22)

Source: Drawing and design by F. Gattesco and D.W. Roubik

2.1.2 Pollination modes and pollinators

Pollination is the process of transferring pollen from the anthers to the stigma. The agent provoking this transfer is called the pollinator. Normally, angiosperms exhibit two kinds of pollination mode:

• When pollination takes place within a flower it is called *self-pollination* or selfing (Figure 2.1). Self-pollination takes place if: (i) the flowers are bisexual and have stigmas and anthers at the same heights (the stamens and the style are of the same length); (ii) both sexes mature simultaneously (protandry or protogyny are absent); and (iii) contact of newly dehisced anthers (releasing fresh pollen) with the receptive stigma is imminent. Proximity of anthers to stigma under the above conditions should result into self-pollination. If selfing results in fertilization, this should indicate at least some occurrence of strict inbreeding.

• When pollen from one flower is carried to the stigma of another, the process is termed cross*pollination* or outcrossing. Here an external agent is required to accomplish the pollen transfer.

There are two kinds of outcrossing: (i) when crossing occurs between flowers of the same plant (this process is genetically equal to selfing although a foreign pollen vector is required); and (ii) when crossing occurs between flowers of two different plants. Outcrossing is important in plants where either flowers or plants are unisexual; anthers and stigma of the same flower are at different heights (i.e. stamens and style are of different lengths); sexes mature at different times (presence of protandry or protogyny); there is no contact of dehisced anthers with stigma of the same flower during their functional phase; and, above all, plants are self-incompatible (i.e. pollen from a plant cannot be utilized by its own flowers).

Outcrossing is brought about by two kinds of agents: abiotic and biotic. Abiotic pollinating agents are inanimate physical forces. Thus, abiotic pollination is generally "random", or at least is not directed specifically between flowers. Different kinds of abiotic pollination have been recognized:

- Gravity pollination (geophily) is found in selfpollinated plants. Here, some pollen is expected to fall on the receptive stigmas of other flowers due to gravity and may pollinate the flowers. However, geophily is highly unreliable and is a rare and insignificant pollinating agent.
- Water pollination (*hydrophily*) is found only in some water plants where inflorescences float or are submerged. However, many freshwater plants produce aerial inflorescences.

Wind-pollination (anemophily) is found in many plant families including crop plants - especially grasses. Characteristics of plants using the windpollination method include: (i) a reduced leaf surface area; (ii) exposed flowers; (iii) reduced perianths; (iv) long stamens and sometimes explosive anther dehiscence; (v) smooth, dry pollen grains that may bear air sacs; (vi) lack of nectaries and nectar in flowers; and (vii) flowers having no colour or scent.

The relative disadvantages of the wind pollination method are: (i) low accuracy; (ii) pollen concentration declines with distance from the emitting source; (iii) pollen is intercepted by all surfaces in the line of dispersal; and (iv) pollen availability may diminish with height for flowers of wind-pollinated trees.

In the case of biotic pollinating agents, animals perform the task of pollination (zoophily). Biotic pollination is highly accurate, but has a higher cost: nectar in addition to pollen must be offered to pollinators by the plant, which often has large and colourful flowers. Pollen vectors such as bees are characterized by high floral constancy.

Characteristics of plants using the biotic pollination mode include: (i) the production of relatively small amounts of pollen; (ii) the existence of some kind of relationship between the pollen vector and pollination unit (see Sections 2.1.2-2.1.4); (iii) significant variation in size and external appearance of pollen, which is usually sticky; and (iv) flowers with attractive colours and odours that also produce nectar. Biotic pollination naturally falls into several distinct classes:

- pollination by insects (entomophily) such as beetles (cantharophily), flies (myophily), bees (melittophily), butterflies (psychophily) and moths (phalaenophily);
- pollination by invertebrates such as snails and slugs (malacophily);
- pollination by vertebrates such as birds (ornithophily) and bats (chiropterophily).

Entomophily has played a major role in the evolution of angiosperms. The other pollination modes are considered to be secondary derivatives of entomophily. Among these modes, bee pollination is the most effective primarily for two reasons: first, bees visit flowers to gather food and thus seek flowers at all times, and second, the flower constancy of bees (their persistence in seeking flowers of one species) is very high.

All these forms of pollination modes are present in nature, but are scattered in space and time. For example, ornithophily is best witnessed in Australian and Neotropical forests, with hummingbirds and large nectar-producing flowers the best example. Different pollinating animals are in fact associated with different sizes and shapes of flowers and are usually effective pollinators of these flowers, regardless of the species and their origin. These relationships vary from the most specialized to the least specialized types, as illustrated in much of the pollination literature and elsewhere in this book.

2.1.3 The ecological importance of pollinators and pollination modes

Pollination modes and pollinators strongly influence ecological relationships, genetic variation in the plant community, floral diversity, speciation, plant evolution and ecosystem conservation (see Section 2.2). Pollination modes (e.g. abiotic or biotic) have a very broad range of effects, some of which are discussed below.

The role of selfing: Because selfing provides no chance of gene recombination, successful inbreeding over generations leads to genetic impoverishment (i.e. loss of variability) and limited possibility for adaptation in new situations. Inbreeding may also become a starting point for the formation of a successful inbreeding species. The chances of the former remain larger than the latter. Obligate selfing is a rare event and is found in a small minority of plants. However, individual species may show high levels of selfing, which may exceed 99 percent of all fertilizations. Examples include wheat, barley, oats and beans. Selfing is normally found in opportunistic annual plants.

Repeated selfing renders the majority of species less vigorous, when measured in terms of height,

weight or reproductive and survival capabilities. Inbreeding depression occurs in organisms that are normally "outcrossers" and much less in those that have evolved to be "selfers". Selfing is a secondary derivative of outcrossing. Environmental changes that resulted in the failure of self-incompatibility among outcrossers led to the evolution of selfing in plants.

The role of wind-pollination (anemophily): Like selfing, anemophily is considered a later derivative of a widespread, pre-existing condition – in this case, biotic pollination. Retention of floral colour and scent, a well-formed corolla, effective and simultaneous wind and insect pollination, and similar features in a wind-pollinated plant, indicate its recent development and a connecting link between biotic pollination and anemophily. Sudden environmental change resulting in failure of pollination is considered to be the fundamental cause of anemophily. However, unlike selfing, anemophily provides some chances of genetic recombination through outcrossing. Anemophily might be considered a highly wasteful pollination mode because the pollen falls randomly. However, a recent analysis shows that this is not the case, and it is precisely its greater economy that promotes the evolution of anemophily wherever possible. Nonetheless, large amounts of energy and material are used in the production of massive amounts of pollen and feathery styles on flowers. In compensation the perianths are highly reduced and rudimentary. Therefore, floral features are greatly restricted. As a consequence, anemophiles exhibit low floral diversity.

Effective anemophily requires dry weather and either low plant species richness or a large number of individuals in a relatively small area. The frequency of anemophily increases with both latitude and elevation. Wind pollination is generally uncommon in lowland tropical environments, especially in rain forests, and is dominant in temperate deciduous and boreal forests. These latter forests show low plant and floral diversity.



The role of animal pollinators (zoophily): The majority of extreme floral adaptations are directed towards animal visitors. Animals accurately transport a high proportion of the relatively small amount of pollen produced over large distances to a tiny stigmatic target. Accordingly, zoophily provides the best chances of gene recombination. Pollination by animals goes hand in hand with floral diversity and its perpetuation. In species-rich communities with a low level of ecological dominance by individual plant or animal species, biotic pollen dispersal predominates. This is why, for example, alpine grasslands and Mediterranean and tropical forests are populated by attractive flowers and show high floral diversity.

In more productive and stable communities, the proportion of specialist flowers is slightly higher, indicating the availability of more reproductive niches. Such communities will tend to have a greater number of species in each pollination syndrome. The diversity of reproductive niches available in a habitat is necessarily a major component in floristic richness.

Pollinating animals also play a highly important role in speciation (new species formation). Selfing and wind pollination are considered to have no role in this process and generalist animal pollinators play only minor roles. With regard to the interdependent relationships of pollination syndromes and pollinators, specialized associations, even if only temporary, are vital.

The mutual adaptation of flowers and pollinators and their interdependence are considered to be the result of long and intimate co-evolutionary relationships. Various paleontological records now clearly show that many flower forms evolved due to the selective pressure of pollinators over geological periods. Non-specialized, flower-visiting animals were followed by highly specialized visitors, ultimately culminating in the specialized blossom and pollinator classes found today (Chapter 5).

Pollinators and ecosystem conservation: As described above, there are several specialized pollinator and blossom classes. These classes and the existence of several pollination syndromes highlight the interdependence of pollinators and plants. In such systems, pollinators promote the perpetuation of plants by making their sexual reproduction a success. This is because successful reproduction is the major currency in the life of an organism, and failure to reproduce impairs individual fitness. Therefore, the conservation of pollinators should imply the conservation of plant species, and vice-versa. The conservation of plants and pollinators upholds species diversity in the ecosystem. A species-rich ecosystem with high species diversity is considered to be the most stable. This is the normal state of the tropics. Conservation of pollinators and their host plants should therefore imply the conservation of ecosystems.

2.1.4 The economic importance of pollinators

The economic importance of pollinators has now been fully recognized and realized in agriculture. The list of crop plants that either rely completely on pollinators or benefit from their pollinating visits is vast. By increasing their seed and fruit yield through crosspollination and the fecundity and survival benefits that these bring, pollinators are also receiving benefits. The relationship is self-sustaining. Since human populations depend directly on agriculture for food, fibre and other articles, and population growth has heightened the need for these commodities, the importance of pollinators in modern times has increased several times over. Honey bees and some solitary bees can now be managed successfully and utilized for the pollination of crops. Their necessity is felt whenever it is established that they increase yield, especially in crops that are self-incompatible or otherwise in need of visitors to their flowers.

Table 2.1 presents a list of crops grown in the tropics - fruits, vegetables, oil seeds, forage, fibres and spices. The benefits accrued to these crop plants, and hence the importance of pollinators in agriculture, is indicated as the percentage increase in yield.

Table 2.1 COMMON WORLD CROPS, BREEDING SYSTEM AND BENEFITS FROM POLLINATORS

FRUIT CROPS		
Acerola	Malpighia glabra	1-3% (S), 6.7-55% (H), 6.7-74% (C)
Almond	Prunus dulcis	No bees, no fruit formation
Apricot	Prunus armenica	Benefited from BP
Blackberry	Rubus	Benefited from BP
Cashew	Anacardium occidentale	55.5% (S), need BP
Cherimoya	Annona cherimola	6% (OP), 44-60% (H)
Cherry	Prunus	20-35% (S), 49% (H)
Chestnut	Castanea	1.3% (S), 68%(0P), 34.9% C(H)
Kiwifruit	Actinidia deliciosa	CE
Citrus	Citrus	40-60% (H), 80-100% (OP)
Coconut	Cocos nucifera	CE
Date	Phoenix dactylifera	CE
Grape	Vitis vinifera	1.7 seeds/cage, 1.8 (BP), 1.8 (OP) (BE)
Guava	Psidium guajava	CE
Jamun	Syzygium vulgare	CE
Jujube	Ziziphus jujuba	CE
Litchi	Nephelium chinensis	0.01-0.03% (BE), 0.7-11.2% (BP)
Mango	Mangifera indica	C increases fruit set
Muskmelon	Cucumis melo	1.6 crates/A (BE), 242 crates/A (BP), CE
Pawpaw	Asimina triloba	CE
Рарауа	Carica papaya	CE
Passion fruit	Passiflora	CE
Peach	Prunus persica	BP increases yield
Watermelon	Citrullus lanatus	CE
VEGETABLE CROPS		
Balsam pear	Momordica charantis	CE
Beet	Beta vulgaris	BP increases seed yield 14%
Cabbage	Brassica oleracea	CE
Carrot	Daucus carota	128 lb/A (IE), 435 lb/A (TI), 711 lb/A (OP), 840 lb/A (BP)
Chayote	Sechium edule	CE
Cucumber	Cucumis sativus	CE
Egg plant	Solanum melongena	C increases production
Lettuce	Lactuca sativa	C increases seed yield
Onion	Allium cepa	9.8% (BE), 93.4% (BP)
Pumpkin	Cucurbita	6.8% (BE), 61.2% (BP), CE
Radish	Raphanus sativus	CE
Tomato	Solanum esculentum	Buzz pollination essential
Turnip	Brassica rapa	CE
Loofah	Luffa cylindrica	CE
White Gourd	Benincasa hispida	CE
Bottlegourd	Lagenaria siceraria	CE

(26)



OILSEED CROPS		
Flax	Linum usitatissimum	BP increases seed yield 22.5-38.5%
Niger	Guizotia abbyssinica	BP increases yield
Rapeseed, Canola and Mustard	Brassica	64.7 seed set (BE), 95.3% (BP)
Oil palm	Elaeis guineensis	CE
Olive	Olea europaea	C increases fruit set
Peanut	Arachis hypogaea	BP increases seed yield 6-11%
Safflower	Carthamus tinctorius	32-47% (BE), 100% (BP)
Sesame	Sesamum indicum	BP increases seed yield
Sunflower	Helianthus annuus	311 lb/A (BE), 931 lb/A (OP)
"PULSE" CROPS		

Broad bean	Vicia faba	BP increases seed yield
Cicer milkvetch	Astragalus cicer	2.3% (S), 12.4%, (H), 23.1% (C)
Pigeon pea	Cajanus cajan	BP increases seed yield 10%

SPICES, CONDIMENTS AND BEVERAGES		
Black pepper	Piper nigrum	BP essential
Сасао	Theobroma cacao	CE
Carambola	Averrhoa carambola	C obligatory
Cardamom	Elettaria cardamomum	11% (BE), 67% (BP)
Chicory	Cichorium intybus	0% (S), 61% (OP)
Clove	Syzygium aromaticum	CE
Coffee	Coffea	61.7% [within branch] (BE),
Coriander	Coriandrum sativum	C obligatory
Fennel	Foeniculum vulgare	BP increases seed yield 7 times
Kolanut	Cola acuminata	CE
Methi	Trigonella corniculata	0.09 kg/plot (BE), 6.2 kg/plot (BP)
Pimento	Pimenta dioica	19 berries (BE), > 1 000 berries (BP)
Теа	Camellia sinensis	CE
Vanilla	Vanilla	Pompona
FORAGE CROPS		
Alfalfa	Medicago sativa	0.3 kg/A (BE), 20.3 kg/A (BP)
Berseem	Trifolium alexandrinum	0.27-0.64 seed/head (BP), 19.58-70.54 seed/head (BE)
Lespedeza	Lespedeza	C level 61.480.9%
Vetch	Vicia	BP increases seed production
FIBRE CROPS		
Cotton	Gossypium	2.3–3.4% (BE), 0–53% (BP)
Kenaf	Hibiscus cannabinus	C helpful in yield
Sisal	Agave	C necessary
Sunn hemp	Crotalaria juncea	2.6% (OP) 65% (BP)

Notes: BE = bees excluded; BP = bee pollination; C = cross-pollination; CE = cross-pollination essential; H = hand pollination; IE = all insects excluded; TI = tiny insects permitted; OP = open pollination; and S = self-pollination.

A companion table listing known pollinators for global crops grown for human consumption be found in A.M. Klein *et al.* 2007. Importance of pollinators in changing landscapes for world crops, *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*, 274(1608). doi: 10.1098/rspb.2006.3721.

2.1.5 Conclusion

Pollination involves the transfer of pollen from anthers to the stigma. Self-pollination is of little ecological or economic significance to many plant species, and when followed by self-fertilization it can cause inbreeding depression. This is a result of homozygosity, which provides no chance for gene recombination. Therefore, variability in the plant species is impoverished. The homozygous individuals have stunted growth and low yield in many of the wild and cultivated plant species. Cross-pollination, on the other hand, leads to heterozygosity and provides chances of gene recombination. This may increase variability in a plant population and provides opportunities for the evolution of new varieties, strains and even species. Heterozygosity in cultivated crops is expected to increase hybrid vigour, resulting in more healthy plants with higher seed yield. Aside from monospecific croplands of wind-pollinated species, cross-pollination by wind, water or gravity is of often of little importance due primarily to its random nature. However, pollination by insects can have great significance in the evolution of flowering plants and many floral, vegetative and genetic traits. All other biotic and abiotic pollination modes are secondary derivatives of zoophily - the animal transport of pollen grains. The presence of a wide variety of pollinators and pollination syndromes has contributed to present-day floral diversity in the tropics and subtropics. Among the animal pollinators, bee pollination (melittophily) is of great significance in agriculture, increasing seed production in many entomophilous and anemophilous crops. The conservation of pollinators and pollination services for plants is essential to preserve floral diversity in the ecosystem. Managed pollination should be accorded a high priority, in order to increase the crop yields of seed and fruit.

2.2 CONSERVING POLLINATORS FOR AGRICULTURE, FORESTRY **AND NATURE**

P.G. Kevan

Pollination is a pivotal, keystone process in almost all biotically productive terrestrial ecosystems. These include the most remote wildernesses of the Arctic to the most highly managed farming operations, such as hydroponics in greenhouses. Pollination is at the centre of a multi-spoked wheel that has human, livestock and wildlife consumers at its circumference. Other relationships of importance to maintaining the health of ecosystems include fungal and microbial interactions with roots affecting plant growth and nutrition, biophysical interactions in the soil, biophysical interactions between life and the atmosphere, plant propagule (seeds, etc.) dispersal by animals, the role of forests and multifarious pollution problems.

In recent years, conservation concerns over pollination have received increasing attention. This concern has been triggered in part by recognition of the value of pollination to agriculture. Figures calculated for Australia, Canada and the United States, mostly in regard to honey bees, show that the value of pollination far exceeds that of hive products such as honey. Recognition of this issue in Europe prompted several pioneering studies. However, the economics of animal pollination in agriculture within any one country are complex and difficult to assess. Regardless, agriculture and other equally vital economic ventures are dependent on a variety of pollinators, including the most generally important, honey bees. The total value of animal pollination to world agriculture has not been estimated, but the value to the global health of ecosystems is beyond measure.

The demise of pollinators is the consequence of four major human activities: (i) pesticide use, (ii) habitat destruction, (iii) diseases, and (iv) competition from introduced flower visitors. The majority of related information is drawn from temperate regions, but the same problems can be assumed to be equally or more severe in the tropics (see Chapter 3). The aim of this chapter is to review briefly the information available on each factor and place into perspective the potential consequences of ignoring the impacts to date.

Another issue in pollinator conservation is increasing recognition by scientists and others that "non-honey bees" are important as crop pollinators. However, the lack of general acceptance of the greater efficiency of other pollinators for certain crops, and the failure to recognize that some crops are poorly, if at all, pollinated by honey bees have hampered appropriate developments towards pollinator conservation for agricultural productivity.

2.2.1 **Pesticides**

The dangers associated with pesticides, especially insecticides, and pollinators are well documented and understood, especially with regard to European honey bees. Roubik et al. (2014) and other recent works have summarized the current available information (see Preface and Chapters 1 and 4). Johansen and Mayer (1990) wrote a highly informative book on the subject with an emphasis on the United States. Information has been published on most pesticides used worldwide regarding their toxicity to European honey bees, and sometimes other bees. In fact, many pesticide containers bear labels highlighting the associated dangers to pollinators.

Recent trends in many parts of the world towards reducing the use of pesticides in agriculture and forestry have lessened the overall incidence of pollinator poisonings. However, the problems are still severe in developing countries. It must also be remembered that pesticides constitute an integral part of integrated pest management practices (IPM) for crop protection in modern agriculture and forestry. The dangers must still be kept in mind and a constant vigilance maintained.

Many pesticide problems seem to stem from accidents, carelessness in application and deliberate misuse despite label warnings and recommendations (see Chapter 4). As pesticide application becomes increasingly regulated and users are required to take safety courses before certification, the problem should

diminish. However, in many countries regulations are wanting, lax or ignored. General problems are exacerbated by the free availability in developing countries of pesticides that are outmoded or illegal elsewhere. In agricultural settings, pesticide use can be easily monitored and controlled by: (i) responsible agents of the agrochemical industries who manufacture and sell pesticides, (ii) diligent applicators who pay heed to labels, recommended application rates, and warnings about pollinator poisonings and human health, (iii) government extension agents, and (iv) other persons interested in agriculture and pollination services including the general public.

Issues in non-agricultural settings and agroforestry are more complex because of the importance of a wider diversity of pollinators, both wild and managed. One example of a well-understood situation occurred in eastern Canada where fenitrothion, sprayed against spruce budworms that were defoliating forest trees, had devastating side effects on wild, native pollinators of commercial blueberry fields. The effects were also immediately felt on the pollinators servicing the sexual reproductive needs of native vegetation. A number of different plant species of the forest and forest margins suffered reduced fruit and seed set, which in turn would be expected to impact wildlife by depriving them of natural quantities of food. The effects on pollinators resulting from extensive applications of pesticides against other major pests, such as forest defoliators, locusts and grassland herbivores, have received only minimal investigation.

2.2.2 Habitat destruction

Habitat destruction affects pollinator populations, as with populations of any organism, in three ways: (i) destruction of food sources; (ii) destruction of nesting or oviposition sites; and (iii) destruction of resting or mating sites.

The destruction of food sources is best illustrated by examples of the removal of vegetation, which provides pollinator with food when crops are not in bloom in agricultural areas. The vegetation removed is frequently regarded as unwanted, as weeds or as competition for the crop plants, yet is invaluable to

pollinators and other beneficial insects. Kevan (1986) made special reference to these problems with respect to biological control, IPM and pollination in the tropics. The negative effects on pollinator populations in agricultural areas of removing "unwanted" vegetation have been documented, in particular, for Europe and North America (see Chapter 4).

The destruction of nesting and oviposition sites has been documented in central Canada for the demise of populations of leafcutter bees (Megachilidae), which were left without nesting sites in stumps and logs as fields of alfalfa expanded; in Europe for bumblebees as the amount of relatively undisturbed land in hedgerows and greenbelts declined; and in the tropics for the inadequate pollination of cacao by midges in plantations from which oviposition substrates or rotting vegetation had been too fastidiously removed.

Examples of the destruction of special mating or resting sites pertain to pollinators with rather special requirements and to those associated with rare plants. Although this problem is suspected to be real, documentation is not available and evidence would be difficult to obtain without specialized research.

The general issue of habitat destruction for pollinators has evoked concern on a broad scale. Janzen's 1974 article "The deflowering of Central America" exemplifies the problem. He points to a vicious cycle of reduced vegetation for pollinator resources, reduced pollination of vegetation, the demise of plant reproductive success, and reductions in seed and fruit set. These result in the failure of revegetation with the expected level of biodiversity. This cycle applies to all parts of the world where pollination by animals forms an integral part of the ecosystem. Nevertheless, recent publications on the conservation of insects and other animals give short shrift to pollinators and all but ignore the consequences of their demise. In the context of the present publication, this attitude is very difficult to understand.

2.2.3 Pollinator diseases

Mite diseases of honey bees have evoked major concern, as trachael mites and Varroa have spread at alarming rates. The impact of such diseases on honey bee colonies is well documented, but little information is available on the effects on pollination. It has been suggested that many amateur and small-scale beekeepers will abandon their activities because of the additional complexities of bee management associated with monitoring for mite diseases and controlling them once detected. Furthermore, chemical control of mites may not be acceptable to producers of pure honey.

The necessary changes to beekeeping, which is mostly in the hands of small-scale operators widely dispersed over the agricultural landscape, seem to be resulting in fewer beekeepers and lower distribution of free pollination from bees in their hives. There are already complaints from parts of the United States about inadequate numbers of honey bees for pollination of pome, stone and small, soft fruit crops. Pollination services may come to be provided by commercial beekeepers at an additional cost to the grower and consumer (see Chapter 10).

This scenario would apply to beekeeping operations in other parts of the world where non-native diseases have invaded the native stocks of honey bees. In India, the possible transfer of diseases from European honey bees to the Asiatic hive bee (Apis cerana) was suggested as the cause of the demise of the latter to the detriment of honey production.

Great care is needed for the introduction of honey bees from one part of the world to another. The spread of honey bee diseases from place to place and between species is mostly attributable to human activity (e.g. Varroa in western Asia, Europe, and North and South America, and trachael mites in North America, etc.). Quarantine protocols are well established in some countries, but are unfortunately lacking in others. Bailey and Ball (1991) provided a key work on bee pathology worldwide, and the subject is advancing with new information and protocols (see Chapter 16).

Leafcutter bees also suffer from diseases. The most important are the many chalk brood fungal varieties, such as that affecting the alfalfa leafcutter bee, Megachile rotundata. This disease has a major impact on the culture of the bees, and diagnosis facilities have been established in certain places (e.g. western Canada) where these bees are highly important to pollination in agriculture. Research on diseases affecting other managed pollinators, such as orchard bees (Osmia) and bumblebees (Bombus), is assuming importance as these pollinators take on a role in agricultural crop production.

The importance of disease in the regulation of populations of native pollinators is unknown. The same can be said regarding the roles of other natural enemies, such as the many parasitic wasps that attack natural populations of all kinds of bees, but are much more concentrated and capable of creating adverse effects in commercially established populations of solitary bees. However, a wide variety of pathogens, parasites, parsitoids and predators attack native bees and other pollinators in nature.

2.2.4 Pollinator competition

The most studied of the competitive interactions between pollinators as they relate to pollination is that of the effect of the Africanized (naturalized hybrid African x European) honey bees on native pollinators and European honey bees in South and Central America. The apparent reductions in abundance of native bees in the Neotropics after the invasion of Africanized bees was first pointed out by Roubik (1978), who subsequently placed the phenomenon in a broader context (2009). However, the issue of the competitive interactions of African bees with native pollinators in South and Central America seems complex.

In Australia, there has been debate recently over the effects of the introduced European honey bee on the native flora and fauna of pollinators. Some conclude that there is justification for the concern that European honey bees have caused reduction in the pollination of some native plants, especially those pollinated by birds, by removing the soughtafter nectar and causing changes in their populations and foraging habits. The issue of effects on native pollinating insects is less clear from the botanical side, but the same trends are evident with respect to the native bees.

(32)

2.2.5 Diversification of pollinators

Although it must be conceded that honey bees are the most valuable pollinators in agriculture, they are not the sum total of crop pollination. Numerous examples illustrate this point including the greater efficiencies of orchard bees for pome fruit pollination, alfalfa leafcutter bees for alfalfa pollination, bumblebees for pollination of tomatoes and other solanaceous crops in greenhouses, blueberry bees for blueberries and carpenter bees for passion fruit. The lack of pollination brought about by honey bees for oil palm, various Annonaceous fruit crops, red clover and other crops with flowers too deep for honey bees to access, as well as bat-pollinated durian, provide further evidence of the need to consider alternative pollinators for many crops. This issue is particularly important for the tropics because the natural pollination mechanisms of a large proportion of plants (crops and others) are not understood.

2.2.6 Conclusion

The conservation of honey bees, other domesticated bees, wild bees and other pollinators raises an important issue in the global context of agricultural and natural sustainable productivity. It is extremely important that apiculturists expand their horizons to embrace the culture of alternative species and the importance of other pollinators in agriculture. The significance of pollinators and the adverse affects that habitat destruction, poisoning, disease and competitive interactions with alien species have on pollination processes, need to be fully acknowledged by biologists, ecologists, agriculturalists and the general public, within the new spirit of global, environmental sustainability and conservation of biodiversity.

REFERENCES

Bailey, L.L. & Ball, B.V. 1991. Honey bee pathology (2nd edn). London, Academic Press.

- Janzen, D.H. 1974. The deflowering of Central America, Natural History, 83(4): 118-153.
- Johansen, C.A and Mayer, D.F. 1990. Pollinator protection: a bee and pesticide handbook. Cheshire, CT, USA, Wicwas Press.
- 1030-1032.
- 14: 115-124.
- Roubik, D.W, ed. 2014. Pollinator safety in agriculture. Rome, FAO.

Kevan, P.G. 1986. Pollinating and flower visiting insects and the management of beneficial and harmful insects and plants. In M.Y. Hussein & A.G. Ibrahim, eds. Biological control in the Tropics: Proceedings of the first regional symposium in biological control, Universisti Pertanian Malaysia, Serdang, 4-6 September, 1985, pp. 439-452.

Roubik, D.W. 1978. Competitive interactions between neotropical pollinators and Africanized honeybees. Science, 201:

Roubik, D.W. 2009. Ecological impact on native bees by the invasive Africanized honey bee. Acta Biológica Colombiana,





photo to be discussed/selected

Chapter 3 SUSTAINABLE YIELDS, SUSTAINABLE GROWTH OR NEITHER?

3.1 THE POTENTIAL FOR INSECT POLLINATORS TO ALLEVIATE GLOBAL POLLINATION DEFICITS AND ENHANCE YIELDS OF FRUIT AND SEED CROPS

L.A. Garibaldi, S.A. Cunningham, M.A. Aizen, L. Packer and L.D. Harder

3.1.1 Introduction

Land use has changed at an unprecedented rate over the past century. Agricultural lands, pastures, tree plantations and urban areas have expanded concomitantly with the consumption of agricultural products, energy, water and chemical inputs [1]. Those changes have caused widespread environmental degradation and major biodiversity loss that affect the ecosystem services on which human livelihoods depend [1], including crop pollination by wild insects [2, 3]. This chapter provides a general framework for understanding the contribution of animal pollination to crop yield. It also describes global patterns of pollinator abundance and diversity, pollinator dependence, pollination deficits, and the pollination efficiency of honey bees (Apis mellifera) and wild insects. It concludes with recommendations for improved agricultural sustainability from the enhancement of pollinator biodiversity, pollination services and crop yield.

34

3.1.2 Pollen as a resource that limits crop yield

Crop yield (tonnes h^{a-1}) [ca. 2.25 tonnes = 1 ton] increases asymptotically with the delivery of resources in general, and for most fruit or seed crops, with the pollen delivered to the stigmas [4–10]. The relation can be summarized generally as

 $Y = Y_{not} \times (1 - e^{-b \times Pollen})$

where Y is realized yield, *Pollen* is the mean number of pollen grains per stigma, and b governs the rate of approach to the asymptote, potential yield (Figure 3.1a). Given such a saturating relationship, the temporal (e.g. among years) or spatial (e.g. among agricultural fields) variation in pollen receipt both increases variability (reduces stability) of crop yield, and reduces its mean. The latter result arises because the yield increase resulting from Δ units of pollen receipt above the average during a good year (+ Δ in Figure 3.1a) is smaller than the yield decrease, with Δ units of pollen receipt below the average, during a bad year (- Δ in Figure 3.1a).

Figure 3.1

CROP YIELD INCREASES WITH POLLEN QUANTITY AT A DECELERATING RATE, WITH PREDICTABLE IMPLICATIONS FOR THE RESPONSES OF MEAN YIELD AND YIELD STABILITY TO VARIATION IN POLLINATION AND POLLEN QUALITY



(A) Variability in pollen receipt (Δ) increases yield variability, but also reduces its mean (Y bar), where Y_{pot} is the potential yield. (B) Effects of pollen quality and flower abundance. The blue and orange rectangles indicate the pollination deficit (potential minus the realized yield) under high and low flower abundance, respectively

Pollination deficit is thus a shortfall in the yield of fruit and seed crops which could be alleviated by improved pollination, expressed here as the difference between potential and realized yield (Figure 3.1b) [11]. The model described above can be elaborated to incorporate the influence of pollen quality, which can affect pollination deficit through change in ovule fertilization and embryo development [8, 12]. Unlike pollen quantity, better pollen quality, resulting in enhanced cross-pollination and reduced inbreeding depression [8, 12], can increase both potential yield Ypot and the rate of increase in crop yield with increasing pollen quantity, as influenced by b (Figure 3.1b). Thus, even if other inputs are provided, a reduction in the quantitative component of pollination deficit will not maximize yield unless pollinators deliver a sufficient quality of pollen. Management practices mostly ignore this component of pollination deficit, however encouraging pollinators that move frequently among plants will improve overall pollen quality and reduce the deficit [13, 14]. Further enhancement of outcrossing rates might be achieved by considering the

floral display, inflorescence architecture and particularly the genetic composition of the cultivated crop. Finally, management practices usually enhance the abundance of crop flowers per hectare, which may alleviate pollination deficits by promoting pollinator arrival or recruitment (i.e. higher pollinator attractiveness). However, these practices more commonly increase deficits by saturating the local pollinators, thus reducing the number of visits per flower, and therefore pollen receipt per ovule. In other words, the combination of monocultures with sparse, poor pollinator assemblages exacerbates the pollination limitation experienced by many crops (Figure 3.1b). Practices should therefore not try to increase floral resources, unless other measures are in place to increase the abundance and/or diversity of pollinators.

3.1.3 Pollinator dependence in fruit and seed crops

As with wild plants, fruit and seed crops, which are the subject of this volume, differ greatly regarding the extent to which animal pollinators increase yield, ranging from little or no improvement (e.g. obligate wind or self-pollinated crops such as walnuts or cereals) to complete dependence (e.g. Brazil nut, cocoa, kiwi, melon and papaya) [15]. In general, animal pollination enhances the sexual reproduction of about 90 percent [16, 17] of all angiosperms. Among crops, the estimates are similar, amounting to 85 percent of 264 crops cultivated in Europe [18] and 70 percent of 1 330 tropical crops, many of which have not received study [19]. Globally, animal pollination enhances the yield of 75 percent of the 115 most important crops, as measured by food production [15, 20] and economic value [21], including crops with a high domestication investment, such as soybean, sunflower and canola [13, 22, 23].

Such estimates consider crops to be of two kinds - completely unaffected by animal pollination, or at least partially dependent on animal pollination, whereas from a farmer's perspective the pollinator dependence of crops varies quantitatively. This dependence can be measured according to the extent of yield reduction in the absence of pollinators (% dependence) compared to potential yield (Figure 3.1). Previously, the contribution of animal pollination to global agriculture was estimated based on the pollinator dependence of the 87 most important crops, using yearly data for 1961-2006 provided by the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) [20]. Those crops were classified into five (average) dependency categories: 0 (no dependence), 5 percent, 25 percent, 65 percent and 95 percent (extremely high dependence) [15]. Thus, with no animal pollination, the estimated reduction in total agricultural production - considering these different categories of dependency - is 3 percent to 8 percent, depending on the year and local economic perspective [20]. These estimates are lower than previous ones by about 30 percent, which were derived without considering the degree of pollinator dependence [15]. However, the extra cultivated area needed to compensate for the < 10 percent production loss, under a hypothetical scenario of complete pollinator collapse, is much higher because of the lower yields of pollinator-dependent crops [20]. The increased area ranges from 15 percent to 42 percent, with the

largest estimates found for developing countries, where two-thirds of global agricultural land is farmed [20]. Furthermore, analyses of temporal trends for cultivated area and production reveal that, although animal pollination accounts for a relatively small share of total crop production, agriculture became steadily more pollinator dependent (> 50 percent increase) during 1961–2006 [20]. Therefore, the expansion of cultivated area, driven in part by pollinator loss, contributes to global environmental degradation, particularly in developing countries.

3.1.4 Are pollination deficits common?

The preceding section describes the magnitude of the pollination deficit that would occur if all pollinators disappeared. By analysing temporal trends in the growth and stability of crop yield, this section asks whether pollination deficits are common [24].

Pollination deficits are common among wild plants [25] and are thus expected among crops in general. Indeed, pollination deficits occur frequently in natural pollinator communities and ecosystems [25], just as crops can be nutrient limited even in non-degraded soils [26]. Despite many floral mechanisms that promote efficient pollen transfer, cross-pollination is intrinsically an uncertain process [9]. However, pollination deficits are aggravated in agricultural landscapes for several reasons. First, intensively managed agricultural landscapes usually provide poor habitats for pollinators [2, 3]. Furthermore, unlike crop loss due to herbivores, weeds, pathogens and their vectors, which are usually highly regulated by agricultural practices, pollination is usually subject to only minimal management and occurs almost entirely naturally, as an "ecosystem service" [27]. Worsening this situation, pollinator abundance and diversity are declining in many agricultural landscapes [2, 28, 29], further reducing the quantity and quality of pollen delivered to flowers [30] (Figure 3.2). Finally, current agricultural practices often involve the cultivation of extensive and massively flowering monocultures, increasing pollination demands for brief periods [19, 31]. The demands cannot be satisfied by the local pollinator pool (Figure 3.2), which is itself diminished by the practice.

Figure 3.2 CONSEQUENCES OF STANDARD AGRICULTURAL PRACTICES FOR POLLINATION DEFICITS



Agricultural landscapes have been increasingly (blue +) transformed into homogeneous environments with large crop monocultures and high inputs, both of which aggravate (blue +) pollination deficits. Blue lines indicate ameliorating effects on the feature indicated by the arrow, whereas orange lines indicate aggravating effects.

Given such conditions, crops with greater pollinator dependence will have a lower mean and stability of yield growth than less dependent crops, despite other practices that increase yield in most crops, such as fertilizer application and irrigation [24]. The prediction is supported by FAO data collected annually from 1961 to 2008, comprising 99 crops that accounted for 95 percent of global cultivated area during 2008. As a consequence of the lower mean and stability of yield growth, the cultivated area increased at a faster rate for crops with higher pollinator dependence such that production can match the demanded levels. That is, yield growth decreased but area growth increased with crop pollinator dependence (see [24] for more details). These results reveal that insufficient and variable pollination quantity and (or) quality reduce yield growth of pollinatordependent crops, decreasing the temporal stability of global agricultural production, while promoting compensatory land conversion to agriculture.

(38)

The conversion of land to agriculture, described above, leads to a concomitant reduction in natural and semi-natural areas within agricultural landscapes, and decreases the abundance and richness (number of species) of wild pollinators (Figure 3.2). Such land conversion increasingly isolates crop plants from wild pollinators, aggravating pollination deficits (Figure 3.2). In particular, a synthesis of 29 studies [2] reveals that a 1 km separation between natural and semi-natural areas reduces flower visitor richness by 34 percent, visitation rates to crop flowers by all insects except honey bees by 27 percent, and the proportion of a plant's flowers or ovules that develop into mature fruit or seeds (fruit and seed set, respectively) by 16 percent [2]. Such separation similarly reduces spatial and temporal pollination stability, defined as the inverse of spatial variation within fields or of amongday variation within fields, respectively. Specifically, spatial stability decreases by 25 percent, 16 percent and 9 percent for richness, visitation and fruit set, respectively, whereas temporal stability decreases by

39 percent and 13 percent for richness and visitation, respectively [2]. To the extent that pollination deficits and low pollination stability have stimulated any change in agricultural practice, they have traditionally been addressed by managing a single pollinator species, usually honey bees, which are the most abundant crop pollinator species worldwide [2]. Potential effects of distance to source for honey bees are circumvented by deployment in crop fields and, during floral scarcity, by food supplements and other management measures (see Chapter 20). In addition, honey bees forage farther than most wild pollinators, and can locate and use discrete flower patches scattered in the landscape by means of scouting and directed recruitment [32-34]. However, whether an application of honey bees reduces most potential deficits efficiently remains an open question (see Part IV).

3.1.5 Can honey bee management alone reduce pollination deficits?

Honey bees occur both as wild and as managed colonies nesting in transportable hives. Hived colonies can be placed in almost any habitat, depending on the demand for commercial pollination or honey production. Therefore, honey bees can alleviate the negative effects of isolation from natural or seminatural areas on crop seed or fruit set. However, focusing on honey bees alone for pollination management may not provide sustainable pollination for several reasons.

First, an increased abundance of honey bees complements, but evidently does not replace, the pollination provided by diverse assemblages of wild insects. Wild insects pollinate most crops more effectively than honey bees, as revealed by a recent global synthesis of 600 fields in 41 crop systems [35]. In that study, fruit set varies positively with flower visitation by honey bees in only 14 percent of the sampled crops. In contrast, flower visitation by wild insects increases fruit set in every study crop. The relatively weak influence of honey bees detected by this analysis may reflect their tendency to limit single foraging bouts to small flower patches, and sometimes the flowers of a single plant [13, 14]. If this occurs regularly, cross-pollination is limited and elevated self-pollen interference and inbreeding depression are likely (Figure 3.1) [8].

Second, even for crops pollinated by honey bees, the current commercial availability of colonies may not suffice. Despite a global increase in the number of hives of approximately 50 percent over the last five decades, global agriculture dependent on animal pollination has tripled [36]. These disparate rates strongly suggest a rapidly expanding demand for pollination services provided by wild insects and other pollinators. Furthermore, honey bee numbers have increased unevenly among countries, with strong growth in major honey producing countries, such as Argentina, China and Spain, but declines elsewhere, including the United Kingdom, the United States and many western European countries [36, 37]. Growth in honey bee numbers in one country is unlikely to contribute to the pollination of crops in another, although many queens and nuclei are distributed internationally (Chapter 16). In most countries except the United States [38], beekeepers profit more from producing honey than from renting colonies for pollination. Therefore, as is increasingly realized, the use of honey bees as crop pollinators will remain low unless payments for pollination increase.

Third, species of flower visitors respond differently to environmental change (response diversity), and thus biodiversity plays an important role in stabilizing ecosystem services, including crop pollination [39]. Indeed, some studies predict an increased role for wild bees given global warming [40]. Another study reported contrasting responses of wild insects and honey bees to wind conditions [41], such that this response diversity may stabilize crop pollination. The effects of response diversity may be especially relevant in the tropics, where impacts of climate change on pollinators are expected to be the greatest [42]. In summary, wild insects play a critical but underappreciated role in modern agriculture, and their importance will increase even further in the future. It is therefore essential to make better use of them for crop pollination.



3.1.6 Why do wild insects contribute to crop vield?

Fruit and seed set are key components of crop yield and reflect pollination success when other resources (e.g. nutrients) are not limiting factors [43]. Positive effects of wild insects on fruit set occur regardless of geographic location, sample size of the study, relative proportion of honey bees in the pollinator assemblage (their relative dominance), pollinator dependence of the crop, or whether the crop species is herbaceous or woody, native or exotic [35]. Such consistency is expected from the generalized nature of plant and pollinator interactions, whereby multiple pollinator species can profit from pollen and nectar of the same plant species [44]. This generalization does not mean that all pollinators interacting with a given crop are equally effective, but rather that various pollinators have comparable pollination efficiency.

The number of pollinator species (species richness) by itself may increase the mean and the stability of crop yield through several mechanisms [45]. First, a rich pollinator fauna displays more individual niche complementarity, with a variety of pollinators active across different flower patches and during different periods, individual days or a crop's entire flowering season, thus providing more consistent pollination overall [39, 46, 47]. Second, different pollinator species can act synergistically. For example, wild insects enhance the pollination behaviour of honey bees, presumably by un-aggressively displacing them from flowers, thus potentially driving both pollination quantity and guality, and enhancing outcrossing [13, 14, 30]. Third, because of a simple sampling effect, richer pollinator assemblages are more likely to include an efficient pollinator for a given crop than poor species assemblages [48]. By these and other mechanisms [49, 50], pollinator diversity contributes critically to an increased, sustained yield.

3.1.7 Sound practices that reduce pollination deficits

Land use changes during the past century have aggravated pollination deficits. Global fertilizer and herbicide use and the irrigation of crop areas

(40)

have increased rapidly during recent decades, concomitant with the cultivation of mass flowering crops [1]. In particular, herbicides - which have seen the most rapid growth in use among pesticides worldwide - are also implicated in the creation of agricultural environments devoid of pollen and nectar resources [50]. As discussed above, the combination of monocultures with sparse, poor pollinator assemblages exacerbates the pollination limitation experienced by many crops (Figure 3.3). In addition to the lack of habitat heterogeneity in those landscapes, high pesticide input further impoverishes wild insect assemblages (Figure 3.3). As argued here, the introduction of exotic pollinators does not seem to be an environmentally sensible practice to mitigate pollination deficits.

Varied practices increase the abundance and species richness of wild insects [51]. Indeed, wild pollinator species richness and flower visitation rate - a reflection of pollinator abundance – correlate strongly across agricultural fields [35]. Therefore, practices that enhance species richness may also increase aggregate pollinator abundance, and vice versa. Practices that should enhance the carrying capacity of habitats for wild insect assemblages and associated crop pollination services include:

- conservation and restoration of natural and seminatural areas within landscapes dominated by crops [2, 3];
- planting hedgerows and flower strips along field edges [52-54];
- the addition of nesting resources (e.g. reed internodes) [55];
- implementation of organic practices within landscapes dominated by conventional farming [23, 56-58];
- the development and implementation of pollinator safety guidelines when applying insecticides [59-63];
- enhancement of farmland heterogeneity [39, 56, 64, 65];
- reduction of crop field size [66];
- actions to increase flowering plant richness within crop fields [14, 61, 62, 67, 68].





(A) and its expected consequences for crop yield (B). (A) Pollen limitation hinders yield growth of pollinator dependent crops, decreasing temporal stability of production, and promoting compensatory land conversion to agriculture at the expense of natural and semi-natural areas. These land use changes decrease the species richness and abundance of wild pollinators (represented by upper three insects in red circle) and crop pollination, but do not affect honey bee abundance (represented by lower insect in red circle). (B) Increasing the visitation rate (visits flower⁻¹ hour⁻¹) of only honey bees adds pollination and crop yield (tonnes ha⁻¹), but does not compensate for pollination losses from fewer wild insects.

The effectiveness of such practices is context dependent, and relatively more successful when and where background floral resources, and natural nesting substrates, are scarce [69]. Where diverse floral resources are already available, preserving this diversity is likely to be the most cost-effective mitigation practice. In general, the effectiveness of large-scale practices (e.g. restoration of seminatural areas) depends on smaller scale practices (e.q. increasing plant diversity within fields), and vice versa. The effects of such management depend on how far the various pollinators will fly from their nests, which is poorly studied. Flight distances are expected to vary positively with body size [70]. However, strong fidelity to small habitats, irrespective of body size, has also been documented [71]. Therefore, smallscale practices can strongly affect pollinators and crop pollination [52, 72]. Maintenance of biodiversity in agricultural landscapes is expected to support ecosystem services generally, and there is already strong evidence [35] that this is the case for the diversity of wild insects and the pollination services they provide.

3.1.8 Natural history of bees and their potential for crop pollination

Bees (Hymenoptera, Anthophila) are the single most important group of pollinators because they depend on flowers for nourishment at all active lifecycle stages, and visit flowers regularly and consistently. Nevertheless, the estimated > 20 000 species of bees [73] do not have an equivalent potential as effective crop pollinators because of differences in geographic ranges and natural history, including abundance, phenology and habitat requirements. Thus, from an agricultural rather than a purely conservation perspective, management practices that promote suitable species are more likely to result in improved yields.

Bees are not equally spread geographically, but instead are most diverse in arid and semi-arid habitats, perhaps as a consequence of their purported evolutionary origin in drier parts of Gondwana [74,

(42)

75]. The preponderance of different bee taxonomic groups also varies with habitat and continent. Some higher-level taxa are geographically restricted, such as Stenotritidae and Euryglossinae, which are native only to Australia (Figure 3.4). Others are restricted, or largely restricted, to specific biomes. Stingless bees, Meliponini, are almost entirely tropical whereas the most species-rich bee genus, Andrena, is largely a north temperate taxon (Figure 3.5a). Still other taxa are almost ubiquitous: *Hylaeus* is found on all continents except Antarctica, which has no bees.

To be suitable for crop pollination, wild bees must be active simultaneously with crop flowering. Eusocial bees are often more suitable in this regard, because they are active throughout the growing season. They include the native Apis and Bombus species that extend from northern Africa to Asia, and in the case of Bombus also into the Americas. Those genera have had their ranges extended further by human introduction (below), and commonly exploit crops [35]. Most social Halictini, on the other hand, have pulses of activity, although their nests are often closed between brood producing periods [76]. Solitary bees with a single generation per year rarely forage for more than a few weeks, and the activity periods of specialist species are often tightly linked to the flowering periods of their preferred hosts. Nevertheless, such phenological matching can be used to advantage for crop pollination if a specialist species frequents wild relatives of the crop, as is the case for the nomiine Dieunomia and sunflowers [77].

The activity periods of solitary bees also vary taxonomically. For example, although most Andrena are active during spring, North American species of the subgenus Cnemidandrena fly during late summer or autumn [78]. Similarly, species of the Colletes inaequalis group are among the first bees active during spring in northeastern North America [79], whereas species of the Colletes succinctus group are active during late summer and autumn in Europe [80]. Such phenological characteristics exclude many bee species as potential crop pollinators, despite their contribution to the pollination of native plant species.





These data were obtained from [128] with the different regions delimited by national boundaries as close to those of the realm. Some of the variation among regions likely reflects different intensity of study of bee taxonomy

realms as possible. The greater generic diversity in the Neotropics for Colletidae, Halictidae and Apidae is evident, as is the low generic diversity of bees, except the Colletidae, in Australia. The pattern for species shares some similarities, such as the high diversity of Apidae in the Neotropics, but also some differences, such as the diversity of Halictidae in the Ethiopian



Figure 3.5

GEOGRAPHIC VARIATION IN THE NUMBERS OF SPECIES IN (A) THE THREE SUBFAMILIES OF ANDRENIDAE AND (B) THE THREE TAXONOMIC GROUPS OF BEES TO WHICH MOST MANAGED BEES BELONG (OTHER THAN *APIS* OR *BOMBUS* SPP.) AND FROM WHICH ADDITIONAL SPECIES MAY BE MOST SUITABLY EXAMINED FOR USE IN CROP POLLINATION



In addition to food requirements, the maintenance of viable wild bee populations in agricultural landscapes requires the provision of suitable nesting conditions. All Andrenidae, Melittidae and Stenotritidae, as well as the vast majority of Halictidae, nest in soil.

However, details of the preferred soil type, degree of shading and so on are known for comparatively few species [81, 82]. As a result, appropriate management practices are unclear. It is noteworthy that the most

(44)

intensively managed ground-nesting pollinator, the alkali bee (*Nomia melanderi*), has specific and somewhat unusual substrate requirements, including silty, sub-irrigated soils with salty surfaces [83] (Chapter 5). Other ground-nesting bees used for crop pollination include *Amegilla* spp. for tomatoes in Australian greenhouses [84] and cardamom in India [85] and New Guinea [86], and both *Augochloropsis* and *Exomalopsis* for tomato pollination in Mexico [87] among others (see Part III).

Some bee subfamilies nest primarily in wood or pithy stems, including most Hylaeinae, Megachilinae and Xylocopinae, which makes them particularly amenable to management, because suitable materials can be readily provided. The first of these are comparatively hairless bees that carry foraged pollen internally, and so are not suitable for crop pollination. Xylocopa are effective pollinators of blueberry and passion fruit (see Chapters 9 and 15), as well as greenhouse tomatoes and melons [88]. However, the clearing of woody debris prior to planting of passion fruit vines, a usual agricultural practice, results in crop failure [89]. In contrast, Xylocopa in artificial domiciles have been introduced effectively into passion fruit orchards in Brazil [90]. They also colonize unoccupied nest sites within the fields, although the placement of unoccupied nests in fields does not attract bees from outside [90].

Megachilidae have the largest number of managed solitary bees, but are also the family with the most diverse nesting requirements [91, 92]. Most species nest in pithy stems or holes in wood, but for some species almost any cavity is used for nesting (they have even been found in the fuel lines of downed aircraft [93]). There is a large literature on the use of alfalfa leafcutter bees and various orchard bee species [94, 95], but one recent study also demonstrates the importance of nest dispersion. Specifically, Osmia lignaria (the "Blue Orchard Bee") prefers to nest in plots with a high density of nest boxes (100 per plot) with few cavities (100 per box), rather than in plots with a lower density of nest boxes (25 per plot) with many cavities (400 per box), despite the same overall density of potential nest sites [96]. Such details of nest box design and spacing will impact bee reproductive success and potential for sustainable management.

The use of wild bees as agricultural pollinators must embrace more aspects of their biology than mentioned above. Those of particular relevance are population dynamics [97] and features of the mating system, such as the potential impact of diploid males [98] on the persistence of small bee populations. Variation in ecological traits among bees of different taxonomic groups must be considered when habitat is modified to enhance crop pollination by native bees. Consequently, the expanded use of wild bees in food production will require increased expenditure on basic taxonomy and natural history [99]. Tropical stingless bees (Meliponini) provide a prime example. These eusocial bees have long been managed for honey production [100, 101], and one genus, Melipona, is increasingly used for pollination of crops such as tomato, eggplant and *Capsicum* peppers [102–105]. Their use is expanding in Africa [105, 107], Australia [106] and Latin America [101, 108] (see Part IV). The group includes hundreds of species that may be used in agriculture (Figure 3.5b). However, the pollen and nectar preferences of only a handful are known, and even less is known about their pollination performance on particular crops [109].

3.1.9 Bee introductions

Motivated first by desire for honey and then by crop pollination problems, humans have promoted a few bee species and moved them beyond their original ranges. Accidental introductions can lead to successful colonization, even from a single, mated female [110]; however, some of the most problematic invasions have followed purposeful introduction for honey production or crop pollination [111, 112]. Most notably, honey bees and Bombus terrestris native to the Western Palaearctic have been spread around the world with human assistance. Both domesticated and wild varieties of honey bee are now nearly ubiquitous, and several European Bombus species have become naturalized in North and South America, Japan, New Zealand and Tasmania [113, 114]. In some regions, the alien bees have become superabundant, such as Africanized honey bees in the Neotropics [114–116] and B. terrestris in Patagonia [111]. In these cases, invasive bees overexploit flowers of both native and crop species, in some instances reducing fruit set because of intensive pollen theft [117] or flower damage [10]. Although exotic bees usually comprise only a small proportion of local bee diversity [118, 119], their abundance at a site can thus increase dramatically over time [114, 120] and spread rapidly upon introduction [111, 121],

with the potential for large-scale ecological [47] and agricultural impact [122].

In addition to reducing fruit and seed set as a result of over-visitation [10], introduced pollinators may diminish the reproduction of both cultivated and wild plants if they displace more effective native pollinators. Evidence for such impacts is varied. It is not clear whether the natural abundance of native bees decreases following invasion of the Africanized honey bee [47, 113, 114, 123]. Furthermore, visitation by wild bees to crop flowers sometimes varies independently of honey bee visitation [34]. However, invasion of Africanized honey bees has changed the preferences of native plant species by wild insects [47, 114]. Other studies have shown that the presence of managed honey bees can reduce the reproduction or fecundity of native bees, presumably though resource competition [124]. More seriously, the abundance of medium and large-bodied native bees declined following the arrival of *B. terrestris* in Israel in 1978 [125]. Similarly, the invasion of northwest Patagonia by B. ruderatus and then by B. terrestris over the last two decades has driven the native bumblebee B. dahlbomii to the brink of extinction [111]. The latter population collapse probably resulted from the susceptibility of the native bumblebee to pathogens transmitted from the invading congeners, rather than resource competition [126].

In summary, bee introduction can impose high environmental costs, while its benefit for crop pollination is arguable. As discussed, honey bees are often not particularly efficient pollinators. Their importance is likely to be greatest when the native pollinator community is so reduced that only managed honey beehives can replace the missing ecosystem service. Introduced bumblebees can be highly damaging to flowers when abundant, or cause the demise of other, more efficient, pollinators. Little information is available on the impact of other introduced bees [113], but available evidence suggests that future pollinator introduction should be strongly discouraged. Instead, pollination management practices should, wherever possible, promote diverse and healthy assemblages of native pollinators.

(46)

3.1.10 Conclusion

Humanity faces a major challenge as agricultural intensification and growth of cultivated areas increase to satisfy greater demands from a human population of growing size and affluence [127, 128]. However, with long-term, sustainable agricultural practices, higher agricultural production does not necessarily require further loss of biodiversity or major environmental degradation [127, 128]. Crop yield (tonnes ha⁻¹) is a key driver of farm profits, livelihoods and agricultural decisions, which influence land use at both local and global scales. This chapter discussed how yield could be limited by pollen quantity and quality. Pollination deficit is the difference between realized yield and potential achieved under optimal pollen guantity and quality conditions. Pollination deficits can arise for crops because, unlike other limits, such as nutrients and pests, pollen delivery is not managed directly in most agricultural systems. Consistent with these observations, global patterns of yield reveal that pollination deficits are common for crops dependent on animal pollination.

Pollination deficits reduce the yield growth of pollinator-dependent crops and also promote the cultivation of a larger area to satisfy production demands. Indeed, planting of pollinator-dependent crops is expanding three times faster than the managed honey bee population, potentially exacerbating chronic pollination deficits exhibited by many crops. As a consequence, crop yield increasingly depends on pollination services provided by wild insects, which contribute significantly to fruit or seed set, regardless of crop origin (exotic or native) and life history traits (herbaceous or woody, etc.). Honey bees supplement the role of wild insects but cannot replace them, so that efforts to maximize pollination require the conservation or enhancement of all available pollinators. However, managed and wild populations of pollinators are declining in many agricultural landscapes, and further introductions of alien species should be discouraged because of their manifold environmental impacts. This situation strongly motivates conservation or restoration of natural and semi-natural areas within agricultural landscapes.

Restoration is promoted through land use heterogeneity, the addition of diverse floral and nesting resources, and respect for pollinator safety when applying pesticides and herbicides. Natural history traits of local wild pollinators can often be used to improve the effectiveness of pollinator supporting practices. In general, the potential management of wild bees for crop pollination is still largely unrealized. Practices that enhance wild insects and associated crop pollination will usually provide resources for managed honey bee colonies, and can also enhance other ecosystem services, thereby creating positive feedback between healthy agricultural environments and high and stable crop yields.



REFERENCES

(48)

- Foley, J.A., DeFries, R., Asner, G.P., Barford, C., Bonan, C., Carpenter, S.R., Chapin, F.S., Coe, M.T., Daily, G.C., [1] Gibbs, H.K., Helkowski, J.H., Holloway, T., Howard, E.A., Kucharik, C.J., Monfreda, C., Patz, J.A., Prentice, I.C., Ramankutty, N. & Snyder, P.K. 2005. Global consequences of land use. Science, 309: 570–574.
- Garibaldi, L.A., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Kremen, C., Morales, J.M., Bommarco, R., Cunningham, S.A., Carvalheiro, [2] L.G., Chacoff, N.P., Dudenhöffer, J.H., Greenleaf, S.S., Holzschuh, A., Isaacs, R., Krewenka, K., Mandelik, Y., Mayfield, M.M., Morandin, L.A., Potts, S.G., Ricketts, T.H., Szentgyörgyi, H., Viana, B.F., Westphal, C., Winfree, R. & Klein, A.M. 2011. Stability of pollination services decreases with isolation from natural areas despite honey bee visits. Ecology Letters, 14: 1062–1072.
- [3] Winfree, R., Bartomeus, I. & Cariveau, D.P. 2011. Native pollinators in anthropogenic habitats. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution and Systematics, 42: 1–22.
- Mitchell, R.J. 1997. Effects of pollination intensity on Lesquerella fendleri seed set: variation among plants. [4] Oecologia, 109: 382-388.
- Fetscher, A.E. & Kohn, J.R. 1999. Stigma behavior in Mimulus aurantiacus (Scrophulariaceae). American Journal [5] of Botany, 86: 1130–1135.
- Cane, J.H. & Schiffhauer, D. 2003. Dose-response relationships between pollination and fruiting refine pollinator [6] comparisons for cranberry (Vaccinium macrocarpon [Ericaceae]). American Journal of Botany, 90: 1425–1432.
- Lizaso, J.I., Westgate, M.E., Batchelor, W.D. & Fonseca, A. 2003. Predicting potential kernel set in maize from [7] simple flowering characteristics. Crop Science, 43: 892-903.
- Aizen, M.A. & Harder, L.D. 2007. Expanding the limits of the pollen-limitation concept: effects of pollen quantity [8] and quality. *Ecology*, 88: 271–281.
- Richards, S.A., Williams, N.M. & Harder, L.D. 2009. Variation in pollination: causes and consequences for plant [9] reproduction. American Naturalist, 174: 382-398.
- [10] Morris, W.F., Vázquez, D.P. & Chacoff, N.P. 2010. Benefit and cost curves for typical pollination mutualisms. Ecology, 91: 1276-1285.
- Vaissière, B.E., Freitas, B.M. & Gemmill-Herren, B. 2011. Protocol to detect and assess pollination deficits in crops: [11] a handbook for its use. Rome, FAO.
- Byers, D.L. 1995. Pollen quantity and quality as explanations for low seed set in small populations exemplified [12] by Eupatorium (Asteraceae). American Journal of Botany, 82: 1000–1006.
- [13] Greenleaf, S.S. & Kremen, C. 2006. Wild bees enhance honey bees' pollination of hybrid sunflower. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA, 103: 13890–13895.
- Carvalheiro, L.G., Veldtman, R., Shenkute, A.G., Tesfay, G.B., Werner Pirk, C.W., Donaldson, J.S. & Nicolson, S.W. [14] 2011. Natural and within-farmland biodiversity enhances crop productivity. Ecology Letters, 14: 251–259.
- [15] Klein, A.M., Vaissière, B.E., Cane, J.H., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Cunningham, S.A., Kremen, C. & Tscharntke, T. 2007. Importance of pollinators in changing landscapes for world crops. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*, 274: 303-313.
- [16] Ollerton, J., Winfree, R. & Tarrant, S. 2011. How many flowering plants are pollinated by animals? Oikos, 120: 321-326.
- Kearns, C.A., Inouye, D.W. & Waser, N.M. 1998. Endangered mutualisms: the conservation of plant-pollinator [17] interactions. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics, 29: 83–112.
- [18] Williams, I.H. 1994. The dependences of crop production within the European Union on pollination by honey bees. Agricultural Zoology Reviews, 6: 229-257.

- pollinators? Lessons from long-term trends in crop production. Annals of Botany, 103: 1579-1588.
- agriculture confronted with pollinator decline. Ecological Economics, 68: 810-821.
- L.). Brazilian Archives of Biology and Technology, 48: 31–36.
- genetically modified canola. Ecological Applications, 15: 871-881.
- 108: 5909-5914.
- of Ecology, Evolution and Systematics, 36: 467–497.
- precision agriculture. Proceeding of the National Academy of Sciences USA, 96: 5952–5959.
- honeybees? Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 142: 137-143.
- declines: trends, impacts and drivers. Trends in Ecology and Evolution, 25: 345–353.
- pollinators. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment, 11: 251–259.
- pollination services. Proceedings of the Royal Society B, 280: 20122767.
- mass flowering crop. Journal of Applied Ecology, 46: 1080-1087.
- landscape context on three pollinator guilds. Ecology, 83: 1421-1432.
- [34] the Royal Society B, 270: 569–575.
- Science, 339: 1608–1611.
- demand for pollination. Current Biology, 19: 915-918.

[19] Roubik, D.W., ed. 1995. Pollination of cultivated plants in the tropics. Agricultural Services Bulletin No. 118. Rome, FAO.

[20] Aizen, M.A., Garibaldi, L.A., Cunningham, S.A. & Klein, A.M. 2009. How much does agriculture depend on

[21] Gallai, N., Salles, J.M., Settele, J. & Vaissière, B.E. 2009. Economic valuation of the vulnerability of world

[22] Chiari, W.C., Arnaut de Toledo, V.A., Colla Ruvolo-Takasusuki, M.C., Braz de Oliveira, A.J., Sakaguti, E.S., Attencia, V.M., Costa, F.M. & Mitsui, M.H. 2005. Pollination of soybean (Glycine max L. Merril) by honey bees (Apis mellifera

[23] Morandin, L.A. & Winston, M.L. 2005. Wild bee abundance and seed production in conventional, organic, and

[24] Garibaldi, L.A., Aizen, M.A., Klein, A.M., Cunningham, S.A. & Harder, L.D. 2011. Global growth and stability of agricultural yield decrease with pollinator dependence. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA,

[25] Knight, T.M., Steets, J.A., Vamosi, J.C., Mazer, S.J., Burd, M., Campbell, D.R., Dudash, M.R., Johnston, M.O., Mitchell, R.J. & Ashman, T-L. 2005. Pollen limitation of plant reproduction: pattern and process. Annual Review

[26] Cassman, K.G. 1999. Ecological intensification of cereal production systems: yield potential, soil quality, and

[27] Breeze, T.D., Bailey, A.P., Balcombe, K.G. & Potts, S.G. 2011. Pollination services in the UK: how important are

[28] Potts, S.G., Biesmeijer, J.C., Kremen, C., Neumann, P., Schweiger, O. & Kunin, W.E. 2010. Global pollinator

[29] Vanbergen, A.J. & The Insect Pollinators Initiative. 2013. Threats to an ecosystem service: pressures on

[30] Brittain, C., Williams, N., Kremen, C. & Klein, A.M. 2013. Synergistic effects of non-Apis bees and honey bees for

[31] Rader, R., Howlett, B.G., Cunningham, S.A., Westcott, D.A., Newstrom-Lloyd, L.E., Walker, M.K., Teulon, D.A.J. & Edwards, W. 2009. Alternative pollinator taxa are equally efficient but not as effective as the honeybee in a

[32] Gathmann, A. & Tscharntke, T. 2002. Foraging ranges of solitary bees. Journal of Animal Ecology, 71: 757–764.

[33] Steffan-Dewenter, I., Münzenberg, U., Bürger, C., Thies, C. & Tscharntke, T. 2002. Scale-dependent effects of

Steffan-Dewenter, I. & Kuhn, A. 2003. Honeybee foraging in differentially structured landscapes. Proceedings of

[35] Garibaldi, L.A., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Winfree, R., Aizen, M.A., Bommarco, R., Cunningham, S.A., Kremen, C., Carvalheiro, L.G., Harder, L.D., Afik, O., Bartomeus, I., Benjamin, F., Boreux, B., Cariveau, D., Chacoff, N.P., Dudenhöffer, J.H., Freitas, B.M., Ghazoul, J., Greenleaf, S., Hipólito, J., Holzschuh, A., Howlett, B., Isaacs, R., Javorek, S.K., Kennedy, C.M., Krewenka, K.M., Krishnan, S., Mandelik, Y., Mayfield, M.M., Motzke, I., Munyuli, T., Nault, B.A., Otieno, M., Petersen, J., Pisanty, G., Potts, S.G., Rader, R., Ricketts, T.H., Rundlöf, M., Seymour, C.L., Schüepp, C., Szentgyörgyi, H., Taki, H., Tscharntke, T., Vergara, C.H., Viana, B.F., Wanger, T.C., Westphal, C., Williams, N. & Klein, A.M. 2013. Wild pollinators enhance fruit set of crops regardless of honey bee abundance.

[36] Aizen, M.A. & Harder, L.D. 2009. The global stock of domesticated honey bees is growing slower than agricultural

(50)

- [37] Aizen, M.A. & Harder, L.D. 2009. Geographic variation in the growth of domesticated honey-bee stocks. *Communicative and Integrative Biology*, 2: 464–466.
- Morse, R.A. & Calderone, N.W. 2000. The value of honey bees as pollinators of U.S. crops in 2000. Bee Culture, [38] 128: 1-15.
- [39] Blüthgen, N. & Klein, A.M. 2011. Functional complementarity and specialisation: the role of biodiversity in plant-pollinator interactions. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, 12: 282–291.
- Rader, R., Reilly, J., Bartomeus, I. & Winfree, R. 2013. Native bees buffer the negative impact of climate warming [40] on honey bee pollination of watermelon crops. Global Change Biology, 19: 3103–3110
- Brittain, C., Kremen, C. & Klein, A.M. 2013. Biodiversity buffers pollination from changes in environmental [41] conditions. Global Change Biology, 19: 540-547.
- Kjøhl, M., Nielsen, A. & Stenseth, N.C. 2011. Potential effects of climate change on crop pollination. FAO, Rome. [42]
- [43] Wesselingh, R.A. 2007. Pollen limitation meets resource allocation: towards a comprehensive methodology. New *Phytologist*, 174: 26–37.
- Waser, N.M., Chittka, L., Price, M.V, Williams, N.M. & Ollerton, J. 1996. Generalization in pollination systems, [44] and why it matters. *Ecology*, 77: 1043–1060.
- Winfree, R. & Kremen, C. 2009. Are ecosystem services stabilized by differences among species? A test using crop [45] pollination. Proceedings of the Royal Society B, 276: 229–237.
- [46] Hoehn, P., Tscharntke, T., Tylianakis, J.M. & Steffan-Dewenter, I. 2008. Functional group diversity of bee pollinators increases crop yield. Proceedings of the Royal Society B, 275: 2283–2291.
- Roubik, D.W. & Villanueva-Gutiérrez, R. 2009. Invasive Africanized honey bee impact on native solitary bees: a [47] pollen resource and trap nest analysis. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society*, 98: 152–160.
- Cardinale, B.J., Duffy, J.E., Gonzalez, A., Hooper, D.U., Perrings, C., Venail, P., Narwani, A., Mace, G.M., Tilman, [48] D., Wardle, D.A., Kinzig, A.P., Daily, G.C., Loreau, M., Grace, J.B., Larigauderie, A., Srivastava D.S., & Naeem, S. 2012. Biodiversity loss and its impact on humanity. Nature, 486: 59–67.
- Klein, A.M., Müller, C., Hoehn, P. & Kremen, C. 2009. Understanding the role of species richness for crop [49] pollination services. In D.E. Bunker, A. Hector, M. Loreau, C. Perrings & S. Naeem, eds. Biodiversity, ecosystem functioning, and human well being: an ecological and economic perspective, pp. 195-204. New York, USA, Oxford University Press.
- [50] Tscharntke, T., Klein, A.M., Kruess, A., Steffan-Dewenter, I. & Thies, C. 2005. Landscape perspectives on agricultural intensification and biodiversity - ecosystem service management. Ecology Letters, 8: 857-874.
- [51] Garibaldi, L.A., Carvalheiro, L.G., Leonhardt, S.D., Aizen, M.A., Blaauw, B.R., Isaacs, R., Kuhlmann, M., Kleijn, D., Klein, A.M., Kremen, C., Morandin, L., Scheper, J. & Winfree, R. 2014. From research to action: practices to enhance crop yield through wild pollinators. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment, 12: 439–447.
- [52] Morandin, L.A. & Kremen, C. 2013. Hedgerow restoration promotes pollinator populations and exports native bees to adjacent fields. Ecological Applications, 23: 829-839.
- Isaacs, R., Tuell, J., Fiedler, A., Gardiner, M. & Landis, D. 2009. Maximizing arthropod-mediated ecosystem services [53] in agricultural landscapes: the role of native plants. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment, 7: 196–203.
- [54] Sáez, A., Sabatino, M. & Aizen, M.A. 2014. La diversidad floral del borde afecta la riqueza y abundancia de visitantes florales nativos en cultivos de girasol [Floral border diversity affects richness and abundance of native floral visitors on sunflower crops]. Ecología Austral, 24: 94-102.
- [55] Steffan-Dewenter, I. & Schiele, S. 2008. Do resources or natural enemies drive bee population dynamics in fragmented habitats? Ecology, 89: 1375–1387.

- *Ecology Letters,* 16: 584–599.
- higher pollinator diversity. Oikos, 117: 354-361.
- PLoS One, 7: 2-5.
- colony growth and queen production. *Science*, 336: 351–352.
- colony-level traits in bees. Nature, 491: 105-108.
- from natural habitat even in biodiversity-rich areas. Journal of Applied Ecology, 47: 810-820.
- habitat on farms. Portland, OR, USA, Xerces Society for Invertebrate Conservation.
- benefits, externalities, and trade-offs. Ecology and Society, 17: 40.
- crops. Biological Reviews of the Cambridge Philosophical Society, 88: 1002–1021.
- and managed bees. Journal of Applied Ecology, 47: 841-849.
- A review. Agronomy for Sustainable Development, 33: 257–274.
- by cocoa production systems in Ghana. *Journal of Pollination Ecology*, 5: 74–80.
- analysis. Ecology Letters, 16: 912–920.
- size. Oecologia, 153: 589-596.
- habitat. Apidologie, 44: 90-99.
- non-random assembly rules in grassland communities. Journal of Ecology, 93: 1062–1070.
- [73] Michener, C.D. 2007. The bees of the world (2nd edn). Baltimore, MD, USA, Johns Hopkins University Press.

Kennedy, C.M., Lonsdorf, E., Neel, M.C., Williams, N.M., Ricketts, T.H., Winfree, R., Bommarco, R., Brittain, C., Burley, A.L., Cariveau, D., Carvalheiro, L.G., Chacoff. N.P., Cunningham, S.A., Danforth, B.N., Dudenhöffer, J-H., Elle, E., Gaines, H.R., Garibaldi, L.A., Gratton, C., Holzschuh, A., Isaacs, R., Javorek, S.K., Jha, S., Klein, A.M., Krewenka, K., Mandelik, Y., Mayfield, M.M., Morandin, L., Neame, L.A., Otiene, M., Park, M., Potts, S.G., Rundlöf, M., Saez, A., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Taki, H., Viana, B.F., Westphal, C., Wilson, J.K., Greenleaf, S.S. & Kremen, C. 2013. A global quantitative synthesis of local and landscape effects on wild bee pollinators in agroecosystems.

[57] Holzschuh, A., Steffan-Dewenter, I. & Tscharntke, T. 2008. Agricultural landscapes with organic crops support

[58] Andersson, G.K.S., Rundlöf, M. & Smith, H.G. 2012. Organic farming improves pollination success in strawberries.

[59] Whitehorn, P.R., O'Connor, S., Wackers, F.L. & Goulson, D. 2012. Neonicotinoid pesticide reduces bumble bee

[60] Gill, R.J., Ramos-Rodriguez, O. & Raine, N.E. 2012. Combined pesticide exposure severely affects individual- and

[61] Carvalheiro, L.G., Seymour, C.L., Nicolson, S.W. & Veldtman, R. 2012. Creating patches of native flowers facilitates crop pollination in large agricultural fields: mango as a case study. Journal of Applied Ecology, 49: 1373–1383.

[62] Carvalheiro, L.G., Seymour, C.L., Veldtman, R. & Nicolson, S.W. 2010. Pollination services decline with distance

[63] Vaughan, M., Shepherd, M., Kremen, C. & Black, S.H. 2007. Farming For bees: guidelines for providing native bee

[64] Kremen, C. & Miles, A. 2012. Ecosystem services in biologically diversified versus conventional farming systems:

[65] Shackelford, G., Steward, P.R., Benton, T.G., Kunin, W.E., Potts, S.G., Biesmeijer, J.C. & Sait, S.M. 2013. Comparison of pollinators and natural enemies: a meta-analysis of landscape and local effects on abundance and richness in

[66] Isaacs, R. & Kirk, A.K. 2010. Pollination services provided to small and large highbush blueberry fields by wild

[67] Nicholls, C.I. & Altieri, M.A. 2013. Plant biodiversity enhances bees and other insect pollinators in agroecosystems.

[68] Frimpong, E.A., Gemmill-Herren, B., Gordon, I. & Kwapong, P.K. 2011. Dynamics of insect pollinators as influenced

[69] Scheper, J., Holzschuh, A., Kuussaari, M., Potts, S.G., Rundlöf, M., Smith, H.G. & Kleijn, D. 2013. Environmental factors driving the effectiveness of European agri-environmental measures in mitigating pollinator loss - a meta-

[70] Greenleaf, S.S., Williams, N.M., Winfree, R. & Kremen, C. 2007. Bee foraging ranges and their relationship to body

[71] Dorchin, A., Filin, I., Izhaki, I. & Dafni, A. 2013. Movement patterns of solitary bees in a threatened fragmented

[72] Turnbull, L.A., Rahm, S., Baudois, O., Wacker, L. & Schmid, B. 2005. Experimental invasion by legumes reveals

(52)

- [74] Hedtke, S.M., Patiny, S. & Danforth, B.N. 2013. The bee tree of life: a supermatrix approach to apoid phylogeny and biogeography. BMC Evolutionary Biology, 13: 138.
- [75] Michener, C.D. 1979. Biogeography of the bees. *Annals of the Missouri Botanical Garden*, 66: 277–347.
- [76] Packer, L. & Knerer, G. 1986. The biology of a subtropical population of *Halictus ligatus* Say (Hymenoptera; Halictidae). I. Phenology and social organisation. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology*, 18: 363–375.
- Minckley, R.L., Wcislo, W.T., Yanega, D. & Buchmann, S.L. 1994. Behavior and phenology of a specialist bee [77] (*Dieunomia*) and sunflower (*Helianthus*) pollen availability. *Ecology*, 75: 1406–1419.
- Donovan, B.J. 1977. North American bees of the subgenus Cnemidandrena (Hymenoptera: Andrenidae). Berkeley, [78] CA, USA, University of California Press.
- [79] Batra, S.W.T. 1980. Ecology, behavior, pheromones, parasites and management of the sympatric vernal bees Colletes inaequalis, C. thoracicus and C. validus. Journal of the Kansas Entomological Society, 53: 509-538.
- [80] Kuhlmann, M. & Ozbek, H. 2007. Checklist of the bees of the genus Colletes Latreille 1802 of Turkey (Hymenoptera, Apoidea, Colletidae). Journal of the Entomological Research Society, 9: 7–31.
- [81] Sardiñas, H.S. & Kremen, C. 2014. Evaluating nesting microhabitat for ground-nesting bees using emergence traps. Basic and Applied Ecology, 15: 161–168.
- Cane, J.H. 1991. Soils of ground-nesting bees (Hymenoptera: Apoidea): texture, moisture, cell depth and climate. [82] Journal of the Kansas Entomological Society, 64: 406–413.
- [83] Pitts-Singer, T.L. 2008. Past and present management of alfalfa bees. In R.R. James & T. Pitts-Singer, eds. Bee pollination in agricultural ecosystems, pp. 105–123. New York, USA, Oxford University Press.
- Hagendoorn, K., Gross, C.L., Sedgley, M. & Keller, M.A. 2006. Increased tomato yield through pollination by native [84] Australian Amegilla chlorocyanea (Hymenoptera: Anthophoridae). Journal of Economic Entomology, 99: 828–833.
- Kuriakose, G., Sinu, P.A. & Shivanna, K.R. 2009. Domestication of cardamom (*Elettaria cardamomum*) in Western [85] Ghats, India: divergence in productive traits and a shift in major pollinators. Annals of Botany, 103: 727–733.
- Stone, G.N. & Willmer, P.G. 1989. Pollination of cardamom in Papua New Guinea. Journal of Apicultural Research, [86] 28: 228-237.
- Macias-Macias, O., Chuc, J., Ancona-Xiu, P., Cauich, O. & Quezada-Euán, J.J.G. 2009. Contribution of native bees [87] and Africanized honey bees (Hymenoptera: Apoidea) to Solanaceae crop pollination in tropical México. Journal of Applied Entomology, 133: 456–465.
- [88] Keasar, T. 2010. Large carpenter bees as agricultural pollinators. *Psyche*, 2010: 1–7.
- Packer, L. 2010. Keeping the bees: why all bees are at risk and what we can do to save them. Toronto, Canada, [89] Harper Collins.
- [90] Junqueira, C.N., Yamamoto, M., Oliveira, P.E., Hogendoorn, K. & Augusto, S.C. 2013. Nest management increases pollinator density in passion fruit orchards. Apidologie, 44: 729-737.
- [91] Cane, J.H., Griswold, T. & Parker, F.D. 2007. Substrates and materials used for nesting by North American Osmia bees (Hymenoptera: Apiformes: Megachilidae). Annals of the Entomological Society of America, 100: 350–358.
- Sedivy, C. & Dorn, S. 2014. Towards a sustainable management of bees of the subgenus Osmia (Megachilidae; [92] Osmia) as fruit tree pollinators. Apidologie, 45: 88–105.
- [93] Eickwort, G.C. & Rozen, J.C. 1997. The entomological evidence. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 42: 394–397.
- [94] James, R.R. & Pitts-Singer, T.L., eds. 2008. Bee pollination in agricultural ecosystems. New York, USA, Oxford University Press.
- [95] Pitts-Singer, T.L. & Cane, J.H. 2011. The alfalfa leafcutting bee, Megachile rotundata: the world's most intensively managed solitary bee. Annual Review of Entomology, 56: 221-237.

- Conservation and Diversity, 6: 715–724.
- Review of Entomology, 56: 293–312.
- haplodiploid populations. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA, 102: 10742–10746.
- research. Journal of Pollination Ecology, 3: 8-23.
- 275-292.
- & Business Media.
- greenhouse *Capsicum* production. *Journal of Apicultural Research*, 50: 102–115.

- a follow-up survey, one decade on. Journal of Apicultural Research, 52: 1–7.
- a training manual for stingless beekeeping. Accra, Unimax MacMillan Ltd.
- in Mexico. Southwestern Entomologist, 38: 133-148.
- handle/123456789/35292).
- One, 2: e868.
- bee by invasive species. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment, 11: 529–534.
- from commercial to wild populations. *Biological Conservation*, 129: 461–467.
- *Systematics*, 34: 1–26.
- *Colombiana*, 14: 115–124.

[96] Artz, D.R., Allan, M.J., Wardell, G.I. & Pitts-Singer, T.L. 2013. Nesting site density and distribution affect Osmia lignaria (Hymenoptera: Megachilidae) reproductive success and almond yield in a commercial orchard. Insect

[97] Roulston, T.H. & Goodell, K. 2011. The role of resources and risks in regulating wild bee populations. Annual

[98] Zayed, A. & Packer, L. 2005. Complementary sex determination substantially increases extinction proneness of

[99] Mayer, C., Adler, L., Armbruster, W.S., Dafni, A., Eardley, C., Huang, S-Q., Kevan, P.G., Ollerton, J., Packer, L., Ssymank, A., Stout, J.C. & Potts, S. 2011. Pollination ecology in the 21st century: key questions for future

[100] Cortopassi-Laurino, M., Imperatriz-Fonseca, V.L., Roubik, D.W., Dollin, A., Heard, T., Aguilar, I., Venturieri, G.C., Eardley, C. & Nogueira-Neto, P. 2006. Global meliponiculture: challenges and opportunities. Apidologie, 37:

[101] Vit, P., Pedro, S.R.M. & Roubik, D.W. 2013. Pot-honey: a legacy of stingless bees. New York, USA, Springer Science

[102] Heard, T.A. 1999. The role of stingless bees in crop pollination. Annual Review of Entomology, 44: 183–206.

[103] Greco, M.K., Spooner-Hart, R.N., Beattie, A., Barchia, I. & Holford, P. 2011. Australian stingless bees improve

[104] Nunes-Silva, P., Hrncir, M., da Silva, C.I., Roldao, Y.S. & Imperatriz-Fonseca, V.L. 2013. Stingless bees, Melipona fasciculata, as efficient pollinators of eggplant (Solanum melongena) in greenhouses. Apidologie, 44: 537–546.

[105] Kiatoko, N., Raina, S.K., Muli, E. & Mueke, J. 2014. Enhancement of fruit quality in *Capsicum annuum* through pollination by Hypotrigona gribodoi in Kakamega, Western Kenya. Entomological Science, 17: 106–110.

[106] Halcroft, M.T., Spooner-Hart, R., Haigh, A.M., Heard, T.A. & Dollin, A. 2013. The Australian stingless bee industry:

[107] Kwapong, P.K., Aidoo, K., Combey, R. & Karikari, A. 2010. Stingless bee importance, management and utilisation:

[108] Torres-Ruiz, A., Jones, R.W. & Ayala Barajas, R. 2013. Present and potential use of bees as managed pollinators

[109] Vit, P. & Roubik, D.W., eds. 2013. Stingless bees process honey and pollen in cerumen pots. Mérida, Venezuela, Facultad de Farmacia y Bioanálisis, Universidad de Los Andes (available at www.saber.ula.ve/

[110] Zayed, A., Constantin, S.A. & Packer, L. 2007. Successful biological invasion despite a severe genetic load. PLoS

[111] Morales, C.L., Arbetman, M.P., Cameron, S.A. & Aizen, M.A. 2013. Rapid ecological replacement of a native bumble

[112] Colla, S.R., Otterstatter, M.C., Gegear, R.J. & Thomson, J.D. 2006. Plight of the bumble bee: pathogen spillover

[113] Goulson, D. 2003. Effects of introduced bees on native ecosystems. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and

[114] Roubik, D.W. 2009. Ecological impact on native bees by the invasive Africanized honey bee. Acta Biológica

- [115] Aizen, M.A. & Feinsinger, P. 1994. Forest fragmentation, pollination, and plant reproduction in a Chaco dry forest, Argentina. *Ecology*, 75: 330–351.
- [116] Schneider, S.S., DeGrandi-Hoffman, G. & Smith, D.R. 2004. The African honey bee: factors contributing to a successful biological invasion. *Annual Review of Entomology*, 49: 351–376.
- [117] Hargreaves, A.L., Harder, L.D. & Johnson, S.D. 2009 Consumptive emasculation: the ecological and evolutionary consequences of pollen theft. *Biological Reviews*, 84: 259–276.
- [118] Cane, J.H. 2003. Exotic non-social bees (Hymenoptera: Apoidea) in North America: ecological implications. In K. Stirckler & J.H. Cane, eds. For non-native crops, whence pollinators for the future?, pp. 113–126. Lanham, MA, USA, Thomas Say Publications, Entomological Society of America.
- [119] Sheffield, C.S., Kevan, P.G., Pindar, A. & Packer, L. 2013. Bee (Hymenoptera: Apoidea) diversity within apple orchards and old fields in the Annapolis Valley, Nova Scotia, Canada. *Canadian Entomologist*, 145: 94–114.
- [120] Grixti, J.C. & Packer, L. 2006. Changes in the bee fauna (Hymenoptera: Apoidea) of an old field site in southern Ontario, revisited after 34 years. *Canadian Entomologist*, 138: 147–164.
- [121] Gibbs, J. & Sheffield, C.S. 2009. Rapid range expansion of the wool-carder bee, *Anthidium manicatum* (Linnaeus) (Hymenoptera: Megachilidae), in North America. *Journal of the Kansas Entomological Society*, 82: 21–29.
- [122] Aizen, M.A., Morales, C.L. & Morales, J.M. 2008. Invasive mutualists erode native pollination webs. PLoS Biology, 6: e31.
- [123] Roubik, D.W. & Wolda, H. 2001. Do competing honey bees matter? Dynamics and abundance of native bees before and after honey bee invasion. *Population Ecology*, 43: 53–62.
- [124] Paini, D.R. & Roberts, J.D. 2005. Commercial honey bees (*Apis mellifera*) reduce the fecundity of an Australian native bee (*Hylaeus alcyoneus*). *Biological Conservation*, 123: 103–112.
- [125] Dafni, A. & Shmida, A. 1996. The possible ecological implications of the invasion of *Bombus terrestris* (L.) (Apidae) at Mt Carmel, Israel. In A. Matheson, S.L. Buchmann, C. O'Toole, P. Westrich & I.H. Williams, eds. *The conservation of bees*, pp. 183–200. London, Academic Press.
- [126] Arbetman, M.P., Meeus, I., Morales, C.L., Aizen, M.A. & Smagghe, G. 2013. Alien parasite hitchhikes to Patagonia on invasive bumblebee. *Biological Invasions*, 15: 489–494.
- [127] Royal Society of London. 2009. *Reaping the benefits: science and the sustainable intensification of global agriculture.* London, The Royal Society.
- [128] Cunningham, S.A., Attwood, S.J., Bawa, K.S., Benton, T.G., Broadhurst, L.M., Didhamf, R.K., McIntyrea, S., Perfectoh, I., Samwaysi, M.J., Tscharntkej, T., Vandermeerh, J., Villardk, M-A., Younge, A.G., Lindenmayerl, D.B. 2013. To close the yield-gap while saving biodiversity will require multiple locally relevant strategies. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 173: 20–27.
- [129] Ascher, J.S. & Pickering, J. 2014. *Discover life bee species guide and world checklist (Hymenoptera: Apoidea: Anthophila)* (available at www.discoverlife.org/mp/20q?guide=Apoidea_species&flags=HAS).

3.2 ALTERNATIVES TO ARTIFICIAL POLLINATOR POPULATIONS R. Krell

3.2.1 Introduction⁵

Agricultural practices have undergone drastic changes over the last 100 years. The push towards mechanization in recent decades has seen everlarger areas devoted to the cultivation of single crops with the aim of maximizing profit, alongside increased use of chemical fertilizers, herbicides and pesticides. Higher and higher production goals ignored the long-term effects on pollinators, with the pollination requirements of many crops taken into consideration only once changes in cultivation practices demonstrated new production limits. In the meantime, numerous natural pollinator populations were diminished or lost. Until very recently, honey bees were still considered dangerous and damaging to fruit orchards, and while the tremendous progress made in understanding the beneficial interactions of insects and plants has given rise to many potential applications, these have yet to be implemented.

Although exploitative agricultural practices similar to those described above have long been promoted in both tropical and subtropical developing countries, many regions are still undergoing the process of transformation. Other areas have come under pressures such as population growth or desertification, which also result in drastic changes to habitats.

This section presents ideas related to pollinator needs and for improving degraded habitats and those still to be transformed. Such a discussion cannot neglect social, technical and other environmental concerns. At the same time it is beyond the scope of this book to consider all possible aspects. Therefore, emphasis is placed on ideas and principles that should be considered by planners, technicians and others involved in making sustainable agriculture and multiple, sustained, non-destructive use of forests a reality. The

54

concepts necessarily include subjects such as biological pest control and the promotion of less capital-intensive farming practices (e.g. intercropping, rotation and cover-crop plantings). These ideas require a new but not necessarily more difficult approach to improving agricultural efficiency. They also depend on a better understanding of the biological, physical and social interactions underlying all agricultural production.

Suggesting practices such as the foregoing examples to village communities and countries which have much more pressing problems may seem idealistic, particularly when such practices are not employed in other more stable industrialized countries not facing continuous emergency situations. However, traditional agriculture often resembles closely modern approaches that minimize dependence on agricultural chemicals and destructive land-use practices, albeit at a reduced scale. The goal is to highlight alternatives to increased agricultural production at any cost. Fortunately, methods exist that can be employed without the need for large-scale, long-term scientific studies, huge investments or loss of productivity, and rely instead on common sense.

It seems unreasonable to place an additional burden on the shoulders of the weakest link in the chain, the primary producer. Instead, a communal or concerted effort could be promoted by providing other benefits, such as better prices, greater access to markets and privileged access to the omnipresent subsidies. This also requires a change in the attitude of local politicians, bankers and merchants, as well as those countries and organizations that function as the primary source of finance, buyers, teaching and technology transfers. In this way, improvement in pollinator availability becomes a "global" problem in the purest sense. As with all global problems, the solution necessarily begins with the smallest details and changes in the attitudes of each and every one of us.

The following sections present a range of ideas which can be tested, improved upon and transferred to relevant stakeholders for active implementation, as well as to others for inclusion in a more global, complete plan of development.

For ease of reading, principal and general references are included at the end of the section.

3.2.2 Mechanical pollination and chemical pollination

Pollination by hand may be feasible under a certain limited circumstances and for small-scale production such as home gardens. On a larger production scale it is not profitable. Traditional date palm pollination or sometimes passion fruit and special hybrid seed production, as well as orchid propagation, including *Vanilla*, is done by hand. Increasing use is made of insect pollinators, even for greenhouse production. Mechanical pollination of fruit trees (apples and peaches) with large blowers has been attempted, but never incorporated into commercial enterprises. Thus, hand or mechanical pollination will remain restricted in application and cannot replace pollinators in agriculture on a large scale.

3.2.3 Habitat management for wild pollinators

The natural pollinators of wild plants and agricultural crops include a wide variety of organisms, not just bees and certainly not just honey bees. But aside from the pollinators whose populations can be manipulated or managed in large numbers, there exist a wide array of bee and non-bee pollinators capable of pollinating agricultural crops. Not the least important among theses are a variety of flies. Over a hundred different insect species can be observed on the flowers of certain fruit trees, although not all contribute significantly to their pollination. Maintaining such a diverse insect fauna increases the chance of sufficient pollination without the need for additional pollinator populations.

In order to ensure a sufficient number of wild pollinators, their habitats must be preserved and maintained. This means that the adult and larval stages of the pollinators need to locate food (often highly specific flowers, leaves, other insects, etc.). For many pollinators, nesting sites are also required. Some insects require certain soil conditions to survive during one of their life stages. For migratory species such as certain varieties of hummingbird or Asian and African honey bees, the habitats needed at each extreme of the migratory range must be preserved to ensure that sufficient numbers return during the next migratory season. In short, it is crucial to know the life history and requirements of species to ensure their conservation and multiplication. This is a demanding task even for the much less diverse fauna of the betterstudied temperate climates. Fortunately, as long as the original plant cover of wildlands is preserved, much of the diversity will maintain itself.

What is the best way to determine the correct size of habitat for these purposes? Opinions are divided on this matter. Because few definitive scientific studies will be completed in the available time, the only safe approach is to conserve the largest possible area. Minimum requirements for some of the better-studied larger animals and ecosystems are known. For example, insect populations probably do not need the same size of habitat as certain mammalian predators. However, since many insects depend on other plant and animal species, they likely need somewhat extensive habitats for their survival. As more information is amassed about beneficial insects and other animals, the capacity of experts to prepare smaller habitats for them will increase.

In the event that only small islands of non-cultivated land can be maintained, it may be necessary to selectively plant and control species in those habitats to maintain pollinator populations that better suit the needs of these special environments (see also Part IV). If the more important natural pollinators for the crops are known, plant species used by these pollinators can be planted or maintained selectively. This approach would ensure the availability of flowers at the correct time. These selected habitats need more advanced planning in land use and also require more management, as they are less stable, being largely artificial. The lower the level of management possible in an area, the larger the area will have to be in order to maintain the required species diversity and abundance.

The composition of reserves or protected habitats will differ across regions and climates, but all should share a few common characteristics:

- a large diversity (to the extent possible) of local or locally adapted plants;
- freedom from exposure to pesticides;

- connection between habitat "patches" to enable species exchange, migration, etc.;
- sufficient numbers and distribution of such habitats in order to provide benefits to many agricultural producers.

The economic benefit of protected habitats cannot be justified only by the provision of pollinators and resulting production increase, particularly if only a few crops planted benefit from abundant pollinators. Additional values have to be found and a plausible intrinsic value for the local population, since monetary values are often of less importance. In order to make the additional effort worthwhile for the farmer, these small pieces of "unused" or "unaesthetic" land should preferably have another direct benefit, such as the provision of water, firewood, fruits, fodder, windbreaks, soil improvement or erosion control. If sustainable habitats are to be created or preserved, intrinsic values might include:

- traditional use of plants and forest for hunting
- food reserves for years in which crops fail
- medicinal resources
- ceremonial or religious uses.

Thus, the reserve size or species composition of such habitats might also be determined by intended alternative uses and established values.

While large reserves, such as biosphere reserves and World Heritage reserves, can and must conserve entire ecosystems, many small habitats can also preserve natural, beneficial pollinator species where they are needed. The smallest such habitats are field boundaries, hedges between fields and forest edges with various stages of successional plant growth. Following in size are fallow fields, planted forest patches for firewood and other communal or private uses, forests along river edges (riparian forests) and other pockets of more or less managed natural forests, preferably all connected to each other.

Hedges: Hedges play important roles in traditional agricultural systems in extreme climatic or geographical conditions, such as steep slopes or windswept plains. Their benefits can also be enjoyed in tropical climates. Apart from possible aesthetic values,

hedges act as food and nesting resources for a large variety of animals, including pollinators such as birds, bats and insects. They also include windbreaks and livestock fences, provide erosion control, may stabilize dunes and water runoff, and produce firewood, fodder, fruits and medicinal plants.

Hedge communities can be chosen by observing local habitats and selecting those species most closely matching the desired hedge environment. The woody or shrubby hedge species should be chosen according to the major benefits expected from the hedge. Among suitable plant species, those that improve soil, provide rich nectar and pollen sources or have the most diverse use, may be preferred. Orientation of the hedgerows may follow land contours, property boundaries or be positioned to avoid (or enhance) the shading of cultivated plants.

Companion species should be planted or seeded according to the shade the mature hedge will provide. Naturally, shade-tolerant species should be in the centre of the hedge and on the side receiving more shade during the hottest part of the day. Some maintenance may be required to prevent one species from dominating and eliminating all others. But it is important to avoid weeding by completely destroying any plant cover, so common in tropical countries. The possible creation of natural hazards by providing new sites for poisonous snakes or stinging insects should also be taken into consideration. Sensible control by the elimination of such hazards is usually feasible.

Single or multiple-species hedges are frequently used for erosion control where they directly contribute to increased agricultural production, not only through feeding and protecting beneficial insects, including pollinators, but also through maintaining or improving soil and providing additional crops or food.

Fast-growing species that are easy to establish are preferred, especially if they are nitrogenfixing legumes such as *Gliricidia sepium*, *Calliandra calothyrsus*, *Acacia decurrens* or *Desmodium rezonii*. These species give nectar and are actively sought by important pollinators like *Xylocopa* and *Apis*. The trees also can be pruned for mulching, animal fodder and firewood. Hedge pruning often determines whether

species come to flower and provide nectar for bees. Selecting woody plants that act as pollinator food sources is sensible, as long as management of the hedges allows for flowering. The width of the hedge may vary with its overall function from a single row of planted sticks to a couple of metres.

Field boundaries: Field boundaries, in contrast to hedges, may or may not consist of perennial or woody species. They can be cultivated as boundaries by ploughing, cutting or spraying to maintain selected beneficial plant species for weed, pest and soil control, as well as to provide alternative food sources for pollinator species. Their width and maintenance may change more frequently with the rotation of crops.

Roadsides may cover considerable areas in some countries. These surfaces can be managed by cutting, which is fairly expensive, or by seeding and selective planting in order to maintain growth in certain successional stages. This allows them to serve functions similar to those of field boundaries, hedges or even small forest patches.

Home gardens: Due to their size, home gardens do not usually contribute much to feeding large pollinator populations. However, when entire villages plant flowering hedges around their homes, as well as fruit trees and bushes, and cultivate other flowers and certain vegetables, these habitats provide limited support for pollinator populations. Most of all, they constitute a source of food when there are few or no wild flowers nearby. This can be particularly helpful for beekeeping with species such as the Asia *Apis*, stingless bees and many non-*Apis* pollinators.

Riparian forests: Riparian forests grow in the immediate vicinity of a creek or river and perform an important ecological function by preventing soil runoff into the creeks, thus keeping water clear and less contaminated by agrochemicals.

Soil runoff not only constitutes a loss to the farmer, but also a threat to fish and other aquatic fauna. The soil changes the river bottom and the river course, and fills up reservoirs and lakes. Accordingly, trees

(58

on steep slopes or ravines should never be removed, and borders of 30 m to 100 m should be maintained, even on level riverbanks. Local conditions relating to flooding, aquatic life, river changes, land orientation and rainfall patterns must be considered. In addition, possible alternative uses of these areas, as described below for small forest patches, must be taken into consideration when planning the size of these borders.

Thus, leaving riparian forests untouched brings many ecological benefits, including the provision of unusually rich sources of nectariferous plant species and nesting sites for many kinds of pollinators. Where these habitats have already been destroyed, it is worthwhile replanting water edges with native tree and shrub species. Selecting the right species constitutes an active area of new research in much of the world.

Small forest patches: Forest vegetation can also be planted near agricultural fields. As is the case with natural forest, these patches can present a multitude of uses in addition to maintaining pollinators. Selecting only the fastest growing species used for firewood or timber production produces results similar to the planting of highly selective monocultures for agricultural production. Conversely, the application of sustained yield concepts considers the benefits of selected species for the soil, alternative uses, and the habitats provided by the forest patches for other crops and healthy populations of plants and animals. Mixed plantings should allow some undergrowth management. Future crop breeding might select for forest undergrowth conditions, thus simulating multilevel natural forests.

The classic eucalypt or pine groves do not present the best solution in most situations (either over the short term or long term), as these plants are selected for maximum rate of biomass production, which is only one among many important criteria. Even though most *Eucalyptus* species provide abundant nectar, their pollen is deficient in nutrients and very few companion plants can grow in the understory of these trees. As such, they provide no sources of cover, forage or alternative food for many kinds of animals. Soil quality and the water table are often negatively influenced and no other benefits can be obtained from the barren ground until many years after cutting.

In contrast, many fast-growing indigenous tree species permit various other uses of the land and the tree crop. Carefully selected species can even improve soil conditions through nitrogen fixation and organic matter deposition. More information on species selection, characteristics and requirements is available from a variety of information centres and networks.⁶ The directory of world honey plants by Crane, Walker and Day (1984) allows cross-referencing of some species also known to be good producers of nectar or pollen.

A variety of experimental approaches have been employed for the establishment of small forest patches, mostly with an emphasis on multiple use of existing forests, forest conservation, community forestry, agroforestry, watershed management and sustained natural forest resource management. Few have considered the conservation of beneficial animals such as pollinators.

The multiple use of tree plantations should be included in any planting scheme. Selecting highly nectariferous tree species or those that allow nectariferous undergrowth brings additional income sources (beekeeping or native pollinator management) until the tree crop can be harvested. Therefore, higher diversity contributes to the sustainability of future crops and a higher quality of environmental conditions in general. Wise planning of multiple uses can help avoid loss of income and may instead become an attractive alternative.

Successional growth (second-growth habitat): While forests provide a large diversity of resources to nectar and pollen-feeding animals, this need is also met by certain savannahs and successional re-growth of fields and forests. The latter, in some tropical areas, can sometimes produce more nectar than mature forests. They also form an essential part of natural and "mature" ecosystems, harbouring many animal species and forming essential habitats for many pollinators and other beneficial insects.

Traditional slash-and-burn agriculture continuously creates areas of successional growth. If small enough and not too dense, these plots might maintain the desired pollinator species. In regions adhering only to slash and burn agriculture, there should be no pollinator shortages. This is due to the lack of vast monocultures. The principle of cutting only small areas and letting them regenerate, or replanting them with forest species, might be practised even in larger forest plantations. The same may be true in intermediate forest-agriculture zones or some park boundary zones where restricted exploitation is permitted. Forest edges provide a narrower, yet similar, habitat that should not be neglected. A rich flora and beneficial fauna can be maintained through minimal maintenance such as periodic cutting and selective clearing. Fallow fields in crop rotation or land regeneration (dunes, strip mines or eroded soils), like field boundaries, may be left to the natural succession of plant growth. They can also be planted with nectariferous, soil-improving species or receive minimum management, such as no-tillage, additional seeding and periodic cutting, to maintain successional growth at a preferred stage.

Nectar plants cultivated to benefit pollinators: Under most circumstances it is not common practice or economically feasible to plant crops solely for the purpose of providing nectar to pollinators. The value of honey or the resulting colony population of pollinators is always considered negligible in comparison to the value of the planted crop or the planting cost. For well-planned land use this may still be true in immediately recoverable monetary terms. But over the long term, the gap between planting costs and benefits from honey harvests, better pollination, increased natural pest control, lower fertilizer needs and other secondary benefits will become narrower.



⁶ Please see the first edition of this publication, entitled Pollination of Cultivated Plants in the Tropics (1995), available online: https://books.google.fr/ books?id=A1080w6wDDUC&printsec=frontcover& dq=pollination+cultivate+plants&hl=en&sa=X&red ir_esc=y#v=onepage&q=pollination%20cultivate%20 plants&f=true.

Eventually, such planting costs may become negligible in comparison to all other benefits (when these are properly appreciated).

Pollinator populations can be enhanced through proper selection of flower species for their flowering times. This approach has been advocated for the maintenance of bumblebees in England, where they are very important pollinators. Thus early-flowering species serve to augment social bee populations or increase solitary bee populations or next year's population. Late-flowering species may increase the number of reproductive bees for the following season or year. Methods for studying the requirements and the preferred food plants of bumblebees on a countrywide scale were developed for England. Accordingly, groups of school children and volunteers were organized to make many of the basic observations. This worthwhile and affordable effort proved educational for the participants, increasing their environmental awareness, and was also very useful for researchers and farmers.

Abundance of attractive alternative food sources may in some cases reduce the efficiency of artificial and natural pollinator populations, if flowering occurs simultaneously with crop flowering. It is important to test, whenever possible, whether controlling such competing flora will decrease the following year's pollinator populations more than it will increase this year's pollination efficiency. This assessment should take into account alternative choices in pollinator species, crop varieties or timing of planting and pollinator introduction.

Cover crops: The practice of crop rotation enables the planting of cover crops during the fallow period. While the soil is recuperating the cover crop may provide flowers to pollinators needed in neighbouring fields. Self-seeding plants such as Mellilotus or other nitrogenfixing legumes enrich the soil and may also provide a commercial honey crop, very rich fodder to livestock and/or "green manure". A combination of Mellilotus varieties can provide flowers over six months even on poor soils (at <40 °C). Some of these varieties have developed in Argentina for extreme subtropical climates.

Some problems do arise, similar to those stemming from highly nectariferous successional growth or forests. Attractive nectar-producing, non-crop flowers can compete with crop flowers for pollinators. In the case of natural pollinators, planting schedules and flowering periods must be synchronized as much as possible. The same problem with artificially enhanced pollinator populations can also be solved by placing colonies directly in the middle of the crop area, by providing more pollinators than are usually recommended, and/or by introducing the pollinator populations at a time when already 20 percent to 30 percent of crop flowers have opened. In extreme cases, competing floral resources may have to be temporarily reduced or eliminated during the crop flowering period.

3.2.4 Crop selection

It may be possible (as seen for many crops) to select additional varieties that do not require external pollination agents such as insects. Those varieties that continue to require pollinating insects, however, need to be made more attractive to pollinators (see Section 19.1). This means that more attention needs to be paid to flowering times and duration, nectar secretion and/or pollen attractiveness.

More emphasis on indigenous crops will reduce the need for exotic pollinators such as Apis mellifera in most of the world. Certain pollinators may prove less difficult to manage and propagate than imported honey bees, under local conditions. For example, it is generally well appreciated that Apis cerana is superior to Apis mellifera in much of the Asian tropics, due to better resistance to natural enemies and greater tolerance of environmental and resource conditions.⁷

The planting of *Mellilotus* in Northern Argentina, in a crop rotation system alternating with the

cultivation of rice and cattle grazing, shows promise for profitable honey production (Krell, pers. obs.). A study by Accorti (1992) for Italy also demonstrates substantial savings in fertilizer expenses and petroleum resources for honey production under improved environmental conditions, rather than using sugar from sugar beets to feed the bee colonies. Further studies on similar subjects will likely show that conversion to environmentally "friendlier" cultivation methods can ultimately be more profitable. Maintaining wild pollinators and sustaining imported ones requires careful selection of crop and non-crop (cover crop) species.

Good management practices include cover crops and perennial crop varieties. Timber species should be selected among other criteria for their high nectar secretion. Unfortunately, this subject has not been sufficiently considered in the past, nor been given due importance by plant breeders. This is particularly relevant in forest plantations where harvest and therefore income are realized many years after the initial investment, as nectariferous species can provide a "balancing income" (cash flow) and provide for natural as well as managed pollinator species. The selection of nectariferous tree crops is relatively easy because many, if not most, tropical tree species are naturally good producers of nectar. Their indiscriminate cutting also drastically reduces the nectar sources available to all pollinator species, not just honey bees.

The creation or conservation of large wildlands for honey production can have strong secondary effects on pollinator availability in distant agricultural areas. This is demonstrated by an example from Sri Lanka. After the disappearance of most of the natural forest suitable for honey production, rubber plantations (Hevea brasiliensis) have become the principal sites for beekeeping. Recent improvements in bee management techniques are only now starting to permit beekeeping on a larger semi-commercial scale. However, the new varieties of rubber slowly replacing those of old plantations are said to produce little or no nectar. If this proves true, the developing beekeeping industry will have no future. The need for moveable pollinator populations is also simultaneously growing, in part due to the same environmental degradation, deforestation and increased pesticide use. They are needed for increasing seed production requirements and exotic cash crops such as gherkins (i.e. pickling cucumbers). Thus, eliminating profitable beekeeping on a commercial scale also eliminates manageable pollinator populations. The latter can only be made available in sufficient numbers through migratory beekeeping (i.e. moving hives into areas where pollinator enhancement is required). In effect, the selection of the new rubber variety might restrict agricultural cultivation possibilities in parts of the country far removed from rubber-growing areas. This example demonstrates the far-reaching consequences a slight change in cultivar or crop can have on the agricultural productivity of apparently unrelated, distant regions.

3.2.5 Pesticides

Aside from habitat destruction, the application of pesticides in large quantities and over large areas is the primary reason that wild pollinator populations have been reduced or completely destroyed. Large aerial applications over hundreds of thousands of hectares of Central American and African tropical forests to control the Mediterranean fruit fly, tsetse fly and malaria mosquito have undoubtedly had an impact on the pollinator fauna. Documentation of agricultural chemical effects, however, is incomplete (see Chapter 20 for recent evaluations regarding bees and beneficial insects). Farm applications are more frequent and widespread, also covering very large areas. Agricultural pesticides are often misapplied and have highly toxic effects on local animals (see Chapter 4).

Along the northwest coast of Sri Lanka, pesticides may have led to a production loss involving cucumber cultivation. Initial production during the first and second year was fairly high. During the third and fourth year production strongly declined, and after five years had dropped to only 30 percent of the first year's output, despite increased fertilizer and pesticide use. During the same period more land was cleared



⁷ For more information see Section 2.5.4 in Pollination of Cultivated Plants in the Tropics (1995): https://books. google.fr/books?id=A1080w6wDDUC&printsec=frontco ver&dg=pollination+cultivate+plants&hl=en&sa=X&re dir_esc=y#v=onepage&q=pollination%20cultivate%20 plants&f=true.

in the dry forest zone and pesticides were applied, including by other farmers. The cucumbers are now deformed and of uneven growth – a clear indication of insufficient pollination. Unfortunately there is little that can be done. Together with increased pesticide use, the habitat was destroyed which otherwise could have allowed the re-establishment of honey bee colonies. Years of replanting will be necessary before the native pollinator population can increase its numbers.

Over the last decades, pesticides have become more potent, and only recently more specific. The broader a spectrum of pest species a pesticide potentially controls, the more devastating its effect will be on the total fauna, both pests and beneficial species alike. Its longevity in the environment and application timing and methods may further contribute to its destructiveness.

Although many broad-spectrum pesticides have been banned from the markets of industrialized countries for health and environmental safety reasons, many if not most of them are still being used in tropical and subtropical countries. Low levels of farmer and consumer education and strong political and economic interests permit the continued use of these often cheaper but more dangerous toxins. The newer, sometimes less toxic or more specific pesticides are usually much more expensive and therefore less accessible to the rural poor.⁸

Integrated pest management methods that will reduce pesticide use require very disciplined and well-educated farmers with more technical assistance than is available in most rural areas. Organic farming without the use of artificial or toxic chemicals requires traditional methods and even more education with new crops or at least a different kind of education than that commonly taught.

3.2.6 Cultivation practices

Studies of pollinator distribution in crop fields seem to indicate very limited foraging ranges of honey bees in situations with many more flowers than foragers. Similarly unsaturated conditions would occur with low natural pollinator populations or exceedingly large surfaces planted with one crop. If the overabundance of food (nectar) cannot be exploited, pollinators will concentrate on the areas closest to their natural habitat or nest. Uneven or incomplete pollination is often the result. Smaller field sizes and shapes following the contours of forest edges are therefore very important for pollination with "unenhanced" or natural pollinator populations.

Intercropping, or the planting of different crops in alternating rows or mixed rows, breaks up the uniform surfaces, reduces the overabundance of one food source and thus increases fruit set across the field. Although the number of plants to produce a crop is lower, production per plant is increased and the mixture of crops maintains or improves farmer income. Intercropping may also reduce relative production costs due to lessened pesticide and fertilizer requirements.

The most pressing change to be made to preserve natural pollinator populations is the adoption of less toxic and more balanced cultivation practices. Many of the alternatives have already been mentioned, such as reduced and more focused pesticide application (within integrated pest management programmes where pesticide-free cultivation is impossible), selection of more resistant locally adapted or indigenous crops, a larger variety of crops, multicropping systems, crop rotation, less tillage and more manuring. Last but not least, the soil must be monitored and taken care of as a highly complex living organism – a concept firmly established in many traditional cultures, but utterly disregarded by most of this century's agricultural development.

Initially, some of the suggested changes may result in lower yields than those heralded by the so-called "green revolution", but over the short term they save foreign exchange (pesticides and fertilizers) and farmer's lives (poisoning), and over the long term they preserve and likely increase yields for the future and reduce health costs, due to healthier food and water. The modern meaning of the "green revolution" is no longer equated with "highest output of biomass by any available means", but instead with the healthiest, least destructive, sufficient output of food.

3.2.7 Conclusion

To solve pollination-related problems in general, the easiest solution would be to switch to crop varieties that do not need pollinators, or to pollinator species that are easily manipulated and multiplied, such as some honey bees. This guick fix, often demanding a large investment, may be the remedy for some circumstances, but is unlikely to provide a long-term or sustainable solution. Fundamentally, it does not address the need for hybrid seed production, or for outcrossing in the many plant species that must be cross-pollinated to produce seed or fruit. Unless sufficient natural, non-cultivated flora are available, even the ubiquitous Western honey bee cannot provide the solution to pollination needs. Only a few highly specialized pollinator species with relatively short life spans, such as the alfalfa leaf cutter bee, may be maintained with one or a few crop species alone.

The next most efficient change would be to increase natural pollinator populations through reduced pesticide use. Alternative cultivation methods, conservation and selective planting will further increase natural pollinator populations and improve environmental conditions, as well as reduce farming costs.

Knowing the requirements, deficiencies and the costs, certain pollinator-limited crops may simply be poor choices for the economics of a given area. This is particularly true for some exotic or export crops which have to meet very specific standards of fruit shape or quality. Taken into account early enough, these conditions can prevent disappointing results, failed projects and farmers' losses.

For any sustainable and affordable solution to succeed, less destructive cultivation methods are necessary. Conservation efforts and sound agricultural practices are central to this goal. Creation or preservation of diverse environments, not only in national parks, is also required. This is true to the same extent for natural and managed pollinator populations.



⁸ See the IPM PRIME database (https://ipmprime.org/ pesticides/Home#), the Xerces Society and the Global Pollination Project for lists on known toxicity of pesticides to bees and other pollinators. University-based IPM extension agencies are among the most valuable of the numerous available online resources.

REFERENCES

- Accorti, A. 1992. L'apporto delle api all equilibrio energetics in agricoltura zucchero e mieli: produzioni alternative compatibili. [The contribution of bees to energy balances in agriculture – sugar and honey: compatible production alternatives] Lazise, Italy, Congr. Int. di Apicoltura.
- Agnew, C. & Warren, A. 1990. Sandtrap. The sciences. N.Y. Acad. Sci., 30: 14–19.
- Ahmadjian, V. & Paracer. S. 1986. Symbiosis: an introduction to biological associations. Hanover, NH, USA, University Press of New England.
- Altieri, M.A. 1987. Agroecology: the scientific basis of alternative agriculture. Boulder, CO, USA, Westview Press.
- Andrewartha, H.G. & Birch, L.C. 1954. The distribution and abundance of animals. Chicago, IL, USA, University of Chicago Press.
- Baudry, J. 1984. Effects of landscape structure on biological communities. The case of hedgerow network landscapes. In Proceedings of the 1st international seminar on methodology in ecological research and planning, Vol. 1. Hoskilde, Denmark, Roskilde Universitetsforlag GeoRuc.
- Boucher, D.H. 1985. Mutualism in agriculture. In D.H. Boucher, ed. The biology of mutualism: ecology and evolution, London, Croom Helm.
- Brinson, M.M., Lugo, A.E. & Brown, S. 1981. Primary productivity, decomposition and consumer activity in freshwater wetlands. Ann. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 12: 123-161.
- Brown, A.W.A. 1978. Ecology of pesticides. New York, USA, Wiley.
- Buchanan-Smith, J.G. & Mowat, D.N. 1987. Supplementation of silage with fish meal for growing cattle. In Proc. 23rd Annual Conference for Feed Manufacturers. Ottawa, Canadian Feed Industry Association.
- Bunyard, P. 1985. World climate and tropical forest destruction. The Ecologist 16: 125–136.
- Council for Agricultural Science and Technology. 1998. Ecological impacts of federal conservation and cropland reduction programs. Ames, IO, CAST.
- Catt, J.A. 1988. Loess its formation, transport and economic significance. In A. Lerman & M. Meybeck, eds. Physical and chemical weathering in geochemical cycles, pp. 113–142. Dordrecht, The Netherlands, Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Coleman, D.C. & Hendrix, P.F. 1988. Agro-ecosystem processes. In L.R. Pomeroy & J.J. Alberts, eds. Ecological studies, 67, New York, USA, Springer-Verlag.
- Conway, G.R. 1985. Agro-ecosystem analysis. Agriculture Administration, 20: 31-36.
- Conway, G.R. 1987. The properties of agro-ecosystems. Agri. Syst. 24: 96–117.
- Coupland, R.T. 1977. Grassland ecosystems of the world. Analysis of grasslands and their uses. Cambridge, UK, Cambridge University Press.
- Crane, E., Walker, P. & Day, R. 1984. Directory of important world honey sources. London, International Bee Research Association.
- Dale, T. & Carter, V.G. 1965. Topsoil and civilization. Norman, OK, USA, University of Oklahoma Press.
- Daly, H.E. & Cobb, J.B. 1989. For the common good: redirecting the economy toward the environment and a sustainable future. Boston, MA, USA, Beacon Press.
- de Jong, E. & Kachanoski, R.G. 1988. The importance of erosion in the carbon balance of prairie soils. Can. J. Soil Sci., 68: 111-119.

- Resources Institute.
- 2: 148-162.
- Elliott, E.T. & Cole, C.V. 1989. A perspective on agro-ecosystem science. *Ecology*, 70: 1697–1602.
- Evans, J. 1982. Plantation forestry in the tropics. Oxford, UK, Oxford University Press.
- Scientific Publications.
- Nostrand and Reinhold.
- 451-465.
- Game Conservancy. 1991. Review of 1998. Fordingbridge, Hampshire, UK, The Game Conservancy.
- Gimingham, C.H. 1972. Ecology of heathlands. London, Chapman and Hall.
- *Ecol.*, 9: 991–999.
- Verlaq.
- Canadian Prairie. Geoderma, 36: 343-364.
- Harper, J.L. 1977. Population biology of plants. London, Academic Inc.
- eds. Sustainable Agricultural Systems, Ankeny, IA, USA, Soil and Water Conservation Society.
- Research, 95: 641-655.
- ecosystem. Ecology, 68: 425-433.
- eds. Sustainable development of the biosphere, New York, USA, Cambridge University Press.
- Hyams, E.S. 1976. Soil and civilization. New York, USA, Harper and Row.
- Chicago Press.
- Ecol., 17: 1–17.
- Kevan, D.K. McE. 1962. Soil animals. New York, USA, Philosophical Library.

Dover, M. & Talbot, L.M. 1987. To feed the earth: agro-ecology for sustainable development. Washington, DC, World

Edwards, C.A. 1987. The concept of integrated systems in lower input/sustainable agriculture. Amer. J. Alternative Agric.,

Fitter, A.H., Atkinson, D., Read, D.J. & Usher, M.B., eds. 1985. Ecological interactions in soil. Oxford, UK, Blackwell

Frankel, O.H. & Soulé, M.E. 1981. Conservation and evolution. Cambridge, UK, Cambridge University Press. Frankel, H. & Meiri, A., eds. 1986. Soil salinity: two decades of research in irrigated agriculture. New York, USA, Van

Fussell, M. & Corbet, S.A. 1992. Flower usage by bumblebees: a basis for forage plant management. J. Appl. Ecol., 29:

Georgescu-Roegen, N. 1971. The entropy law and the economic process. Cambridge, MA, USA, Harvard University Press.

Gliessman, S.R. 1983. Allelopathic interactions in crop-weed mixtures: applications for weed management. J. Chem.

Gliessman, S.R. 1989. Agroecology: researching the ecological basis for sustainable agriculture. New York, USA, Springer-

Goodman, D. 1976. The theory of diversity-stability relationships in ecology. Quart. Rev. Biol., 50: 237-266.

Gregorich, E.G. & Anderson, D.W. 1986. Effects of cultivation and erosion on the soils of four toposequences in the

Harwood, H.R. 1998. A history of sustainable agriculture. In C.A. Edwards, R. Lal, P. Madden, R.H. Miller & G. House,

Hawksworth, D.L. 1991. The fungal dimensions of biodiversity: magnitude, significance and conservation, Mycological

Holland, E.A. & Coleman, D.C. 1987. Litter placement effects on microbial and organic matter dynamics in an agro-

Holling, C.S. 1986. The resilience of terrestrial ecosystems: local surprise and global change. In W.C. Clarke & R.E. Munn,

Jackson, W. & Piper, J. 1989. The necessary marriage between ecology and agriculture. *Ecology*, 70: 1691–1593.

Jarman, P.J. & Sinclair, A.R.E. 1979. Feeding strategy and the pattern of resource-partitioning in ungulates. In A.R.E. Sinclair & M. Norton-Griffiths, eds. Serengeti: dynamics of an ecosystem. Chicago, IL, USA, University of

Kedziora, A., Olejnik, J. & Kapuchinski, J. 1989. Impact of landscape structure on heat and water balance. Inter. Assoc.

- Kevan, P.G., Clark, E.A. & Thomas, V.G. 1990. Insect pollinators and sustainable agriculture. Amer. J. Alter. Agric., 5: 13-22.
- Krebs, C.J. 1985. Ecology: the experimental analysis of distribution and abundance. New York, USA, Harper & Row.
- Likens, G.E., Bormann, F.H., Pierce, R S., Eaton, J.S. & Johnson, N.M. 1977. Bio-geochemistry of a forested ecosystem. New York, USA, Springer-Verlag.
- Logan, T.J. 1998. Sustainable agriculture and water quality. In C.A. Edwards, R. Lei, P. Madden & R.H. House, eds. Sustainable agricultural systems, Ankeny, IA, USA, Soil and Water Conservation Society.
- May, R.M. 1975. Patterns of species abundance and diversity. In M.L. Cody & J.M. Diamond, eds. Ecology and evolution of communities, Cambridge, MA, USA, Belknap Press of Harvard University.
- Maddock, L. 1979. The "migration" succession. In A.R.E. Sinclair & M. Norton-Griffiths, eds. Serengeti: dynamics of an ecosystem. Chicago, IL, USA, University of Chicago Press.
- Margalef, H. 1968. Perspectives in ecological theory. Chicago, IL, USA, University of Chicago Press.
- McNaughton, S.J. 1979. Grassland-herbivore dynamics. In A.R.E. Sinclair & M. Norton-Griffiths, eds. Serengeti: dynamics of an ecosystem. Chicago, IL, USA, University of Chicago Press.
- Milne, R. 1987. Putting the land out to grass. New Scientist, 116: 10–11.
- Middleton, J.D. & Merriam, G. 1988. Distribution of woodland species in farmland. J. Appl. Ecol., 20: 626-644.
- Murdoch, W.W. 1976. Diversity, complexity, stability and pest control, J. Appl. Ecol., 12: 796–307.
- National Research Council. 1989. Alternative agriculture. Washington, DC, National Academic Press.
- O'Connor, R.J. & Shrubb, M. 1986. Farming and birds. Cambridge, UK, Cambridge University Press.
- Odum, H.T. 1983. Systems ecology. New York, USA, Wiley.

(66)

- Odum, H.T. 1971. Environment, power and society. New York, USA, Wiley.
- Okigbo, B.N. 1990. Sustainable agricultural systems in tropical Africa. In C.A. Edwards, R.P. Madden, H.H. Miller & G. House, eds. Sustainable agricultural systems. Ankeny, IA, USA, Soil and Water Conservation Society.
- Paarlberg, D. 1980. Farm and food policy. Lincoln, NE, USA, University of Nebraska Press.
- Panayotou, T. & Ashton, P.S. 1992. Not by timber alone. Washington, DC, Island Press.
- Paul, E. & Clark, F.E. 1959. Soil microbiology and biochemistry. San Diego, CA, USA, Academic Press, Inc.
- Paul, E.A. & Robertson, G.P. 1989. Ecology and the agricultural sciences: a false dichotomy? Ecology, 70: 1594–1697.
- Phillips, H., Blevins, R.L., Thomas, G., Frye, W.W. & Phillips, S.H. 1980. No-tillage agriculture. Science, 208: 1108–1113.
- Pimentel, D. & Hall, C.W., eds. 1984. Food and energy resources. Orlando, FL, USA, Academic Press, Inc.
- Pimentel, D. & Warneke, A. 1989. Ecological effects of manure, sewage sludge and other organic wastes on arthropod populations. Agric. Zool. Rev., 3: 1-30.
- Pimentel, D., Stachow, U., Takacs, D.A., Brubaker, H.W., Dumas, A.R., Meaney, J.J., O'Neil, J.A.S., Onsi, D.E., Corzilius, D.B. 1992. Conserving biological diversity in agricultural/forestry systems. Bioscience, 42: 354-362.
- Postel, S. 1989. Halting land degradation. In State of the World 1989. New York, USA, W.W. Norton & Company.
- Power, J.F. 1987. Legumes: their potential role in agricultural production. Amer. J. Alter. Agric., 2: 69–73.
- Purvis, G. & Curry, J.P. 1984. The influence of weeds and farmyard manure on the activity of Carabidae and other grounddwelling arthropods in a sugar beet crop. J. Appl. Ecol., 21: 271–283.
- Risser, P.G. 1958. Diversity in and among grasslands. In E.O. Wilson, ed. Biodiversity, Washington, DC, National Academy Press.

- Ruttan, V.W. 1986. Increasing productivity and efficiency in agriculture. Science, 231: 781.
- Forestry to the Senate of Canada.
- Smith, R.L. 1974. *Ecology and field biology*. New York, Harper & Row.
- Agriculture Canada.
- Trenbath, B.R. 1974. Biomass productivity of mixtures. Advances in Agronomy, 26: 177–210.
- Vallentyne, J.E. 1990. Grazing management. San Diego, CA, USA, Academic Press, Inc.
- Vandermeer, J.H. 1989. The ecology of intercropping. Cambridge, UK, Cambridge University Press.
- Ankeny, IA, USA, Soil and Water Conservation Society.
- Journal of Soil Science, 71: 137–146.
- Journal of Applied Ecology, 16: 349–357.

Senate of Canada. 1984. Soil at risk: Canada's eroding future. Ottawa, Standing Committee on Agriculture, Fisheries, and

Switzer-Howse, K.D. & Coote, D.R. 1984. Agricultural practices and environmental conservation. Publ. 1772/E. Ottawa,

Thomas, V.G & Kevan, P.G. 1993. Basic principles of agroecology and sustainable agriculture. J. Agric. Env. Ethics., 1–19.

Villachica, H., Silva, J.E., Peres, J.R. & daRocha, C.M.C. 1990. Sustainable agricultural systems in the humid tropics of South America. In C.A. Edwards, R. Lal, P. Madden, R.H. Miller & G. House, eds. Sustainable agricultural systems,

Wall. G.J., Pringle, E.A. & Sheard, R.W. 1991. Intercropping red clover with sileage corn for soil erosion control. Canadian

Wegner, J. & Merriam, G. 1979. Movements by birds and small mammals between a wood and adjoining farmland habitats.

World Commission for Environment and Development. 1987. Our common future. Oxford, UK, Oxford University Press.

